
Merton Council
Healthier Communities and 
Older People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Date: 5 September 2018
Time: 7.15 pm
Venue: Committee Rooms C, D & E - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden 

SM4 5DX
AGENDA

Page Number

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 4

4 Cabinet Member Priorities - Verbal Update 

5 Changes to the access criteria for the Community Podiatry 
Service 

6 Cancer screening and Flu vaccinations - Commissioning 
arrangements and setting the scene 

5 - 12

7 NHS England Immunisation Programme in Merton 2015-2018 13 - 24

8 Annual Public Health Report 2018: Tackling Health Inequalities 
- Progress in closing the gap in Merton 

25 - 128

9 Panel Work Programme 2018-19 129 - 
134

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend.
The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m.

For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 3390 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Press enquiries: communications@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 
4093

Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer




Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny Panel membership

Councillors:
Peter McCabe (Chair)
Andrew Howard (Vice-Chair)
Joan Henry
Sally Kenny
Rebecca Lanning
Dave Ward
Stephen Crowe
Hina Bokhari
Substitute Members:
John Dehaney
Natasha Irons
Najeeb Latif
Carl Quilliam

Co-opted Representatives
Diane Griffin (Co-opted member, non-
voting)
Saleem Sheikh (Co-opted member, non-
voting)

Note on declarations of interest

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  members consider 
they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, 
they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item.  For further advice please 
speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance.

What is Overview and Scrutiny?
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes.

Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas:

 Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements.

 Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic.

 One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet. 

 Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan.

Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know. 

For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 3390 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

http://www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny


This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES AND OLDER PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
PANEL
25 JUNE 2018
(7.15pm - 9.30 pm)
PRESENT Councillors Councillor Peter McCabe (in the Chair), 

Councillor Andrew Howard, Councillor Joan Henry, 
Councillor Sally Kenny, Councillor Rebecca Lanning, 
Councillor Dave Ward, Councillor Stephen Crowe, 
Councillor Hina Bokhari, Di Griffin and Saleem Sheikh

Councillor Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
and Health. 

Daniel Elkeles, Chief Executive Epsom and St Helier NHS Trust, 
Andrew Demetriades, Joint Programme Director for Acute 
Sustainability, NHS, James Blythe, Managing Director Merton 
and Wandsworth CCG.
John Morgan, Assistant Director for Adult Social Care, Hannah 
Doody, Director of Community and Housing, Stella Akintan, 
Scrutiny Officer.

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

There were no apologies for absence

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

None

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed

4 ADULT SOCIAL CARE - DEPARTMENT UPDATE AND CURRENT 
PRIORITIES (Agenda Item 4)

The Assistant Director for Adult Social Care gave an overview of the report 
highlighting that key challenges include; fragility in provider markets, ageing 
population, funding pressures and people living longer with complex needs.

It was highlighted that delayed transfers of care are a success story for the borough, 
Merton had poor outcomes, this was improved by senior managers working with 
frontline staff to understand the problems and make adjustments.

A Panel member asked how the department support those who are not able to use 
digital channels and self management tools. The Assistant Director of Adult Social 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

Care said the department still use traditional methods but it is important there are a 
range of choices available.

Panel members asked for further statistical information on trends in use of long term 
services and further information on how our service compares to other London 
boroughs.  The Assistant Director for Adult Social Care said he will provide analysis 
for the last five years.

A panel member asked how we are able to support increasing numbers of people 
with diminishing budgets. The Assistant Director of Adult Social Care said there is a 
change in the way services are provided including using re-ablement, more 
physiotherapy, with a focus on prevention and maintaining independence. 

A panel member asked how the strategic priorities are being measured. The 
Assistant Director of Adult Social Care said they are monitoring patient flows; if 
numbers go up it is not working well, clear targets are still to be developed. 

A panel member said re-ablement has been successful how can this be improved 
upon. The Assistant Director of Adult Social Care said 73% of people don’t need care 
at the end of re-ablement, therefore a good service is being provided. Managers are 
constantly looking at ways to make improvements and are considering including a 
physiotherapist in the team. They also want to work  more closely  with community 
health teams to share resources.

RESOLVED

The Assistant Director of Adult Social Care agreed to provide the Panel with the 
following information:

Number of people receiving long term support – analysis for the last five years
Analysis of how our adult social cate service compares to other boroughs 
More data on delayed discharge of care

5 HOME SHARE SCHEME TASK GROUP - UPDATE ON THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS (Agenda Item 5)

The Assistant Director of Adult Social Care gave an overview of the report 
highlighting they will work with Share and Care to develop a Homeshare scheme in 
Merton.

The task group chair said she is delighted the department has taken this work 
forward; she commended officers for the progress with implementing the 
recommendations and said this demonstrated the successful outcomes that can be 
achieved from a scrutiny task group review.

In response to questions the Assistant Director of Adult Social Care said the 
providers had worked with other London Boroughs and also have the capacity to 
work with Merton residents.

Page 2



3

Panel members expressed concern about any unintended consequences that could 
arise and asked how the council will avoid negative publicity. The Assistant Director 
of Adult Social Care said they will work with providers to minimalise risks such as 
doing relevant checks, on-going monitoring and regular spot checks. 

A panel member asked if the department will interview those who may not have 
found it successful.  The Assistant Director of Adult Social Care will speak to other 
boroughs the providers are working with. 

RESOLVED
Panel to receive an update on progress in twelve months time. 

6 EPSOM AND ST HELIER 2020-2030 TO FOLLOW (Agenda Item 6)

The Joint Programme Director for Acute Sustainability gave an overview of the 
report, and stated that Epsom and St Helier Trust had developed a strategic outline 
case and outlined scenarios on future shape of services. The Clinical Commissioning 
Groups are responsible for determining the changes. The three CCG’s are the main 
customers of Epsom and St Helier and have established a formal programme of 
review. A recent meeting of the Committees in Common agreed the work so far and 
to proceed with an engagement programme.  No decisions have been made and 
open to suggestions, they will publish dates for future engagement imminently. 

A panel member said there has been no reference to repeated attempts to close St 
Helier hospital. The Managing Director of Merton CCG said they will learn from 
previous exercise and take into account factors which were of concern in  the past 
such as health inequalities.

A panel member asked if it is possible for people to move across the sites rather than 
reconfiguration, such as in Manchester. The Managing Director of Merton CCG said 
co-locations are required, integrated care will support this work but the acute model 
needs to be looked at differently.

A panel member asked what will happen after formal consultation and how long until 
decisions are made. The Joint Programme Director for Acute Sustainability said they 
are  gathering provisional views on strengthen of case for change, first stage of 
engagement will take us to the early autumn, consider feedback next stage would be 
options appraisal and pre-consultation business case, then business case. The 
Managing Director of Merton CCG said we will make a decision when they are 
absolutely sure they have the right information in the context of the issues and local 
concern. 

The Chief Executive of Epsom and St Helier said it is important to highlight we need 
a new hospital in catchment, early funding decisions will be made this year. 

A panel member said there is concern that Merton residents will not have acute 
services nearby. The Managing Director of Merton CCG, said people access acute 

Page 3



4

services by ambulance, there has to be acceptable access and a need to look at how 
long it takes to get there.

A panel member asked where the money coming from and if there will be 
reassurance that funds will be guaranteed and not disappear as it has in the past. 
The Chief Executive of Epsom and St Helier said the money will come from the 
government, 15% of patients use acute services it is important that community care is 
improved.

A panel member asked what happened to proposals to build a new hospital and 
knock down St Helier. The Chief Executive of Epsom and St Helier said a new 
hospital will be ready until 2025. St Helier will not keep going until then and is 
undergoing repairs. The Trust will spend £100 million on Epsom and St Helier, 
therefore , there are no plans to demolish it. 

RESOLVED
NHS Colleagues were thanked for their presentation it was emphasised that there is 
cross party support at Merton Council for keeping all services at St Helier Hospital. 

7 PERSONAL INDEPENDENT PAYMENT PROCESS - CHALLENGES WITH 
OPERATION IN MERTON (Agenda Item 7)

The scrutiny officer gave an overview of the report, highlighting that local residents 
had raised concerns about the Personal Independent Payment  process and asked 
for support from this scrutiny Panel. The Chair highlighted that people in Merton are 
suffering as a result of this process. 

A panel member asked about the progress with identifying premises for Independent 
Assessment Service to rent from the council. The Director for Community and 
Housing said housing colleagues in her department are looking at what opportunities 
may be available.

RESOLVED
The Panel agreed the recommendations in the report.  

8 WORK PROGRAMME (Agenda Item 8)

The Scrutiny officer introduced the item. Panel members agreed to proceed with the 
suggestions outlined in the report.

RESOLVED

Scrutiny officer asked to draw up a work programme based on the priorities identified 
by panel members.

Page 4



Subject: Changes to Access Criteria of the Community Podiatry Service
Committee: Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
Authors: Hannah Pearson (Commissioning Manager, Merton CCG)
                Dhru Devare (Merton Podiatry Service Team Lead, CLCH)
Date of meeting: 5th September 2018

1. Background - Community Podiatry Service

The Merton Community Podiatry Service is commissioned by Merton Clinical Commissioning 
Group (Merton CCG) and is delivered by Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust 
(CLCH). The service:

 Provides community-based specialist foot care. 
 Assesses, diagnoses, treats, and where applicable prevents and provides rehabilitation 

for disease, conditions, deformities and pathologies of the foot and lower limb. 
 Provides advice and information on all aspects of effective foot care.
 Develops personalised and evidence based care plans.
 Works collaboratively with other professionals to ensure that patients receive 

appropriate care and support.

Podiatry clinics are held at The Nelson Health Centre (SW20 8DA), Wide Way Medical 
Centre (CR4 1BP) and Morden Hall Medical Centre (SW19 3DA). Home visits are also 
provided when required.

In terms of activity, during 2017 there were 9,994 service contacts (an average of 833 per 
month), the service received 3,790 referrals (an average of 316 per month) and the average 
caseload size was 2,670 patients.

2. Rationale for Change

There is a high demand for the Community Podiatry Service and it was recognised that the 
current activity levels for the service are unsustainable bearing in mind the existing staffing 
complement.

It has been necessary to review the service model and the acceptance criteria. This will help 
to ensure that those with the greatest medical and podiatric needs are able to access the 
service in a timely manner and that the service model is viable. 

The funding for the service is not being reduced and the reason for this change is to make 
the best use of the existing resources and to improve the service for those most in need of 
podiatric care.

Other community podiatry services have undertaken comparable service reviews and the 
learning from other areas has been drawn upon to guide the approach in Merton.

3. Updated Access Criteria

Joint work has taken place between Merton CCG and CLCH in order to develop updated 
inclusion and exclusion criteria for the Community Podiatry Service. Two audits have been 
undertaken to help shape the access criteria, the second of which was a detailed two week 
audit including all patients with podiatry appointments. A key purpose was to examine what 
the impact would be (in terms of demand/ activity) of introducing the new access criteria.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



The full proposed criteria are included in Appendix A. A key implication of the introduction of 
these criteria would be that appropriate patients with low medical and low podiatric needs 
would no longer be seen by the service and instead would self-care or receive support from 
non-NHS services (voluntary sector or independent). 

The two week audit undertaken found that 28% of the patients who were seen by the service 
in this period had low medical and low podiatric needs. With the introduction of the new 
inclusion and exclusion criteria, it would not be the case that all low medical and low 
podiatric patients would no longer be seen by the service. However, it would be reasonable 
to anticipate that ~15 - 20% of the patients who were seen by the service with the previous 
criteria would not be seen by the service with the introduction of the new criteria. In 2017, the 
average number of patients who had appointments per month was 918 and so it is expected 
that ~140 - 180 patients per month who would have previously accessed the service would 
no longer access the service with the updated access criteria. 

It is relevant to note that changes to the access criteria sit alongside wider service redesign 
to make the service more efficient whilst maintaining quality.

To support the introduction of the proposed criteria, CLCH has developed an information 
leaflet for patients who are discharged from the podiatry service which is included in 
Appendix B.

4. Clinical Engagement

Local clinical input informed the development of the updated inclusion and exclusion criteria.

In January 2018 wider clinical input was sought from members of the CCG’s Clinical 
Reference Group (a group including the CCG’s Clinical Chair, Directors and Leads) and it 
was considered that the updated access criteria were clinically appropriate. Only following 
robust clinical input did engagement with patients and the public take place (see Section 5).  

Further discussions regarding the implementation of the updated access criteria took place 
in March at a Practice Leads Forum (a forum attended by Clinical Leads from Merton GP 
practices).

CLCH has developed a range of helpful resources which will be available for use in general 
practice and could be shared with patients for whom it is established that a referral to the 
podiatry service is not required.

Appendix C includes an information leaflet about basic foot care (other self-management 
leaflets are also available) and Appendix D contains information about local services which 
could support patients with low medical/ podiatric needs.

5. Patient Engagement 

Two patient engagement events took place. These were at the following times:
 12 – 2pm on Monday 5th March 2018 at Merton Civic Centre in Morden (SM4 5DX)
 4 – 6pm on Thursday 8th March 2018 at Vestry Hall in Mitcham (CR4 3UD)

Information about the events was shared at podiatry clinic locations and through distributing 
details via a range of channels, including with the assistance of voluntary sector partners. 
Posters and flyers which patients could take away were used to promote the events. Two 
events were held at different times, on different dates and in different locations in order to 
support attendance.

Page 6



At the engagement events colleagues from Merton CCG and CLCH:
 Shared information about the Merton community podiatry service and the planned 

changes to the service.
 Collaboratively explored the implications for different groups of patients.
 Heard attendees’ views about the planned changes and answered any questions.

Discussions about the service changes also took place at the CCG’s Patient Engagement 
Group on 24th January 2018. 

Appendix E outlines the key themes and areas of discussion from the patient and public 
engagement activities that took place. There was a general appreciation of the rationale for 
the proposed changes and the importance of ensuring that those with the greatest needs 
receive timely and effective care was acknowledged. There was a lack of opposition to the 
proposals and indeed one attendee queried why the revised criteria had not already been 
introduced. 

Appendix F contains Frequently Asked Questions which were shared at the engagement 
events and aim to address some of the main queries that have arisen.  

6. Equality Impact Assessment

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken for which the implications (both 
positive and negative) of the proposed service changes have been considered in relation to 
the nine characteristics given protection under the Equality Act 20101, plus carer status.

As noted previously, the changes should help to ensure that patients who have the greatest 
medical and podiatric needs are able to access the service in a timely manner. For the 
majority of the protected characteristics, it is not considered that the proposed changes will 
have a particular positive or negative impact and it is not thought that the changes will have 
a significant negative impact for any of the protected characteristics. 

Included below is a summary of the salient elements from the EIA in terms of potential 
positive and negative implications. 

Potential positive effects:

 Age: Overall older people are more likely to have more significant medical and 
podiatric needs and should therefore benefit from the service developments.

 Disability: Patients with no significant relevant medical history and low podiatric need 
will not be accepted by the service. However, the exception to this would be if a patient 
is considered to be particularly vulnerable and at risk of not receiving the necessary 
care and support. This could be, but is not necessarily, if a patient has a physical or 
learning disability.

Potential negative effects

 Race: It is not thought that there would be any significant negative implications in 
relation to this characteristic. However it is relevant to note that more patients will be 
encouraged and supported to self-care by primary care professionals (with appropriate 
materials/ resources) and at present the patient information leaflets are only in English. 

1 Age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation

Page 7



In some cases, for patients for whom there is a language barrier, interpreting services 
may need to be used.

 Carers: It is not thought that there would be any significant negative implications in 
relation to this characteristic. However it is relevant to note that more patients will be 
encouraged and supported to self-care by primary care professionals (with appropriate 
materials/ resources) and this could have implications for carers.

If any issues arise there are mechanisms through which they can be addressed, such as 
through service delivery reviews and contract monitoring arrangements.

7. Request

The Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny Panel is requested to 
consider the information presented in this briefing and to share any comments. The Panel’s 
support to implement the updated access criteria is sought. 

Page 8



Appendix A: Updated Podiatry Access Criteria 

SERVICE OVERVIEW

 The Community Podiatry Service supports patients who have significant medical and 
podiatric needs which put their feet at risk of problems and ensures patients are 
assessed and treated within a suitable timeframe. 

 Patients accepted by the service receive a defined package of care and in most cases 
will be discharged once the issue has been resolved. Where appropriate the service 
aims to discharge most patients following brief intervention and most patients do not 
access the service on an ongoing basis.

 The majority of service provision is delivered in clinic based settings. A domiciliary 
service is provided to housebound patients only. Patients who are able to attend GP/ 
dental/ hospital appointments etc. are not considered to be housebound. 

 The service aims to see urgent referrals within 5 working days so patients must be safe 
to wait for this timeframe. The service aims to see routine referrals within 20 working 
days.

INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

All acute podiatry conditions such as diabetic foot ulcers, Charcot foot etc. must be referred 
to acute specialists as these conditions fall outside the remit of community podiatry and are 
likely to require additional investigations and monitoring by medical professionals.

Biomechanics Referrals

Referrals are accepted for a range of biomechanical needs, including:
• Metatarsalgia (forefoot pain)                      
• Achilles/ankle pain                                    
• Pes planus/cavus – symptomatic (flat/ highly arched foot)
• Heel pain/arch pain – may be offered a group session
• Hallux/Bunion pain – may be offered a group session
• Lower Limb evaluation
• Tendinopathies

Patients with minor biomechanical problems are not accepted by the service.

General Podiatry Referrals

• Patients can be classified as having high or low medical needs and high or low podiatric 
needs:

High Medical Needs Low Medical Needs
These include: 
• Moderate or high risk diabetic
• Peripheral Arterial Disease  
• Immuno-suppression/deficiency  
• Renal disease                                                      
• Connective tissue disorder  
• Neurological disorder                                                 
• Rheumatoid Arthritis                                                   
• Cardiovascular disease                                                                                                                                     
• Lifelong Anticoagulant Therapy  

These include:
• Low risk diabetic - absence of diabetes 
risk complications who have ‘low risk’ feet 
(no risk factors present e.g. no loss of 
sensation, no signs of peripheral vascular 
disease)

Page 9



High Podiatric Needs Low Podiatric Needs
These include:
• Vascular assessment of known  PVD 
patients  
• Ulceration - non diabetic wound 
• History of ulceration 
• Previous amputation  

These include:
• Corns and/ or callouses 
• Verrucae
• Nail deformity

• Patients with high medical needs and/ or high podiatric needs are accepted by the service. 
Examples of patients who fall into the accepted cohorts are included below:
High medical need/ high podiatric need: A moderate/ high risk diabetic with a history of 
ulceration.
Note: Appropriate step up and step down between Tier 3 and 4 Diabetes Services and Acute 
Vascular teams would occur based on the presenting podiatric need.
Low medical need/ high podiatric need: A generally healthy individual or low risk/ stable 
diabetic with an infected ingrown toenail. 
High medical need/ low podiatric need: A patient who is on lifelong warfarin and presents 
with corns and callouses with long toe nails.
• Patients with no significant relevant medical history AND low podiatric need will not 
be accepted by the service. The exception to this would be if a patient is considered to be 
particularly vulnerable and at risk of not receiving the necessary care and support. This 
could be, but is not necessarily, if the patient is registered blind, homeless, housebound or 
an amputee.
• The service does not provide interventions for people with corns, callouses and verrucae 
who have low medical needs. The only exception to this would be if corns/ callouses/ 
verrucae are significantly symptomatic and a range of interventions have already been tried. 
• The service is not able to provide interventions for those with fungal skin infections. 
• The podiatry service does not provide routine nail cutting and skin care unless specifically 
for high risk patients who are otherwise eligible for the service (such as high risk patients 
with diabetic or vascular pathology). A patient’s inability to touch his/ her toes does not 
warrant a referral for routine nail cutting/ skin care. 

Page 10



Appendix B: CLCH Patient Information Leaflet – Discharge from the Podiatry Service

P
age 11



P
age 12



Appendix C: CLCH Patient Information Leaflet – Basic Foot Care 

Page 13



Page 14



Appendix D: CLCH Patient Information Leaflet – Information about Local Services

Page 15



Appendix E: Patient and Public Feedback 

Outlined below are some of the key themes and areas of discussion from the patient and 
public engagement activities that took place.

Recognition of the need for change:
There was a general appreciation of the rationale for the proposed changes and the 
importance of ensuring that those with the greatest needs receive timely and effective care 
was acknowledged. There was a lack of opposition to the proposals and indeed one 
attendee queried why the revised criteria had not already been introduced. 

Effective use of NHS funding:
The overall need to ensure that NHS services are as efficient and effective as possible was 
discussed.

Considering the person as a whole:
It was raised that often people do not just have issues with their feet and there can be wider 
medical issues. It was confirmed that this had been factored into the approach which is 
holistic and a patient’s medical history would be taken into consideration.

Importance of foot health:
The importance of supporting foot health was recognised. Particular discussions took place 
about people with diabetes and it was mentioned that an annual foot check part should take 
place as part of diabetes management.

Supporting people with learning disabilities:
There was a query regarding the implications of the proposed changes for people with 
learning disabilities. It was noted that any vulnerabilities will be taken into consideration, for 
example if there are issues relating to someone’s ability to self-care, this could be a reason 
for him/ her to be referred even if s/he is at a low risk from medical and podiatric 
perspectives.

Access to the service:
Discussions took place about access to the service and suggestions were made regarding 
appointment booking and scheduling which will be explored by the service. Particular 
consideration was paid to opportunities associated with using text messaging, in particular to 
remind patients about their appointments in order to reduce the number of appointments that 
are missed. It was noted that there are plans to implement the use of text messaging within 
the service. 

Re-referrals to the service:
There was a query about how patients who had been discharged from the service could 
access the service again if required. It was confirmed that patients could be re-referred to 
the service and it was recognised that circumstances can change which means that further 
support from the service is required.  

Financial issues:
It was flagged that foot care can present a financial burden for some. The financial 
challenges facing the NHS were also acknowledged and there was an appreciation that not 
all care can be funded by the NHS. It was highlighted that routine nail cutting has not been 
provided by the NHS for some time in Merton.

Voluntary sector services:
It was mentioned that it is fortunate that there is a range of voluntary sector and other 
services available in the borough. A representative from Age UK updated that the 

Page 16



organisation is exploring the introduction of a nail cutting service; this was received positively 
and it was felt that there is need and demand for this.

Page 17



Appendix F: Frequently Asked Questions - Changes to the Merton Community Podiatry Service 

Question Response

Why is the community podiatry service 
being changed?

The NHS is changing the local podiatry (foot care) service to make sure that those with the 
greatest needs receive quick, effective care. These changes are expected to improve waiting 
times, and will allow the service to focus on patients who need the service most.

Are the changes due to NHS funding 
cuts?

No. The funding for the community podiatry service, provided by Central London Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH), is not being reduced. Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
and NHS providers have a duty to ensure that NHS funds are used efficiently and the reason for 
this change is to make the best use of the existing resources and to improve the service for 
those most in need of podiatric care.

Are you closing any of the clinic sites? No. Clinics will still be run from the three current sites – The Nelson Health Centre, Wide Way 
Medical Centre and Morden Hall Medical Centre.

What will the impact be on people who 
are no longer eligible for this service?
Are there other local services that can 
provide support?

Most people are able to self-manage or care for their feet with support from family, friends and/or 
carers. People who need additional basic foot care, such as toenail cutting, can access this 
through the Merton Age UK foot care service and other local voluntary sector services or through 
an independent podiatry provider. A list of local providers can be found on The College of 
Podiatry website: www.scpod.org/find-a-podiatrist.

I’m currently a patient under the care of 
the podiatry service. How will I be told if 
I am no longer eligible for the service?

All current patients will be seen by the service and will be discharged from the service if and 
when this is appropriate. Patients who are discharged from the service will be told why and will 
have an appropriate care plan upon discharge.

Will the changes affect the waiting times 
for the service?

Yes – it is expected that the waiting times will improve as a result of the changes. Waiting times 
have been longer than they will after changes have been introduced because a lot of patients 
have been accessing the service with low medical and low podiatric needs who could self-care 
or receive support from other services (such as patients who have basic nail and callus care 
requirements).

If I have been discharged and my feet 
get worse, what should I do?

You should contact your GP if your condition has changed. They will be able to advise you about 
what to do next. Patients who have been discharged from the service can be re-referred to the 
service when there has been a change in circumstances which makes a new referral 

P
age 18



appropriate.
Where can I find out about alternative 
providers?

We are able to provide information about how to find alternative providers. We have details 
about local voluntary sector services and there is information available on the College of 
Podiatry website: https://www.scpod.org/find-a-podiatrist. If you are not able to access the 
website directly, your GP practice may be able to help you find a local podiatrist.

Will you consider the implications of the 
changes?

Yes – Merton CCG and CLCH will carefully monitor the impact of the service changes over the 
next six months, and explore any issues which arise.

If I have any concerns or questions 
about the care I am receiving who 
should I contact?

In the first instance, we encourage you to speak directly to the staff members who are caring for 
you. This is usually the quickest way to resolve queries or concerns.
If you have done this and your query or problem is still unresolved, or if this isn’t appropriate for 
any reason, you can speak to a member of the CLCH Patient Advice and Liaison Service 
(PALS). You can contact PALS on:
Telephone: 0800 368 0412
Email: clchpals@nhs.net
If you have any concerns about the approach that was undertaken to introduce the changes, you 
can contact the CCG. Please email ppe@mertonccg.nhs.uk.

P
age 19

mailto:clchpals@nhs.net
mailto:ppe@mertonccg.nhs.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Healthier Communities and Older People 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Date: 5th September 2018
Wards: ALL

Subject: Cancer screening and Flu vaccinations - 
Commissioning arrangements and setting the scene 
Lead officer: Dr Dagmar Zeuner – Director of Public Health
Lead member: Councillor Tobin Byers
Contact officer: Hilina Asrress, Senior Public Health Principal (Children and Young  
                        People) hilina.asrress@merton.gov.uk   

Daniel Butler, Senior Public Health Principal (Adults and Older         
People) daniel.butler@merton.gov.uk 

Recommendations:
1. Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) panel to note the commissioning arrangements for 

Cancer screening and Flu vaccinations across partner organisations
2. O&S panel to note the oversight role of the Director of Public Health within the 

Local Authority (LA) and actions taking place to support this

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide a background and overview of 

commissioning arrangements nationally for Cancer Screening and Flu 
vaccination.  It is also intended to brief Members on the role the Director of 
Public Health has within the local authority (LA) in relation to these 
programmes. The report will also note some actions taking place through the 
LA on Cancer screening and Flu to provide a context to the more detailed 
report to be provided by NHS England Commissioners. 

1.2. Partnership working within this complex system is required between a 
number of organisations to ensure screening and immunisations 
programmes are provided to meet the needs of our population. The 
Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), Public Health England 
(PHE), NHS England, Directors of Public Health within the local authority 
and providers of services have key roles to play to ensure a coordinated 
system as follows;

1.3. -              The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) are 
responsible for overall strategic oversight and direction of the national 
screening and immunisation programmes

1.4. -              Public Health England are responsible for providing expert analysis 
and advice, buying, storing and distributing vaccines, holding coverage and 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

mailto:hilina.asrress@merton.gov.uk
mailto:daniel.butler@merton.gov.uk


surveillance data, communication, supporting the area teams of NHS 
England and Directors of Public Health (DsPH) within the LA

1.5. -          NHS England is responsible for commissioning all national screening 
and immunisation programmes from local providers in line with agreed 
service specifications.  

1.6.             Directors of Public Health (DsPH) - Local Government (through 
Director of Public Health) have an oversight duty to ensure plans are in 
place to protect their population by providing independent scrutiny of the 
plans of NHS England and other organisations.

1.7. -          Providers of screening and immunisation services, such as GPs, 
Acute trusts, community service NHS providers, ’Vanguard Site’1 providers 
etc are responsible for delivering screening and immunisation programmes 
following national guidance and service specifications as set out by NHS 
England.

1.8. The Director of Public Health’s oversight role within the LA on Cancer 
Screening and Flu Vaccinations is exercised through a number of actions as 
detailed in this report. There are also additional actions, lead by Public 
Health which support increased awareness of and promoting the take up of 
Cancer screening and Flu vaccinations to residents in Merton. These are 
over and above those undertaken at national level by PHE and regional and 
local level by NHS England and providers of services.

2 DETAILS

2.1. Commissioning arrangements (Background)
2.1.1 Changes in commissioning arrangements for screening programmes and 

immunisation programmes came into effect in April 2013 as a result of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012. The overall roles and responsibilities for 
different organisations within the health and local government system are 
outlined below to provide the background to the complex system 
surrounding these programmes.

(i) The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) is the overall 
steward of the system. They have overall strategic oversight and direction of 
the national screening and immunisation programmes. Their role includes:

 Setting screening and immunisation policy based on expert advice 
from the National Screening Committee (NSC) and the Joint 
Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) respectively

1 Vanguard Site providers are organisations commissioned by NHS England under their New Care Model where 
organisations take the lead on providing screening services but also developing innovative approaches to service 
delivery (related to Cancer Screening). Royal Marsden (RM) Partners is the Vanguard Site provider for cancer 
covering north west and south west London.

Page 22



 Securing the necessary funding, delegating further responsibilities to 
its agency PHE, and

 Holding PHE and NHS England to account for their roles in ensuring 
delivery of the programmes through their respective framework 
agreements, the NHS England mandate and the section 7A 
agreement with NHS England.

(ii) Public Health England (PHE) plays a key role as the national expert 
voice and centre for advice on public health. This includes the following 
function:

 Advising DHSC on the development of national service specifications

 Setting quality assurance (QA) standards and providing independent 
QA of the provision of screening and immunisation programmes

 Funding and managing the piloting and rolling out of new screening 
programmes and extending current ones

 Procuring, storing and distributing vaccines and immunoglobulins

 Gathering and analysing coverage and surveillance data

 Developing and providing national communication strategies for 
screening and immunisation

 Providing expert public health analysis and advice to NHS England, 
Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), and Director of Public 
Health

 Supporting the independent expert advisory committees UK National 
Screening Committee Cancer Screening Advisory Committees and 
Joint Committee on Vaccinations and Immunisations (JCVI)

(iii) NHS England has a specific role to commission public health 
services for screening and immunisations. NHS England are responsible for 
holding providers to account to ensure that they deliver the contracts that have 
been agreed. Direct commissioning of public health services by NHS England 
is based on national service specifications that have been produced by Public 
Health England (PHE) and agreed with NHS England, drawing on the best 
evidence in order to provide the public with evidence-based, safe and effective 
services. NHS England is supported by information and expert advice, capacity 
and support from PHE.

(iv) Directors of Public Health (DsPH) have an ‘oversight’ duty to 
ensure plans are in place to protect their population including through 
screening and immunisations. DsPH should provide independent scrutiny and 
challenge of the plans of NHS England, PHE and providers. PHE will support 
DsPH to hold NHS England to account through the provision of data and 
information on performance against standards. DsPH need to assure 
themselves that the combined plans of all these organisations within the 

Page 23



system will deliver effective screening and immunisation programmes to their 
local populations. 

(v) Providers of screening and immunisations services are 
responsible for delivering screening and immunisation programmes following 
national schedules and based on agreed service specifications. These include 
for example GPs, Acute trusts, community service NHS providers, ’Vanguard 
Site’1 providers etc.

3 DPH OVERSIGHT ROLE AND ACTIONS
3.1. DsPH have a duty to ensure plans are in place to protect their population 

including through screening and immunisations programmes including 
Cancer Screening and Flu vaccinations. The systems in place to exercise 
these duties are provided below for Cancer Screening and Flu vaccinations 
including additional actions being taken through the LA.

3.2. A Merton Health Protection Protocol has been developed in March 2018 
which sets out health protection roles and responsibilities of the Merton 
Public Health team. It also provides a resource for members of the team and 
others, setting out an overview of systems, roles and processes, governance 
and working arrangements and links to relevant guidance and data. It 
highlights the partnership approach across LA and with NHS England, Public 
Health England, Clinical Commissioning Group and community services.  
The protocol relates specifically to various areas of health protection, for 
example immunisations, antenatal and newborn screening, cancer 
screening, healthcare associated infections, infectious disease outbreak 
management and emergency planning and resilience (document available 
on request from Merton Public Health team). Health protection incidents and 
outbreaks are discussed as appropriate through an internal Health 
Protection Oversight Group with appropriate escalation procedures in place. 

Cancer Screening
3.3. Cancer screening involves testing apparently healthy people for signs that 

could show a cancer is developing (early stages of disease) and before 
symptoms appear. Early detection of cancer greatly increases the chances 
for successful treatment. 

3.3.1 Cancer screening can save thousands of lives each year. It also has 
financial benefits to the NHS as people are treated early, treatment is more 
successful with early diagnosis therefore longer and more expensive periods 
of treatment are reduced.

3.3.2 Local Authority Public Health maintains an oversight role in order to ensure 
adequate delivery of screening services to the local population.  Local 
oversight includes reviewing bowel, breast and cervical cancer screening 
uptake. Data is received on a quarterly basis via Section 7a Screening 
Immunisation Programmes from NHS England.  Local data can also be 
found on the Public Health Outcome Framework (PHOF) website.  

Page 24



3.3.3 For bowel and breast cancer Public Health staff link into the local CCG 
Cancer Task Group, where issues can be raised.  Oversight for cervical 
cancer screening will sit under the Sexual Health Framework (currently 
being developed) which will be overseen by the Sexual Health steering 
group.   

What does the data show?
3.3.4 For 2017 Merton PHOF indicators are ranked ‘green’ (better than average) 

for bowel, cervical and breast cancer screening rates compared to the 
London average.  However Merton is ranked ‘red’ (worse than average) 
when compared to the England average.  It should be noted that the vast 
majority of Local Authorities in Greater London are also ranked ‘red’ 
compared to England.

3.3.5 National research to understand cancer screening inequalities (and which 
helps explain why London may have lower rates) highlights deprivation and 
population factors, such as ethnicity, are associated with poorer screening 
coverage for both cervical and breast canceri.  

3.3.6 Other demographic factors such as population turnover may also negatively 
influence screening rates and explain differentials with England averages.

Local oversight and actions
3.3.7 Recent work by the Public Health Team on cancer includes promoting Public 

Health England’s campaign (summer 2018) on kidney and bladder cancer, 
with the ‘blood in pee’ awareness raising initiative.  This promotes 
awareness in the washrooms of Council offices, libraries and local housing 
association offices and community centres.   

3.3.8 Public Health are also currently exploring with the London Fire Brigade and 
partners the potential for bowel cancer screening ‘awareness raising’ as an 
element to the Fire, Safe and Well home visits that are currently being 
piloted in Merton (visits to resident’s homes around fire safety where health 
interventions are also provided).  

Flu vaccination
3.3.9 Flu is a serious disease caused by the influenza virus. Common symptoms 

of flu include coughing, shaking, chills, body aches, and extreme weakness 
and can also cause death. Flu can cause severe illness in vulnerable groups 
such as those who have underlying health conditions such as heart and lung 
disease, the very young and very old, and pregnant women. Free flu 
vaccinations are offered to these ‘at risk’ groups including children from 2-9 
years old (year 5 in primary school). Free flu vaccinations also extend to 
those living in long-stay residential care homes/long-stay care facilities, 
receivers of carers allowance and those who are carers, front-line health and 
social care workers. This is to reduce the impact on themselves as well as 
the clients/patients they may come into contact with.  Flu vaccination 

Page 25



reduces the risk of catching flu, severity of symptoms as well as spreading it 
to others.

What does the data show?
3.3.10 For 2017/18, the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) shows Merton 

is below target for vaccinations to ‘at risk’ individuals (excludes pregnant 
women) (45.5%), over 65 year olds (65%) and 2-3 year old children (35.7%) 
with respective targets of ≥55%, ≥75% and ≥65%. All London boroughs are 
below the targets set for these 3 indicators. Please refer to NHSE report for 
further details on uptake of the flu vaccine.

3.3.11 There are a number of myths around the flu vaccine that contribute to 
people’s reluctance to be vaccinated. For example, some people believe the 
flu vaccine will give someone flu, however the vaccine given to adults is 
inactivated flu virus and therefore cannot give someone flu. The children's 
nasal spray flu vaccine does contain the live virus but a much weakened flu 
virus that will not give a child flu. Dispelling these myths is part of national 
publicity to the public and service providers to increase uptake. 

3.3.12 Vaccines are produced well in advance depending on what the research 
indicating are the most likely strains to spread and cause illness among 
people during the upcoming flu season. Sometimes the flu vaccine may not 
exactly match and therefore not protect against all the circulating strains, but 
it is better to be protected against some of the circulating strains than none 
at all. This occurred in the 2017/18 flu season where the vaccine that was 
recommended for adults was the trivalent vaccine, which protected against 
some of the strains, however did not protect from the dominant Influence B 
strain. Therefore some people who did get the flu vaccination still got flu.

3.3.13 National analysis of data in 2016/17 for the school aged programme (those 
in year 1-3) showed a decrease in uptake with increase in age and increase 
in deprivation. The lowest uptake was reported in the most deprived deciles of 
deprivation or areas with the largest proportion of black or minority ethnic (BME) 
groups.ii

Local oversight and actions
3.3.14 The DPH oversight role in Merton around flu is exercise through the 

following mechanisms;
(i) Childhood Immunisations is one of the 5 key outcomes under the 

Best Start in Life theme for the Health and Well-being Strategy (2015 – 
2018). This keeps a focus on improving immunisations including flu

(ii) Local Merton Immunisations Steering group chaired by Merton 
CCG and made up of commissioners (NHSE) and providers (Maternity 
Units, GP representation, School Immunisations Team etc) meets quarterly 
develop and monitors local action plan. 

Page 26



(iii) A South West London Immunisations and Quality Board meets 
quarterly chaired by NHS England and Public Health team attend this. 
Performance of providers delivering the flu vaccinations are reviewed, 
discussed and actions for improved performance agreed.

(iv) Health protection incidents and outbreaks are discussed as 
appropriate through an internal Health Protection Oversight Group with 
appropriate escalation procedures in place. 

(v) Public Health promotion of flu vaccinations across the borough e.g. 
articles in My Merton, Young Merton Together, Staff bulletin etc

(vi) HR within the LA coordinate workplace flu vaccinations for frontline 
staff in the council each year

(vii) Public Health presentation to primary headteachers on importance 
of flu and the programme being delivered in schools and highlighting at risk 
groups

(viii) Public Health presentation to GP Practice Nurses on importance of 
improving flu uptake, targeting at risk groups, sharing good practice as well 
as giving them their performance by GP Practice to encourage improvement 
in uptake

(ix) Meeting being planned to coordinate preparation for 2018/19 
vaccination programme with MCCG, Comms, HR, social care, PH to align 
plans across partners.

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
4.1. N/A
5 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
5.1. N/A
6 TIMETABLE
6.1. N/A
7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. N/A
8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
8.1. N/A
9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
9.1. Women with disabilities particularly disabilities related to sight loss, self care 

and learning disabilities are less likely to take part in breast cancer 
screeningiii.   Women with learning disabilities are less likely to take part in 
cervical cancer screening programmes compared to the general populationiv.

9.2. Some ethnic minority groups may be less likely to access screening for 
cervical and breast cancer although the picture varies.   Residents with an 
‘other’ ethnic background are associated with poorer coverage.  The 
researchers highlight that Arab communities form a large subset of the 

Page 27



‘Other’ Census category population and may require targeted intervention to 
increase coveragev 

9.3. Lesbian and bisexual women are less likely to attend routine screening for 
cervical cancervi.  A study of 6000 lesbian and bisexual women in the UK in 
2007 found that 15% of women over 25 had not had cervical cancer 
screening compared to 7% of the general populationvii.  

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
10.1. N/A
11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1. N/A
12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
None

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS
13.1. None

i Variation in cervical and breast cancer screening coverage in England: a cross-sectional analysis to 
characterise districts with atypical behaviour, Massat, N et al, BMJ at 
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/7/e007735

ii Seasonal influenza vaccine uptake in children of primary school age: winter season 2016 to 2017 End 
of season report. Public Health England (PHE), 2018 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6556
92/Childhood_Flu_Vaccination_Pogramme_England_201617_End_of_Season_Report.pdf 
iii Floud, S et al, Disability and participation in breast and bowel cancer screening in England: a large 
prospective study. British Journal of Cancer, 117(11), 2017.

iv Osborn, D, Access to cancer screening in people with learning disabilities in the UK: cohort study in 
the health improvement network, a primary care research database. PLoS One, 7(8),  2012.

v Variation in cervical and breast cancer screening coverage in England: a cross-sectional analysis to 
characterise districts with atypical behaviour, Massat, N et al, BMJ at 
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/7/e007735

vi Health Care Access and Utilization among Women Who Have Sex with Women: Sexual Behavior and 
Identity, Kerker, B et al, (2006), Journal of Urban Health.
vii Prescription  for Change, lesbian and bisexual women’s health check 2008, Stonewall available at 
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/Prescription_for_Change__2008_.pdf 

Page 28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/655692/Childhood_Flu_Vaccination_Pogramme_England_201617_End_of_Season_Report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/655692/Childhood_Flu_Vaccination_Pogramme_England_201617_End_of_Season_Report.pdf
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/7/e007735
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/Prescription_for_Change__2008_.pdf


 

Report to the Healthier 
Communities and Older 
People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel on Section 7a 
Immunisation Programmes in 
Merton 2015 to 2018 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 
 

OFFICIAL 

2 
 

Report on Section 7a Immunisation Programmes in London 
Borough of Merton 2017/18  
 
Prepared by:  
Dr Catherine Heffernan, Principal Advisor for Commissioning Early Years, 
Immunisations and Vaccination Services and Bernadette Johnson, Immunisation 
Commissioning Manager, NHS England (NHS E). 
 
Presented to:  
Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 
 
Classification: OFFICIAL 
 
 
The NHS Commissioning Board (NHS CB) was established on 1 October 2012 as an 
executive non-departmental public body. Since 1 April 2013, the NHS Commissioning Board 
has used the name NHS England for operational purposes. 
  

Page 30



 
 

OFFICIAL 

3 
 

Contents 

1 Aim ..................................................................................................................... 4 

2 General Headlines on London............................................................................ 4 

3 Shingles Vaccination .......................................................................................... 4 

4 PPV Vaccination ................................................................................................ 9 

5 Seasonal ‘Flu ................................................................................................... 10 

6 Conclusions...................................................................................................... 12 

 
 

  

Page 31



 
 

OFFICIAL 

4 
 

1 Aim 
 

 The purpose of this paper is to provide an overview of national Section 7a 
immunisation programmes for the London Borough of Merton for a three year 
period from 2015 to 2018.  This was the time period requested by the 
Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 The paper covers the vaccine coverage and uptake of the adult immunisation 
programmes that are targeted at older people, i.e. Shingles, Pneumococcal 
Polysachride Vaccine (PPV) and seasonal flu along with an account of what 
NHS England London Region (NHSE London) is doing to improve uptake and 
coverage.   

 Section 7a immunisation programmes are universally provided immunisation 
programmes that cover the life-course and comprise of: 

o Antenatal and targeted new-born vaccinations  
o Routine Childhood Immunisation Programme for 0-5 years 
o School age vaccinations  
o Adult vaccinations  

 Members of the Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel are asked to note and support the work NHS E (London) and 
its partners such as Public Health England (PHE), Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCG) and the Local Authority are doing to increase vaccination 
coverage and immunisation uptake in Merton.  

 

2 General Headlines on London 
 

 Historically and currently, London performs lower than national (England) 
averages across all the immunisation programmes.  

 London faces challenges in attaining high coverage and uptake of 
vaccinations due to high population mobility, increasing population, increasing 
fiscal pressures and demands on health services and a decreasing 
vaccinating workforce. 

 Under the London Immunisation Partnership (formerly the London 
Immunisation Board), NHS England London Region (NHSE London) and 
Public Health England London Region (PHE London) seek to ensure that the 
London population are protected from vaccine preventable diseases and are 
working in partnership with local authorities, CCGs and other partners to 
increase equity in access to vaccination services and to reduce health 
inequalities in relation to immunisations. 

 The London Borough of Merton (Merton) on average performs lower than the 
national (England) across the vaccination programmes but generally in line 
with London averages.   

 
 

3 Shingles Vaccination 
 
 

 Since 2013, patients turning 70 years should be offered a shingles vaccination 
to protect them against herpes zoster (known as shingles) and post-herpetic 
neuralgia (PHN).  Patients remain eligible until their 80th birthday.  It should be 

Page 32



 
 

OFFICIAL 

5 
 

noted that there is confusion around eligibility.  For the first two years, 70 year 
olds and 79 year olds were offered vaccination and recorded for PHE.  Since 
then anyone aged 78 and 79 are eligible alongside anyone who’s turned 70 
since 2013.  This has resulted in a gap of a few years - currently those aged 
75-77 are not eligible.  Moreover, the eligibility criteria also shifted from an age 
on a certain date to anyone who has a 70th birthday within the financial year 
and this has also created confusion.  This also affects the data whereby the 
current dataset continues to record vaccinations given between 1st September 
to 31st August and does exclude people aged 70 who are considered 69 by 
the parameters of the data set.  This is a national issue and will be resolved in 
the near future.  

 In London, practices have been encouraged to offer shingles vaccine 
throughout the year (which is now a national recommendation).  Over the past 
three summers, NHSE (London) has worked closely with PHE (London) and 
other partners to promote a Shingles Summer Campaign to boost uptake 
figures.   

 Figure 1 illustrates the overall decline in uptake of shingles vaccine amongst 
70 year olds for London compared to England from the start of the shingles 
vaccination programme in 2013 until end of August 2017 (the latest available 
data for the shingles vaccination programme).  London always lags behind 
national rates across all vaccination programmes.  

 A breakdown of this data by London CCG is displayed in Figure 2.  
Throughout there is a clear decline in percentage uptake.  Our lowest uptake 
rates are found in Central London CCG, West London CCG and 
Hammersmith & Fulham CCG.  

 When looking at the absolute numbers (Figure 3), it can be seen that the 
eligible population for London greatly increased in 2016/17, yet the numbers 
vaccinated equally increased.  This demonstrates that London’s rate 
stabilised.  This stalling of decline is due to the ‘Shingles Summer Campaign’ 
that was a partnership endeavour between NHSE (London), London Office of 
CCGs, Pharmacy London and MSD and which ran between June and August.  
We would have seen a bigger decline had the Shingles campaign not 
occurred during these months.  However, since then uptake rates have 
declined again.  

 
 

 
  

Page 33



 
 

OFFICIAL 

6 
 

Figure 1 
Uptake of routine (age 70) vaccination for London compared to England for 

September 1st 2013 to August 31st 2017 
 

 
Source: PHE (2017) 

 
Figure 2 

Uptake of routine (age 70) vaccination by CCG in London September 1st 2013 to 
August 31st 2017 

 

 
 

Source: PHE (2017) 
 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2013/14 2014/15 2015/15 2016/17

%
 u

p
tk

ak
e

 

London

England

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

B
ar

ki
n

g 
an

d
…

B
ar

n
e

t 
C

C
G

B
e

xl
ey

 C
C

G

B
re

n
t

B
ro

m
le

y 
C

C
G

C
am

d
en

 C
C

G

C
e

n
tr

al
…

C
it

y 
an

d
…

C
ro

yd
o

n
 C

C
G

Ea
lin

g 
C

C
G

En
fi

e
ld

 C
C

G

G
re

e
n

w
ic

h
 C

C
G

H
am

m
er

sm
it

h
…

H
ar

in
ge

y 
C

C
G

H
ar

ro
w

 C
C

G

H
av

e
ri

n
g 

C
C

G

H
ill

lin
gd

o
n

 C
C

G

H
o

u
n

sl
o

w
 C

C
G

Is
lin

gt
o

n
 C

C
G

K
in

gs
to

n
 C

C
G

La
m

b
e

th
 C

C
G

Le
w

is
h

am
 C

C
G

M
e

rt
o

n
 C

C
G

N
ew

h
am

 C
C

G

R
e

d
b

ri
d

ge
 C

C
G

R
ic

h
m

o
n

d
 C

C
G

So
u

th
w

ar
k 

C
C

G

Su
tt

o
n

 C
C

G

To
w

e
r 

H
am

le
ts

…

W
al

th
am

…

W
an

d
sw

o
rt

h
…

W
e

st
 L

o
n

d
o

n
…

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

Page 34



 
 

OFFICIAL 

7 
 

Figure 3 
Trend of numbers of 70 year olds vaccinated in London compared to those eligible 

2013/14 to 2016/17 
 

 

 
Source: PHE (2017) 

 
 

 In relation to Merton, Merton CCG performs similarly to the London average 
but below England average and the other South West London CCGs (figure 
4).  Like all the other South West CCGs, Merton has had a decline in uptake 
since 2014/15 (see Table 1). It’s not known why Merton is much lower than 
the other CCGs but NHSE (London) is investigating this as part of its Quarterly 
Performance and Quality Boards held with commissioners, providers and local 
authority representatives.  
 
 

Figure 4 
Uptake rates of shingles immunisation coverage (aged 70) for Merton CCG 
compared to South West London CCGs, London and the national (England) 

averages 2014/15 – 2016/17 
 

 
Source: PHE (2017) 

23416 24354 
20581 20672 

45675 
49940 

43656 

50080 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Vaccinated Eligible

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

South West London CCGs ENGLAND London NHS MERTON CCG

Page 35



 
 

OFFICIAL 

8 
 

 
Table 1 Merton CCG compared to the other South West CCGs for years 2014/15 – 

2016/17 
 

     

 

 
% Coverage 

 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

NHS MERTON CCG 48.8% 48.2% 39.2% 

ENGLAND 59.0% 54.9% 48.3% 

London 48.7% 47.1% 41.2% 

South West London CCGs 
   NHS CROYDON CCG 53.6% 47.0% 41.7% 

NHS KINGSTON CCG 57.5% 50.9% 45.1% 

NHS RICHMOND CCG 53.7% 50.5% 46.0% 

NHS SUTTON CCG 58.0% 58.0% 47.5% 

NHS WANDSWORTH CCG 51.1% 48.4% 42.4% 

 

 Source: PHE (2017) 
 

What are we doing to increase uptake? 
 

 Increasing uptake of shingles vaccination is a key objective in our London wide 
Immunisation Plan 2017-19.  There is a sub plan focused on shingles vaccination 
which is evidence based and the goal is to stem the continuous decline and 
increase uptake.   

 Evaluations of our previous Shingles vaccination campaigns in 2015/16 and 
2016/17 showed that getting appointments was difficult, vaccinators found the 
eligibility criteria confusing and didn’t have the time to talk through patient’s 
queries or concerns about the contraindications.  Shingles vaccinations are also 
offered opportunistically and so are dependent upon the patient coming to the 
practice for another health need.   

 We are currently researching the barriers and facilitators to shingles vaccination 
services in general practices across London and will share these findings later 
this year.  At the same time, we’re working with practices to host shingles 
vaccination clinics under the banner of #NHS70 and #shinglesat70.  Our pilot of 6 
large GP practices in Barnet and Bexley indicated that approximately 100 patients 
can be vaccinated over two afternoons in specific shingles vaccination clinics.  
Patients reported that they came because their practice invited them and 
attendees when followed up reported that they encouraged their friends to get 
vaccinated.  We are working with British Immunological Society Vaccine 
Ambassadors on a project to increase knowledge and intention to vaccinate 
amongst our over 70 year old population.  We continue to work with CCGs to 
embed more sustainable means of ensuring shingles vaccination remains 
important in vaccination services.  This utilises sharing of monthly monitoring of 
uptake by practices.   

 
 

Page 36



 
 

OFFICIAL 

9 
 

 

4 PPV Vaccination 
 

 Pneumococcal Polysachride Vaccine (PPV) is offered to all those aged 65 and 

older to protect against 23 strains of pneumococcal bacterium.  It is a one off 
vaccine which protects for life.  This vaccination tends to be given alongside 
with the flu vaccination during the flu season when the patient present at the flu 
appointment. 
 

 There is no target for this vaccine – the aim is for individual protection. It is also 
worth noting that the over 65s population are largely protected against 
pneumococcal invasive disease and pneumonia from the PCV-13 programme 
given as part of the 0 to 5s routine childhood immunisation schedule.  PPV23 is 
an additional vaccine to help protect this population from the remaining 13 strains 
not covered in the PCV-13 vaccine.   

 

 Figure 5 illustrates the percentage uptake for Merton CCG compared to other 
Southwest CCGs and the national (England) and London averages for 2014/15 – 
2017/18. Uptake is reported cumulatively for the year (and so can include 
vaccinations had in previous years).   Merton CCG is below the national 
(England) and the London average (65.5% cumulative total for 2017/18 
compared to 64.4% London and 69.5% England).  Merton is the second highest 
for 2017/18 amongst South West CCGs.  

 
 
 

Figure 5 
 

Uptake rates of PPV for Merton CCG compared to South West London CCGs, 
London and England averages 2014/15 – 2017/18 

 
 

     

 
% Coverage 

 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

NHS MERTON CCG 66.1% 68.2% 64.4% 65.5% 

ENGLAND 69.8% 70.1% 69.8% 69.5% 

London 64.9% 65.3% 64.3% 64.4% 

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

65.0%

70.0%

75.0%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

South West London CCGs ENGLAND London NHS MERTON CCG

Page 37



 
 

OFFICIAL 

10 
 

South West London CCGs 
    NHS CROYDON CCG 63.3% 63.3% 64.0% 64.3% 

NHS KINGSTON CCG 66.6% 66.7% 63.9% 65.6% 

NHS RICHMOND CCG 69.7% 68.7% 65.2% 64.8% 

NHS SUTTON CCG 70.7% 70.8% 70.3% 71.3% 

NHS WANDSWORTH CCG 60.7% 62.0% 61.4% 62.2% 

 
 Source: PHE (2018) 

 
What are we doing to improve uptake? 
 

 Uptake of PPV was affected during the winter of 2017/18 by shortages of the 
vaccine.  This has now been resolved.  PPV vaccine is ordered individually by 
practices (not from national stock).  Practices tend to offer PPV vaccine with 
flu vaccine but we are encouraging practices to offer PPV throughout the year.  
We are working with CCGs, GP Federations and other partners to offer PPV 
and Shingles vaccination more readily as part of ‘making every contact count’.   

 
 

5 Seasonal ‘Flu 
 
 

 Flu is an acute viral infection of the respiratory tract (nose, mouth, throat, 
bronchial tubes and lungs).  It is a highly infectious illness which spreads 
rapidly in closed communities even people with mild or no symptoms can 
infect others. Most cases in the UK occur during an 8 to 10 week period during 
the winter. 

 However, flu can be more severe in certain people, such as: 

 Anyone aged 65 and over 

 Pregnant women 

 Children and adults with an underlying health condition (such as long-
term heart or respiratory disease) 

 Children and adults with weakened immune systems 

 The national flu immunisation programme aims to provide direct protection to 
those who are at higher risk of flu associated morbidity and mortality.  

 Since 2014/15, healthy children are offered the child ‘flu programme.  Children 
are the main spreaders of ‘flu and in one flu season while 5-20% of adults will 
be affected by ‘flu, 30-50% of children will be infected.  They also spread flu 
up to 7 days which is longer than adults.  The aim of the national programme 
is to annually vaccinate all children aged 2-11 years.  For 2017/18 winter 
seasons, children aged 2 and 3 were vaccinated in general practice whilst 
children aged 4-9 were vaccinated in reception to year 4.  In 2018/19, year 5 
cohort will be added.  However, it should be noted that those children in year 5 
have been receiving the flu vaccine each year since Year 1.    

 For two years running, London ‘flu vaccination rates have greatly increased.  
Whilst London still trails behind national rates, the gap is closing and we’ve 
had the highest health care worker rates ever recorded in 2017/18 – 63.8%. 

Page 38



 
 

OFFICIAL 

11 
 

 Table 2 illustrates the percentage uptake of seasonal ‘flu vaccine for Merton CCG 
compared to the national (England) and the London average for the period 
2014/15 to 2017/18 for the adult ‘at risk’ groups. It can be seen that London 
performs lower than the national (England) average across and that Merton CCG 
performs lower than London averages.   However, uptake amongst the ‘at risk’ 
groups is in line with the London average. 

 
Table 2 Seasonal ‘Flu Vaccination rates for the adult at risk groups in Merton 

compared to London and national averages for 2017/18 
 
2017/18 65+ Clinical at risk Pregnant Women 

Merton 65% 45.6% 44.5% 

London 72.6% 48.9% 41.1% 

England 66.9% 45.4% 47.2% 
 

Source: PHE (2018) 
 

 Tables 3-5 compare Merton to other South West CCGs.  Tables 3 and 4 provide 
trends and it can be seen that percentage wise Merton is at the bottom of the over 
65s coverage but similar for the clinically at risk group.  Caution is needed when 
interpreting these figures as they do not include those vaccinations given in 
pharmacy and last year, 227,000 flu vaccinations were given in community 
pharmacies across London and 5391 were given in Merton (this ranged from 
3315 in Kingston to 10307 in Croydon).   

 
Table 3 Seasonal ‘Flu Vaccination rates for the over 65s in Merton compared to other 

South West CCGs for 2014/15 to 2017/18 
 

 
% Coverage 

 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

NHS MERTON CCG 67.6% 65.1% 63.5% 65.0% 

NHS CROYDON CCG 65.9% 63.5% 63.9% 65.9% 

NHS KINGSTON CCG 67.5% 65.7% 66.1% 67.9% 

NHS RICHMOND CCG 71.3% 68.1% 66.1% 68.1% 

NHS SUTTON CCG 70.3% 68.4% 65.5% 69.3% 

NHS WANDSWORTH CCG 69.8% 65.9% 65.5% 66.8% 

Source: PHE (2018) 
 

Table 4  
Seasonal ‘Flu Vaccination rates for the clinically at risk (aged 6 months to 64 years) 

in Merton compared to other South West CCGs for 2014/15 to 2017/18 

 
% Coverage 

 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

NHS MERTON CCG 48.1% 43.6% 45.6% 45.6% 

NHS CROYDON CCG 47.5% 42.6% 46.0% 42.3% 

NHS KINGSTON CCG 48.6% 44.8% 48.1% 48.0% 

NHS RICHMOND CCG 46.4% 39.9% 42.3% 39.0% 

NHS SUTTON CCG 48.3% 43.3% 46.5% 45.2% 

NHS WANDSWORTH CCG 49.1% 43.4% 44.9% 44.1% 

Page 39



 
 

OFFICIAL 

12 
 

Source: PHE (2018) 
 

Table 5 Seasonal ‘Flu Vaccination rates for pregnant women in Merton compared to 
other South West CCGs for 2017/18 

 

 
 Source: PHE (2018) 

 

 

What are we doing to improve uptake?  
 

 NHSE (London) intends to continue the upward trend of flu vaccination across 
London with this year’s London ‘Flu Plan.  This plan is a sub-plan of the 
London wide Immunisation Plan and is quality assured by the London 
Immunisation Partnership and by the NHSE London Public Health 
Commissioning and Health and Justice System Assurance Group.   

 In relation to Merton’s specific issues, these will be picked up at the the SWL 
P&Q Board includes providers, Merton CCG, local authority as well as NHSE 
London and PHE London.   The aim of the Board is to improve immunisation 
performance and quality across south west London by identify local and 
common issues and working together to improve performance across the 
CCGs and boroughs.    
   

 

6 Conclusions 
 

 London traditionally trails behind national averages and Merton has trailed 
behind London on the adult vaccination programmes.  However, NHSE 
London, PHE London and ADPH are keen to improve the uptake of adult 
vaccination programmes and replicate the successes of the flu vaccination in 
the other two adult vaccination programmes.   

 Improving vaccination rates requires targeting information management, 
quality and provision of vaccination service and the public’s intention to 
vaccinate.   This requires a multi-faceted approach working with partners 
across the system, particularly those in primary care transformation to ensure 
that adult vaccinations are prioritized and that there is the capacity in our 
providers to meet the demands of our patients.   

Eligible Vaccinated 2016-17 Uptake Eligible Vaccinated 2017-18 Uptake

ENGLAND 645,501 290,040 44.9% 643,373 303,593 47.2%

London 136,878 54,221 39.6% 134,114 55,138 41.1%

South West London STP 21,846 9,218 42.2% 22,606 10,404 46.0%

NHS Croydon CCG 6,133 2,273 37.1% 5,641 2,460 43.6%

NHS Kingston CCG 2,330 1,037 44.5% 2,561 1,163 45.4%

NHS Merton CCG 2,902 1,313 45.2% 3,279 1,458 44.5%

NHS Richmond CCG 2,622 1,114 42.5% 2,424 1,085 44.8%

NHS Sutton CCG 2,492 1,003 40.2% 2,557 1,126 44.0%

NHS Wandsworth CCG 5,367 2,478 46.2% 6,144 3,112 50.7%

2017-18 Highest CCG - London

(NHS WANDSWORTH CCG) 6,144 3,112 50.7%

2017-18 Highest CCG - National

(NHS STOCKPORT CCG) 3,609 2,581 71.5%

Page 40



Committee: Healthier Communities Panel 
Date: 5 September 2018
Agenda item: 
Wards: All

Subject:  Annual Public Health Report 2018: Tackling health 
inequalities – progress in closing the gap within Merton 
Lead officer: Dagmar Zeuner, Director of Public Health 
Lead member: Cllr Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health
Contact officer: Samina Sheikh (Principal Public Health Intelligence Specialist) Clarissa 
Larsen (Health and Wellbeing Board Partnership Manager) 

Recommendations: 
The Healthier Communities Panel is asked to:
A. Consider and champion the recommendations of the Annual Public Health Report 

(APHR) 2018 on Health Inequalities.
   

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
There is a statutory duty for the Director of Public Health to produce an independent 
Annual Public Health Report (APHR) which forms part of the wider Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA). The purpose of this paper is to share with the Healthier 
Communities Panel the APHR 2018: Tackling health inequalities - progress in closing 
the gap within Merton. 
The report aimed to measure progress in closing the gap of inequalities in Merton. 
Analysis of the available data showed this was not straight forward. This report 
therefore seeks to clarify meaning, definitions and measures of health inequalities. It 
provides analyses of trends over time, proposes measures to monitor future progress 
and summarises evidence of what works to reduce inequalities, as a resource for 
councillors, officers and partners.
DETAILS
2. The topic was selected for a number of reasons:

 It is a longstanding aim of the Merton Council and its partners to ‘bridge the gap’ 
between the east and west of the borough, addressing the disadvantage that 
some communities face. 

 Closing the gap in health inequalities was the overarching aim of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS) 2015-2018; and this analysis is central to impact 
monitoring, and to informing the refresh of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2019-2024.

 Analysis and recommendations from this APHR will also inform other strategic 
work underway in health and social care, including the development of the Local 
Health and Care Plan, the developing Merton Prevention Framework, and the 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



development and evaluation of the East Merton model of health and wellbeing 
centred on the Wilson site.

 There is synergy with the continued focus on health inequalities in London, 
including the new draft refresh of the Mayor’s Health Inequality Strategy.

3. The APHR 2018 aims to provide a reference for officers, partners and residents to 
understand what we mean by inequalities, specifically health inequalities, but also 
the underlying drivers of differences in health outcomes between different groups – 
inequalities in the social determinants of health such as poverty, education and 
employment. 
The purpose of the APHR 2018 is to inform a shared understanding of where we are 
now, how far we have come in ‘bridging the gap’ between the most and least 
deprived, and how we might best approach and monitor health inequalities in future.

4. The APHR 2018 is split into the following sections:
Part 1: an overview of what we mean by inequalities, specifically health 
inequalities; how we measure them; and what we know works to tackle them.
Part 2: what we know about health inequalities in Merton over time (using a 
selection of health-specific indicators and others that represent the social 
determinants of health), and description of the methodology used to analyse the 
inequality gap.
Part 3: a summary of what we can learn from this piece of work to take forward 
into the HWBS refresh and other strategic work.

5. The APHR 2018 is complemented by a Supplementary Data Report with additional 
graphs and analysis which is also attached to this report.

Key Issues in the Annual Public Health Report
6. We know that there are inequalities between the east and the west of the borough, 

but this is the first time that we have looked systematically at the scale and trend in 
inequalities in Merton. This process has shown that it is more complex to monitor 
health inequalities than it first appears, and has helped identify an approach to 
more effectively track inequalities going forward.

7. APHR analysis shows that inequalities are evident in every indicator we studied, 
the vast majority of which show a worse picture in the most deprived areas, as we 
would expect. Recent supplementary analysis from Public Health England (PHE) 
reveals that the top three health indicators most strongly associated with 
deprivation in Merton are emergency hospital admissions; childhood obesity; and 
hospital stays for alcohol-related harm.

8. These cumulative inequalities – which are evident throughout different life stages 
and in the environment within which our residents live – contribute to the 
overarching inequalities in health outcomes that we see in the significant 
differences in life expectancy of 6.2 years for men and 3.4 years1 for women 
between the most and least deprived areas.  Inequalities in healthy life expectancy 

1  These figures are from the national ‘Slope Index of Inequality’ indicator which looks at inequalities in life expectancy at birth 
between the 10% most and 10% least deprived areas in a borough. Governing Body  may be aware that these are different 
figures for the gap in life expectancy than previously reported, for instance through the JSNA 2013/14 which gave a figure of 9 
years for men and 13 years for women. The APHR (Box 3, Chapter 1) gives a detailed explanation of the changes to the data, 
trend and methodology behind the figures, and why we recommend the use of this Slope Index going forward, as the headline 
life expectancy indicator.

Page 42



are even starker, with a difference of 9 years of healthy life between most and 
least deprived areas.

9.   In terms of trend in inequalities in Merton, the picture is mixed. There are some 
success stories, for instance the reducing gap between the most and least 
deprived areas in life expectancy for women, in school readiness, and in the 
proportion of the economically active population claiming Jobseeker's Allowance, 
and the apparent reduction in the Child Poverty gap. However, the majority of 
indicators either show the inequality gap to be stable over time, to be increasing, or 
to be reducing for the ‘wrong’ reasons (for instance because the situation for those 
in more affluent areas appears to be worsening whilst that for those in the more 
deprived areas remains stable, narrowing the gap). It is evident from this analysis 
that inequalities in Merton are intransigent, and we need to keep them under 
review over a longer time frame.

Recommendations
10. The analysis confirms that health inequalities are persistent, complex and difficult to 

shift. In order to make progress, we have to actively and systematically target them 
through a long-term, multi-sectoral approach, across all partners. If we take our eye 
off the ball, health inequalities are likely to increase. Therefore we need to 
continuously monitor progress and review our approach over time.

 Recommendations for tackling health inequalities in Merton:
11. In order to reduce the steepness of the social gradient in health outcomes, a 

‘proportionate universalism’ approach should be adopted, meaning that population-
wide action is vital, but that universal interventions should be undertaken with a 
scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage. Action needs 
to be taken across the whole life course so that all Merton residents can start well, 
live well and age well.

12. Whilst recognising the role of personal prevention approaches to improve health 
(e.g. support for individuals to stop smoking), the evidence shows that we need to 
rebalance our efforts towards population level prevention. This recognises both the 
increased cost-effectiveness of interventions at population level compared to 
personal level interventions, and the evidence of increased impact on health 
inequalities. 

13. Approaches must be underpinned by participatory decision-making and co-design, 
empowering individuals and communities.

Recommendations for monitoring health inequalities in Merton: 
14. A standardised methodology should be used across Merton to be able to 

effectively monitor inequalities and progress. We recommend that the methodology 
set out in the attached APHR Part 2.2 is adopted across the Council and Merton 
Partnership.

15. We need to be realistic about timescales in which we can expect changes to the 
inequality gaps in Merton. Different types of interventions will take different 
amounts of time to demonstrate impact. When setting targets, we need to be 
explicit about the timescales within which we expect to see changes in metrics, 
and that these timeframes are likely to differ from local and national political cycles, 
requiring coordinated action over time. This is discussed in more detail in the 
APHR Part 1.

Page 43



16. Because some of the longer term health outcomes will take time to address, when 
developing a set of indicators to monitor progress through strategies such as the 
current Health and Wellbeing Strategy or the NHS’s Local Health and Care Plan 
(covering 3-5 year time periods), it will be important to consider an underpinning 
logic model or theory of change. This can include shorter term ‘proxy’ measures 
that can help to suggest if change is occurring in the right direction. This is 
discussed in more detail in the APHR, Part 3.

17. The summary indicator table in APHR Part 5 highlights some of the indicators we 
think would be most useful. This includes measures of inequalities in life 
expectancy, deprivation, education, employment (taking into account the changes 
to benefits with the introduction of Universal Credit by 2020), and a selection of key 
healthy lifestyle and disease indicators for children and adults.

18. Merton Public Health will feed back to PHE about the availability of sub-borough 
indicator data in easy to use formats, to inform their ongoing support to public 
health teams. We will also respond to the Government’s consultation on Universal 
Credit metrics, to ensure data supports monitoring of inequalities over time.

19. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
None
20. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
The APHR will be disseminated through officers, members and partners.
21. TIMETABLE
The APHR was taken to the Health and Wellbeing Board, MCCG Governing Body and 
Cabinet. It is now being designed and is due to be published in September 2018 as 
part of the Merton JSNA website. 
We also plan to produce an accessible, simple summary of highlights from the Annual 
Public Health Report in infographic, easy read format and share this widely. 
22. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
None for the purpose of this report. Implementation of the recommendations of the 
APHR is based on delivery within existing resources by changing ways of working of 
the Council and partners rather than new investment. 
23. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
Producing an independent APHR is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health.
24. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
The APHR focuses on health inequalities – with analysis of the current picture of 
inequalities in Merton, and recommendations on how to monitor them and how to 
address them in Merton. 
It aims to support LBM to deliver its Public Sector Equality Duty obligations under the 
Equality Act 2010, which means that we need to pay due regard to equality and 
inclusion issues in all of our decision making.
25. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
None

Page 44



26. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
None
APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED WITH 
THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
APHR 2018: Tackling health inequalities – progress in closing the gap within Merton
APHR 2018: Supplementary Data Report
BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Annual Public Health Report 2018: Tackling health 
inequalities - progress in closing the gap within Merton

Contents
Authors ..................................................................................................................................................2

Foreword ..............................................................................................................................................3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ....................................................................................................................4

Context ..............................................................................................................................................4

Purpose.............................................................................................................................................4

Summary of key findings ................................................................................................................4

Recommendations for tackling health inequalities in Merton ....................................................5

INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT ....................................................................................................7

1. PART 1: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT HEALTH INEQUALITIES? .................................8

1.1. What do we mean by ‘health inequalities’? ......................................................................8

1.2. How we measure and interpret inequalities ...................................................................11

1.3. What we know works to tackle health inequalities ........................................................12

2. PART 2: ANALYSIS OF HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN MERTON.......................................15

2.1. The Merton Story: overview of Merton as a place.........................................................15

2.2. Methodology for inequality ‘gap analysis’ used in this report ......................................16

2.3. Summary of indicators included in this report ................................................................19

2.4. CHAPTER 1: Key overarching indicators summarising the inequality gap ...............21

2.5. CHAPTER 2: Give every child the best start in life .......................................................26

2.6. CHAPTER 3: Prevention of poor physical and mental ill health .................................28

2.7. CHAPTER 4: Creating the conditions for fair employment and good work for all ....31

2.8. CHAPTER 5: Ensure healthy standard of living for all .................................................33

2.9. CHAPTER 6: Develop healthy, sustainable places and communities .......................35

3. PART 3: LESSONS FOR ADDRESSING HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN MERTON .........36

3.1. Conclusions ............................................................................................................................36

3.2. Recommendations .................................................................................................................38

4. Appendices .................................................................................................................................xli

Appendix 1: Resources for understanding and tackling health inequalities ..........................xli

Appendix 2: PHE Indicators sets (Marmot; Health Equity) .....................................................xlii

Appendix 3: Marmot priorities mapped to HWBS 2015-18 and APHR 2018 ......................xliii

Appendix 4: Glossary...................................................................................................................xliv

5. SUMMARY TABLE OF APHR 2018 INDICATORS ...........................................................xlvii

Page 47



2

Foreword

Dr Dagmar Zeuner, Director of Public Health

I am delighted to present my independent annual report on the health of the population of 
Merton, in fulfilment of my statutory duty as Director of Public Health.

This report addresses one of the central public health issues – tackling health inequalities, 
and specifically, progress in closing the gap within Merton. 

The aim was to measure progress in closing the gap of inequalities in Merton but analysis of 
the available data showed this was not straight forward. This report therefore seeks to clarify 
meaning, definitions and measures of health inequalities. It provides analyses of trends over 
time, proposes measures to monitor future progress and summarises evidence of what 
works to reduce inequalities, as a resource for Councillors, officers and partners.

The findings confirm that inequalities in Merton are persistent, complex and difficult to shift 
and we need to actively and systematically target them, working with all our partners to 
make an impact. The data provides a clear basis of our new Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and can provide a wider reference and resource to support our joint efforts to tackle 
inequalities helping us to measure our continuing efforts in closing the gap 

I am grateful to my team and many colleagues from the Council, Merton Clinical 
Commissioning Group and other organisations for their support and contributions. These 
efforts are much appreciated – on top of everybody’s busy daily work – and result in a more 
informed and collaborative output. We are keen to make our annual report as useful for 
partners as possible. Please email public.health@merton.gov.uk with any feedback you 
might have.  

Councillor Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health & Chair of 
Merton Health and Wellbeing Board

As the Cabinet Member responsible for public health I commend this annual report of our 
Director of Public Health. 

Tackling inequalities, ‘bridging the gap’ between the east and west of Merton, is at the heart 
of what we do as a Council and addressing health inequalities is a major part of this and a 
core aim of Merton Health and Wellbeing Board. 

As resources tighten it is especially important to understand where health inequalities exist, 
to measure progress in narrowing the ‘gap’ and identifying what works in trying to tackle 
inequalities. Some progress is evident and this report is helpful in highlighting the issues 
involved in effectively measuring change. However, the continuing gap in life expectancy 
between the most and least deprived areas of 6.2 years for men and a gap for healthy life 
expectancy of 9 year demonstrate that inequalities in Merton remain intransigent. Action 
needs to be taken across the whole life course so that all Merton residents can start well, live 
well and age well. 

Merton Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which we are refreshing from 2019, will form a core 
part of our work to reduce health inequalities. This report provides a sound evidence base 
for the strategy. The data will help inform, not only our policies, but also the type of indicators 
we use to measure how effective our work is in future. 

Page 48

mailto:public.health@merton.gov.uk


3

The solutions are multiple and wide-ranging and the only way to face the challenge of health 
inequalities head on, is for us to work in partnership for, and with, the communities and 
residents of Merton. 

Dr Andrew Murray, Chair of Merton Clinical Commissioning Group

As the Chair of Merton Clinical Commissioning Group and a local GP, I see first hand the 
consequences of health inequalities and know that we need to work together to address the 
discrepancy between some of our communities in Merton.

The NHS has an important role to play and we must work collaboratively with communities 
and partners across Merton to co-create sustainable preventative solutions. Our work to 
develop a new model of health and wellbeing in the east of the borough around the Wilson is 
a key focus of this and we hope this will have a direct impact on health inequalities across 
Merton. 

I commend the publication of this annual public health report. It is a useful resource and 
provides a strong focus on the role we can all play in tackling this challenge.  

Page 49



4

Authors

Amy Potter
Consultant in Public Health 

Dr Dagmar Zeuner 
Director of Public Health

With support from:

Samina Sheikh
Principal Public Health Intelligence Specialist

Lynne Kitson
Health Intelligence Analyst

Rooah Omer
Public Health Specialty Registrar

Clarissa Larsen
Health & Wellbeing Board Partnership Manager

Natalie Lovell
Health Improvement Officer (Healthy Places)

May 2018

Page 50



5

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Context
This Annual Public Health Report (APHR) looks at health inequalities in Merton – the current 
picture and progress in closing the gap. This topic was selected for a number of reasons:

 It is a longstanding aim of the Merton Partnership to ‘bridge the gap’ between the east 
and west of the borough, addressing the disadvantage that some communities face; 

 Our Public Sector Equality Duty obligations under the Equality Act 2010 mean that we 
need to pay due regard to equality and inclusion issues in all our decision making. 
Analysis in this report aims to support the Council and partners to meet this duty;

 Closing the gap in health inequalities was the overarching aim of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS) 2015-2018; and this analysis is therefore central to impact 
monitoring, and to informing the refresh of the HWBS 2019-2024;

 Analysis and recommendations from this APHR will also inform other strategic work 
underway in health and social care, including the development of the Local Health and 
Care Plan, the developing Merton Prevention Framework, and the development and 
evaluation of the East Merton model of health and wellbeing centred on the Wilson site;

 There is synergy with the continued focus on health inequalities in London, including the 
refresh of the Mayor’s Health Inequality Strategy.

Purpose
The APHR 2018 aims to provide a reference for officers, partners and residents to 
understand what we mean by inequalities, specifically health inequalities but also the 
underlying drivers of differences in health outcomes between different groups – inequalities 
in the social determinants of health such as poverty, education and employment. 

The purpose of the APHR 2018 is to inform a shared understanding of where we are now, 
how far we have come in bridging the gap between the most and least deprived using some 
key indicators, and how we might best approach and monitor health inequalities in future. 

The APHR 2018 is split into the following sections:

 Part 1 gives an overview of what we mean by inequalities, specifically health inequalities; 
how we measure them; and what we know works to tackle them;

 Part 2 outlines what we know about health inequalities in Merton over time (using a 
selection of health-specific indicators and others that represent the social determinants 
of health), and describes the methodology used to analyse the inequality gap.

 Part 3 concludes with a summary of what we can learn from this piece of work to take 
forward into the HWBS refresh and other strategic work.

The APHR 2018 is complemented by a Supplementary Data Report with additional analysis.

Summary of key findings
This APHR on Health Inequalities has investigated some of the key inequality gaps between 
the most and least deprived communities in Merton that impact on health outcomes. It casts 
new light and produces clear evidence to show a sustained gap in health and wellbeing 
across communities in Merton and provides robust data, on which our plans and policies can 
build, to address these inequalities. 

 We know that there are inequalities between the east and the west of the borough, but 
this is the first time that we have looked systematically at the scale and trend in 
inequalities in Merton over time. This process has shown that it is more complex to 
monitor health inequalities than it first appears, and has been very useful to identify an 
approach that will help us to effectively track inequalities going forward.

Page 51



6

 APHR analysis shows that inequalities are evident in every indicator we studied, the vast 
majority of which show a worse picture in the most deprived areas, as we would expect. 
Recent supplementary analysis from Public Health England (PHE)1 reveals that the top 
three health indicators most strongly associated with deprivation locally are emergency 
hospital admissions; childhood obesity; and hospital stays for alcohol-related harm.

 These cumulative inequalities – which are evident throughout different life stages and in 
the environment within which our residents live – contribute to the overarching 
inequalities in health outcomes that we see in the significant differences in life 
expectancy of around 6.2 years for men and 3.4 years for women between the most and 
least deprived areas.2 Inequalities in healthy life expectancy are even starker, with a 
difference of more than 9 years of healthy life between most and least deprived areas.

 In terms of trend in inequalities in Merton, the picture is mixed. There are some success 
stories, for instance the reducing gap between the most and least deprived areas in life 
expectancy for women, in School Readiness, and in the proportion of the economically 
active population claiming jobseeker's allowance (JSA), and the apparent reduction in 
the Child Poverty gap. However, the majority of indicators either show the inequality gap 
to be stable over time, to be increasing, or to be reducing for the ‘wrong’ reasons (for 
instance because the situation for those in more affluent areas appears to be worsening 
whilst that for those in the more deprived areas remains stable, narrowing the gap). It is 
evident from this analysis that inequalities in Merton are intransigent, and we need to 
keep them under review over a longer time frame.

The data gathered and analysis undertaken here will help inform the Merton HWBS which is 
being refreshed for 2019. This work represents the opportunity to act to address the 
identified inequalities by focusing on early intervention and a Health in All Policies approach. 

As the analysis confirms that health inequalities are persistent, complex and difficult to shift, 
in order to make any progress, we have to actively and systematically target them through a 
long-term multi-sectoral approach across all partners; if we take our eye off the ball, health 
inequalities are likely to increase. Therefore we need to continuously monitor progress and 
review our approach over time

Recommendations for tackling health inequalities in Merton
A. Recommendations for tackling health inequalities in Merton

 We have Public Sector Equality Duty obligations under the Equality Act 2010, which 
means that we need to pay due regard to equality and inclusion issues in all of our 
decision making. The analysis in this APHR suggests that in order to make progress on 
closing the inequality gap in Merton, we need to actively and systematically target 
inequalities through a long-term multi-sectoral approach across all partners. This action 
should be based on detailed understanding of our population need, as set out in the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), and grounded in evidence of what works 
(discussed in more detail in Part 1).

 Whilst recognising the role of personal prevention approaches to improve health (e.g. 
support for individuals to stop smoking), the evidence shows that we need to rebalance 
our efforts towards population level prevention, recognising both the increased cost-
effectiveness of interventions at population level compared to personal level 
interventions, and the evidence of increased impact on health inequalities.

1 PHE Health Inequalities Briefing for Merton, March 2018 (relevant findings included in this APHR)
2 These figures are from the national ‘Slope Index of Inequality’ indicator which looks at inequalities in 
life expectancy at birth between the 10% most and 10% least deprived areas in a borough. Readers 
may be aware that these are different figures for the gap in life expectancy than previously reported, 
for instance through the JSNA 2013/14 which gave a figure of 9 years for men and 13 years for 
women. See Box 3 in Chapter 1 of this report for an explanation of the changes to the data, trend and 
methodology behind the figures, and why we recommend the use of this Slope Index going forward, 
as the headline life expectancy indicator.

Page 52



7

 In order to reduce the steepness of the social gradient in health outcomes, the evidence 
shows that a ‘proportionate universalism’ approach should be adopted, meaning that 
population-wide action is vital, but that universal interventions should be undertaken with 
a scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage. Action needs to 
be taken across the whole life course so that all Merton residents can start well, live well 
and age well.

 In order to be effective, the evidence shows that approaches must be underpinned by 
participatory decision-making and co-design, empowering individuals and communities.

 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy to be refreshed from 2019 will form a core strand of 
Merton’s strategy to reduce inequalities, and will seek to address the health inequalities 
issues identified in this report through the approaches outlined above. 

B. Recommendations for monitoring health inequalities in Merton

 The detailed analysis in this APHR will inform the suite of indicators for the HWBS from 
2019. We want these indicators to be challenging, but also realistic and robust so that 
they give the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and partners a clear picture of how 
effectively we are working to tackle health inequalities. This will involve identifying 
indicators that can be scrutinised at sub-borough level to look at inequalities within 
Merton, and which enable tracking of change over time. The summary indicator table 
(Section 5) highlights some of the indicators we think would be most useful, including 
measures of inequalities in life expectancy, deprivation, education, employment (taking 
into account the changes to benefits with the introduction of Universal Credit by 2020), 
and a selection of key healthy lifestyle and disease indicators for children and adults.

 We need to be realistic about timescales in which we can expect changes to the 
inequality gaps in Merton to occur: different types of interventions will take different 
amounts of time to demonstrate impact. When setting targets, we therefore need to be 
explicit about the timescales within which we would expect to see changes to different 
metrics, and that these timeframes are likely to sit outside any local and national political 
cycles, requiring coordinated action over time. This is discussed in more detail in Part 1.

 Because some of the longer term health outcomes will take time to address, when 
developing a set of indicators to monitor progress through strategies such as the HWBS 
or the NHS’s Local Health and Care Plan (covering 3-5 year time periods), it will be 
important to consider an underpinning logic model or theory of change, in order to 
choose shorter term ‘proxy’ measures that can help to suggest if change is occurring in 
the right direction. This is discussed in more detail in Part 3.

 A standardised methodology should be used across Merton to be able to effectively 
monitor inequalities and progress towards closing the gap, and we recommend that the 
methodology set out in this report (Section 2.2) is adopted across the Merton 
Partnership.

 Although this APHR has focused on place-based deprivation-linked inequality (using 
most/least deprived wards, or East/West gap), this is not the only way in which data 
should be broken down to look at inequalities: where possible it is important to look at 
inequalities by age, sex, ethnicity and other protected characteristics. 

 It is important to measure inequalities in a standardised way, but this report highlights 
some important limitations in the data available which make measurement of inequalities 
challenging. In particular, many nationally available health and wellbeing indicators are 
only available at borough not ward level which does not enable analysis of sub-borough 
health inequalities, do not have timely data available, or lack historic data which means 
that we cannot analyse the trend in inequalities over time. Given this, Merton Public 
Health will feed back to PHE about the availability of sub-borough indicator data in easy 
to use formats, to inform their ongoing support to local authority public health teams. We 
will also respond to the government’s consultation on Universal Credit metrics, to ensure 
data supports monitoring of inequalities over time. 

Page 53



8

INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT

The first priority of the Merton Partnership Community Plan is working to bridge the gap 
between the east and west of the borough and between different communities. 

This Annual Public Health Report (APHR) aims to provide a reference for officers, partners 
and residents to understand what we mean by inequalities, specifically health inequalities 
but also the underlying drivers of differences in health outcomes between different groups – 
inequalities in the social determinants of health such as poverty, education and employment. 

It aims to inform a shared understanding of where we are now, how far we have come in 
bridging the gap between the most and the least deprived areas in Merton for some key 
indicators, and how we might best approach and monitor health inequalities going forward.

It is a statutory duty for the Health and Wellbeing Board to produce a joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS), based on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. The current 
Merton Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018 is coming to an end, and one aim of this 
APHR is explicitly to help inform the choice of indicators for the development of the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy refresh from 2019.

This report is split into the following sections:

PART 1 Gives an overview of what we mean by inequalities, how we measure them, and 
what we know works to tackle them.

PART 2 Looks at what we know about health inequalities in Merton now and over time, 
and describing the methodology used to conduct inequality gap analysis, and 
using some key indicators to give an indication of the complex picture.

PART 3 Discusses what we can learn from this piece of work to take forward into the 
HWBS refresh and other strategic work such as the Local Health and Care Plan.

Page 54



9

1. PART 1: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT HEALTH INEQUALITIES?

1.1. What do we mean by ‘health inequalities’?

Health inequalities are unfair and avoidable differences in health status or the 
distribution of health determinants between different groups of people or communities.34 
Inequalities in health are driven by inequalities in society – “the conditions in which people 
are born, grow, live, work, and age.”5

Therefore this report looks at both health inequalities themselves (such as differences in life 
expectancy between the most and least deprived areas in Merton), as well as at inequalities 
in these broader determinants of health, such as poverty, education and employment. 

There are many aspects of inequality that could be analysed, for instance by age, sex, 
ethnicity or other protected characteristics, but in this report, we focus on comparing 
geographic inequalities (between the East and the West of the borough) and/or 
socioeconomic inequalities (between the most and least deprived areas). In Merton, there is 
significant correlation between socioeconomic inequalities and geography, with the east of 
the borough being more deprived than the more affluent west.

Figure 1: Dahlgren & Whitehead diagram: determinants of health and wellbeing

In 2008, Professor Sir Michael Marmot chaired an independent national review to propose 
the most effective evidence-based strategies for reducing health inequalities in 
England. The resulting report, 'Fair Society Healthy Lives' (2010) concluded that:

 Health inequalities result from social inequalities – the ‘causes of the causes’ or 
social determinants such as education, employment and living conditions. The result is a 
clear social gradient in health across society.

 This was demonstrated nationally by the significant inequalities in life expectancy, 
with those living in the poorest areas in England dying on average 7 years earlier than 
those in the richest areas at the time of the report. 

 The more shocking finding was that people in poorer areas not only die earlier but 
live more of their shorter lives in poor health – on average living 17 years more of 
their lives with a disability than those in richer neighbourhoods (Figure 2). 

3 World Health Organisation glossary http://www.who.int/hia/about/glos/en/index1.html 
4 PHE (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability
5 Marmot Review (2010) Fair Society Healthy Lives

Page 55

http://www.who.int/hia/about/glos/en/index1.html


10

 However, the good news is that health inequalities are not inevitable or immutable – 
they can be prevented and rolled back, through coordinated action across all the social 
determinants of health, and across all sectors of society not just the most disadvantaged. 
This approach is called ‘proportionate universalism’ – taking action across the whole 
population at sufficient scale and intensity to be universal but at the same time with 
effort proportionately targeted to particular groups in order to reduce the steepness of 
the social gradient in health inequalities over time (Figure 3). 

Figure 2 – Life expectancy and disability free life expectancy at birth, persons by 
neighbourhood income level, England 1999-2003 (Source: Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010)

Figure 3 – Proportionate universalism: acting across the social spectrum to change the health 
outcomes and reduce inequalities (Source: UCL Institute of Health Equity)

Page 56



11

 The evidence set out in the Marmot Review also suggests that in order to shift health 
inequalities, action needs to be taken across the life course, even starting pre-
conception, taking into account the accumulation of positive and negative effects on 
health and wellbeing throughout an individual’s life (Figure 4). Marmot’s six priority areas 
for action are given in Appendix 3.

 Marmot concluded that reducing health inequalities is vital to a productive 
economy, and that there is significant cost of inaction. Specifically, the Marmot Review 
estimated that inequality in illness can lead to productivity losses of between £31-33 
billion per year, as well as the cost of lost taxes and higher welfare payments. 

Figure 4 – ‘Action across the life course’ (Source: Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010)

The most recent national data from Public Health England shows that over the past 15 
years, both life expectancy and healthy life expectancy in England have increased, 
with the general population on average living longer and spending more years in good 
health. However, life expectancy has increased by more years than healthy life expectancy 
and so the average number of years lived in poor health has also increased.6 The data also 
shows that despite the long term trend of improvement in life expectancy and other headline 
indicators, stark inequalities remain. There has been little change in inequalities in male 
life expectancy, male and female healthy life expectancy and premature cancer mortality 
between the most and least deprived tenth of areas. For female life expectancy, there has 
been a small widening of the gap between the most and least deprived areas.7

However, there is some evidence that a targeted and coordinated cross-government and 
NHS approach in some deprived areas may be showing some impact on inequalities.8

6 PHE (2017) Health Profile for England https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-
for-england
7 PHE (2017) Health Profile for England: Chapter 5 – inequality in health 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england/chapter-5-inequality-in-
health#trends-in-health-inequality 
8 BMJ (2017) Investigating the impact of the English health inequalities strategy: time trend analysis 
http://www.bmj.com/content/358/bmj.j3310 

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england/chapter-5-inequality-in-health#trends-in-health-inequality
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england/chapter-5-inequality-in-health#trends-in-health-inequality
http://www.bmj.com/content/358/bmj.j3310


12

1.2. How we measure and interpret inequalities
Absolute versus Relative inequality

We can measure either absolute or relative inequalities. Relative inequality looks at ratios, or 
proportional differences between groups (an example is the internationally used Gini co-
efficient which looks at income inequality); absolute inequality reflects the magnitude of 
differences between groups. Both are useful measures, but when thinking about tracking 
health inequalities in Merton in this report, we have concentrated on looking at the absolute 
rather than the relative gap as it is easier to interpret. 

In this report, we look at the absolute gap between the most and least deprived communities 
in Merton. The specific methodology used, and how the use of most/least deprived 
communities aligns with East/West Merton, is set out in Section 2.2.
Box 1 – Absolute vs. Relative inequality: an example
Consider someone in East Merton with an income of £10,000 compared to a West Merton 
resident with an income of £100,000. The relative inequality is 1:10, and does not change if 
these incomes both rise to £20,000 and £200,000 respectively (i.e. the ratio remains the 
same, 1:10). However, the absolute gain to the resident in West Merton of a doubling in 
salary is much larger than the gain to the resident in East Merton - £100,000 compared to 
£10,000, shown by the increase in the absolute inequality gap, from £90,000 to £180,000. 

Interpreting changes in inequalities

We have to be careful when interpreting headline statistics, as an overall ‘reduction’ in 
inequality (for example, a narrowing of the absolute gap) may not be due to improved 
circumstances or outcomes for the most disadvantaged, but actually due to worsening or 
flat-lining outcomes in more affluent groups. This is demonstrated by a recent report from the 
Institute for Fiscal Studies on living standards which shows that the gap between the UK’s 
richest and poorest households has narrowed since the 2007-08 recession, but that some of 
this narrowing has been driven by falls in the incomes of middle and top earning households, 
many of whom are employed in hardest hit financial and insurance sectors.9  This apparent 
‘reduction in the inequality gap’ is not a positive outcome, and would not be a good news 
story for Merton residents.

Inequalities may also appear to shift if there are significant population changes over time in 
an area. For instance, inward migration of more affluent groups with better health status into 
an area over time, e.g. as a result of new developments, or outward migration of more 
deprived groups with worse health status e.g. due to lack of affordable housing may appear 
to improve data on inequalities, but will not actually represent a real terms benefit for local 
residents. An understanding of the local population demographics and how they are 
changing over time is vital when interpreting changes to inequalities data.

It is also important to note that inequalities are often entrenched and will take time to shift, so 
we need to be planning for coordinated action beyond local and national political cycles.

What we want is for everyone’s health and wellbeing to improve but that of the 
poorest to improve fastest. As the evidence set out by Marmot shows, the best way to do 
this is through a ‘proportionate universalism’ approach. This approach is supported by the 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE): “Tackling the social gradient in 
health requires a combination of both universal (population-wide) and targeted interventions 
that reflect the level of disadvantage and hence, the level of need.”10

9 IFS (2017) Living standards, poverty & inequality in the UK https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/9539 
10 NICE 2012 Health Inequalities and Population Health 
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb4/chapter/Introduction

Page 58

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/9539
https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb4/chapter/Introduction


13

1.3. What we know works to tackle health inequalities 
So, to make sufficient progress at a population level on inequalities in health outcomes, such 
as inequalities in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy, the evidence tells us that 
sustainable and systematic action must be delivered at scale in the following ways:11

A. Intervening for population level impact

We know that in order to have an impact at population level, we need to take action at 
individual, community and population levels – separately, these are all important, but a 
combination of actions across these different levels will lead to greater impact. For example:

 Individual level: smoking cessation services delivered through primary care;

 Community settings: Health Champions and other peer support for healthy behaviours 
within community groups; health promoting environments and policies within schools, 
workplaces, high streets;

 Population: adopting a Health in All Policies approach across partners to influence the 
structural obstacles to good health, for example though healthy public policy (legislation, 
taxation, welfare etc) and a healthy urban environment.

This tiered approach in Merton underpins our developing ‘Prevention Framework’ (Figure 7).

Figure 7 - Merton Prevention Framework (Source: Merton Public Health)

INDIVIDUAL
E.g. smoking cessation (face to 

face, digital)

COMMUNITY SETTINGS
E.g. schools, workplaces, 

highstreets, community groups

POPULATION
E.g. healthy urban environment, 

active travel, healthy public policy

At an individual level, there is evidence of the importance of the role that health and care 
services can play, in particular primary care and community services, in reducing 
inequalities, especially as people grow older with multiple morbidities..12

The evidence also shows that, whilst recognising the role of individual level approaches to 
improve health, it is important to rebalance our efforts towards population level 
prevention and efforts to address the social determinants of health, recognising both the 
increased cost-effectiveness of interventions at population level compared to personal level 
interventions, and the evidence of increased impact on health inequalities.13

11 PHE (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability
12 NHS Reducing health inequalities resources:  https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-
hub/resources/evidence/ 
13 McDaid, D, Sassi, F & Merkur, S (2015) Promoting Health, Preventing Disease: The Economic 
Case. World Health Organisation: 
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-Preventing-Disease-
Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1

Page 59

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/evidence/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/evidence/
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-Preventing-Disease-Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-Preventing-Disease-Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1


14

We also know that we need to take a strategic and coordinated approach, with 
interventions that are evidence-based, outcomes orientated, systematically applied, 
scaled up appropriately, appropriately resourced, and sustainable. 

In order to be effective, approaches must also be underpinned by effective participatory 
decision-making and co-design of interventions at local level, through empowering 
individuals and local communities.14

B. Intervening at different levels of risk

We know that there are different types of risk factors that drive poor health:

 Physiological risks e.g. high blood pressure, high cholesterol, chronic stress, depression; 

 Behavioural risks e.g. smoking, poor diet, low physical activity, excess alcohol; 

 Psychosocial risks e.g. loneliness, poor self-esteem, poor social networks; 

 These risks are all influenced by wider risk conditions, or determinants of health, e.g. 
poverty, unemployment, poor educational attainment.

These four levels of risk are all interconnected. Therefore the evidence suggests that is 
important that strategies to tackle health inequalities contain population-level actions 
across each of these levels of risk, rather than solely individual level approaches, in order 
to create impact at a sufficient and sustainable scale. 

Figure 5: Intervening at different levels of risk affecting health and wellbeing (Source: adapted 
from PHE (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability, p11)

 [FINAL REPORT TO INCLUDE MERTON-ISED FIGURE INCORPORATING BOTH BELOW]

C. Intervening for impact over time 

We know that different types of interventions will take different amounts of time to 
demonstrate impact. For example, stopping smoking is likely to show impact over a short 
time period in terms of improved health and wellbeing for an individual (in addition to the 
longer term improvements to life expectancy and healthy life expectancy across a lifetime), 
where as interventions to improve community green and built infrastructure – encouraging 
more people to walk and get active – are likely to take a decade or more for any impact on 
health to begin to become apparent. See Figure 6 for indicative timescales for different types 
of interventions.

Therefore we need to be realistic about when we are likely to see any changes to 
different health outcome metrics, depending on the type of intervention.

14 Marmot Review (2010) Fair Society Healthy Lives

Page 60



15

Figure 6: Time needed to deliver outcomes from different intervention types (Source: adapted 
from PHE (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability, p11)

[FINAL REPORT WILL INCLUDE MERTON-ISED FIGURE – could consider using same 
colour scheme in Column 5 of the table in Section 5?]

D. Intervening across the life course 

We know that reducing health inequalities is most effective when we purposefully tackle the 
wider determinants of health throughout the life course, starting early in life (even 
before birth), ensuring every child has the best start in life, that children, young people and 
adults are able to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives, and have 
access to fair employment and good work, within healthy and sustainable places and 
communities, all the way through to older age.15 Marmot’s six priority areas for action across 
the life course are set out in Appendix 3.

In summary, what we know about health inequalities and how to tackle them:16  

 Health inequalities are persistent, complex and difficult to shift.

 In order to make any progress, we have to actively and systematically target inequalities 
through a long-term multi-sectoral approach across all partners – including the NHS, 
Council, voluntary sector and the community – working at individual, community and 
population levels.

 We need to base our approach on evidence of what works to shift inequalities:

o Intervening for population level impact, particularly given the increased cost-
effectiveness of population level interventions compared to personal level 
interventions, and increased impact on health inequalities

o Intervening at different levels of risk, including the importance of the role that NHS 
primary care and community services play in reducing inequalities;

o Intervening for impact over time;

o Intervening across the life course;

o The importance of community empowerment.

 If we take our eye off the ball, health inequalities are likely to increase. Therefore we 
need to continuously monitor progress and review our approach over time.

See Appendix 1 for further reading and other useful tools for tackling health inequalities.

15 Marmot Review - Fair Society Healthy Lives 2010
16 Adapted from Kings Fund (2017) https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-
health-towards-brave-old-world

Page 61

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world


16

2. PART 2: ANALYSIS OF HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN MERTON

2.1. The Merton Story: overview of Merton as a place

Overall Merton is healthy, safe and has strong public and community assets. The health of 
people in Merton is generally better than the London and England average: life expectancy 
is higher than average and rates of death considered preventable are low. This is largely 
linked to the lower than average levels of deprivation in Merton. We have a range of public 
and community assets that are important to health; there are many green spaces, vibrant 
libraries, educational attainment is high, we have a wealth of small businesses and a strong 
Chamber of Commerce, as well as an active Voluntary and Community Sector and high 
levels of volunteering. We have good transport hubs, and a significant proportion of people 
who live in Merton also work in the borough. 

However, despite this positive picture, there are areas of concern. Significant social 
inequalities exist within the borough, and these are important drivers of poor health and 
wellbeing outcomes. 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) map (Figure 8) illustrates the contrast between the 
east and west of Merton: the darker the shading, the higher the level of deprivation. This 
shows that the most deprived areas are concentrated in the East of the borough, and the 
least deprived in the West.
Figure 8: Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 for Merton Wards

The Merton Story 2018 is a summary of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, and gives 
more detail of the distribution of risk and resilience factors for health and wellbeing in 
Merton, as well as the patterns of mortality and morbidity from disease.17

17 See the Merton Story 2018: https://www2.merton.gov.uk/health-social-care/publichealth/jsna.htm 

Page 62

https://www2.merton.gov.uk/health-social-care/publichealth/jsna.htm


17

2.2. Methodology for inequality ‘gap analysis’ used in this report

Inequality gap analysis: comparison of most and least deprived wards (‘30/30’)

This APHR on Health Inequalities uses a simple deprivation gap analysis to look at 
inequalities in Merton for a number of key indicators. Inequalities in health and the wider 
social determinants of health are often considered in terms of the gap between the most and 
least deprived groups of the population. Therefore, where possible in this report, the gap 
analysis carried out presents the difference between the averages of the 30% most and 30% 
least deprived wards in Merton based on the 2015 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
deciles. Figure 9 below shows which wards fall into which category.

There are 20 wards in Merton, none of which fall into the IMD classification decile 1 or decile 
2 (the most deprived). The 30% most deprived wards are classified in deciles 3 and 4, and 
the 30% least deprived wards are classified in deciles 9 and 10. The wards that are 
classified in deciles 3 and 4 are located in the east of the borough; similarly Merton wards in 
deciles 9 and 10 align with west Merton.

Gap analysis is useful in that it is a relatively easy concept to understand, and can be 
calculated easily without the need for statistical modelling. However, it is limited in that it only 
reflects the difference between the highest and lowest socioeconomic or deprived groups 
and can be potentially affected by extreme values within each of these groups.

This methodology was checked and agreed as valid by the Marmot team at the Institute of 
Health Equity at University College London.18

Figure 9: Wards in Merton split by deprivation decile, based on the 2015 IMD deciles

18 Institute of Health Equity: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org

Decile Ward name Locality
1  - -
2  - -
3 Cricket Green East 

Figges Marsh East 
Lavender Fields East 
Pollards Hill East 
Ravensbury East 

4

St Helier East 
5 Longthornton East 

Colliers Wood East 6 Graveney East 
7 Abbey East 

Lower Morden West 
Raynes Park West 
Trinity West 8

West Barnes West 
Cannon Hill West 
Dundonald West 
Hillside West 
Merton Park West 

9

Wimbledon Park West 
10 Village West 

30% Least Deprived

30% Most Deprived

Page 63

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/


18

Inequality gap analysis: comparison of East/West wards (‘E/W’)

We were only able to calculate the gap between the most/least deprived for indicators where 
data was available by ward. For some indicators – particularly health related behaviours 
such as smoking, and morbidity data such as diabetes prevalence – local level data (and/or 
trend data) was only available by GP practice as it was based on GP-recorded interactions. 
In these cases, we have presented the results by East/West rather than most/least deprived. 
We make it clear for each indicator which analysis has been done, and why. See column 6 
of the Summary Table of APHR Indicators in Section 5.

The two methodologies do correlate relatively well, as a comparison of the map in Figure 8 
with the map below (Figure 10) shows that the 6 wards in the east of the borough are in the 
30% most deprived in England, in contrast with the west of the borough which had 6 wards 
in the 30% least deprived.  The E/W methodology is likely to underestimate the size of the 
gap, as it includes GP-registered data aligned with all wards in East compared to all GP-
registered data aligned with all wards in West Merton, not just those in the 30% most and 
30% least deprived wards. As any East/West inequality gap is based on GP-registered data 
rather than the ‘Merton resident’ ward based data used for the most/least deprived 
calculations, we cannot directly compare figures derived from the two different 
methodologies. 

Figure 10: Merton’s East/West split used for gap analysis where only GP level data is available

Other statistical calculations and comparisons

Where possible, we also calculated Confidence Intervals (see Appendix 4 - Glossary for 
definitions), in order to gain some indication of whether the inequality gap was likely to be a 
statistically significant difference, or was within the range of normal variation.

In some instances, where we had some trend data but no very recent data, Regression 
Analysis was conducted, using the current trend data to project more recent missing data 
points. This enabled us to estimate the inequality gap should current trends continue. This is 
something that we can do more of, for the chosen indicators, to help us to determine targets 
for the HWBS. 

As the purpose of this report was to look at inequalities within Merton, we have purposefully 
not compared the Merton inequality gap to the gaps found either in statistical comparator 
boroughs, neighbouring boroughs, London or England, in order to keep the analysis focused 
on Merton and understanding our local picture as a first step to coordinated action on 
inequalities. The only exception is the Slope Index of Inequality, as a single overarching 
statistical measure of inequality calculated centrally by Public Health England (PHE). 

Page 64



19

Challenges in data analysis

We faced a significant number of limitations and challenges with the data available, which 
has restricted the choice of indicators that we were able to analyse to look at inequality 
within Merton, particularly over time:

 Lack of ward level data. For some indicators which would have provided useful insight 
into health inequalities, there was no ward level data available, only borough level, so we 
could not look at the inequality gap within the borough. In some instances, where data 
was available by GP practice we were able to look at the East/West gap rather than the 
gap between the most/least deprived, as described above. GP practice data aligned to 
East/West is useful proxy where ward level data is not available, but there are several 
caveats that need to be considered when interpreting this data, discussed in Box 2.

Box 2: Caveats when interpreting GP data (patients registered with a Merton GP)

GP Profile and/or Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) data looks at the population of 
‘people registered with a Merton GP’ rather than Merton residents per se. There will be a 
proportion of people registered with a GP (and therefore included in the data for that GP 
practice) who do not live near the GP practice, or even within the borough, for instance 
those registered with a GP near their work rather than home, or those who live near 
borough boundaries. 

Additionally, compared to data collected in a standardised way across whole populations 
(e.g. the Census), GP recorded data relies firstly on an individual attending their GP, and 
then on GP diagnosis and recording of behaviours or conditions. It can therefore be 
difficult to know how closely the GP diagnosed prevalence correlates with the underlying 
true prevalence. For instance, if over time GPs get better at asking patients about their 
smoking status and recording it on the patient record system, then prevalence will 
appear to increase over the same time period, when in fact the data is just becoming 
more representative of the true prevalence in the population. In addition, patients in more 
affluent areas may be more proactive in registering with a GP and/or following up 
symptoms with their GP, and so diagnosis rates and prevalence may appear higher than 
in more deprived areas where access may be lower. 

Therefore GP data (as with all data) needs to be interpreted carefully, with an 
understanding of the biases inherent in the collection methods.

 Limited trend data. To calculate an accurate trend analysis requires at least 3 points of 
historic data (i.e. 2014/15, 2015/16, 2016/17), and ideally more. The more historic data 
points available, the more robust the analysis. For a significant number of indicators, 
where sub-borough data was available, it was only available for a single recent time 
point rather than for a number of points over time, and so trend analysis could not be 
undertaken. For a few other indicators, due to sample size (small numbers), the data at 
ward level had to be ‘pooled’ or grouped over a number of year periods in order to allow 
meaningful comparison at ward level. This then limited the number of time points that 
were available for trend analysis. For instance, data on alcohol-related harm was only 
available for two time points: 2010/11-2014/15 and 2011/12-2015/16, and so trend could 
not be accurately analysed.

 Changes to indicator definitions. Changes to indicator definitions over time restricted 
the ability to conduct trend analysis, as we would not be comparing ‘like with like’ and so 
trend over time could not be accurately analysed. This is the case with indicators such as 
the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). Changes to indicators in the future may hamper 
trend analysis going forward, so we need to be up to date with any changes, and aware 
of the most appropriate indicators to use, for instance with the shift by 2020 from 
recording claimants of Job Seekers Allowance and other benefits to those claiming 
Universal Credit.

Page 65



20

2.3. Summary of indicators included in this report
The main focus of this report was to test out a methodology for calculating sub-borough 
health inequalities in Merton, and for tracking progress over time. Therefore the indicators 
included in this report are not meant to be comprehensive, but rather intended to provide a 
general picture of health inequalities in Merton, using a standard methodology that can be 
applied to other indicators, and by other partners not just health.

This report looks at both health inequalities specifically, but also at some of the social 
inequalities such as poverty, education and employment that drive health inequalities. The 
focus is on geographic and socioeconomic inequalities, although there are many other 
aspects of inequality that could be measured in future, for instance by age, sex, ethnicity or 
other protected characteristics. 

Approach to choosing indicators for analysis

The starting point for the indicators chosen for review in this APHR were the two Public 
Health England (PHE) collections of indicators reported in the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework (PHOF):19

 PHE Marmot indicators (15 indicators), giving an overview of the key social determinants 
of health covered in the Marmot Review 2010;

 PHE Health Equity indicators (18 indicators, 5 of which overlap with Marmot indicators), 
covering core health indicators, PHE priority areas, and social determinants of health.

This gave us a total of 28 indicators to review. We looked to see what data was available for 
each of these indicators at ward level, in order to be able to compare the most and least 
deprived wards. Only a third (11/28) had any ward level data available to be able to calculate 
the latest sub-borough inequality gap, and of these, only one (life expectancy) had readily 
available ward trend data to be able to look at changes in the gap over time. See Appendix 2 
for the full list of indicators in these PHE indicator sets.

However, we wanted to include a sample of indicators in this report that represented the key 
themes found in the Marmot Review on health inequalities, and that gave a picture of the 
situation in Merton with regards to:

- Risk and resilience factors for health and wellbeing at a personal level (Physiological 
risks e.g. hypertension; Behavioural risks e.g. smoking; Psychosocial risks e.g. 
loneliness);

- Wider risk and resilience conditions at a population level (e.g. wider determinants such 
as poverty, education, employment, housing);

- Some measures of morbidity e.g. diabetes prevalence;

- Some measures of mortality e.g. life expectancy, premature mortality.

Given the substantial limitations in the PHE Marmot and Health Equity indicator data readily 
available through PHOF to be able to look at sub-borough inequality gaps, let alone the 
trend in the gap, we therefore supplemented these data sets with other routinely available 
data sets, particularly those available through the PHE Local Health portal (which provides 
data at a ward level and allows comparison at a regional and national level), in order to give 
a picture of the current inequality gap across a range of indicators, but also to look at trend 
data and whether the situation is improving or worsening.

We focused on national data sources for this report, rather than locally collected Merton data 
such as the Residents Survey, on the basis that standa

rdised national indicators are more likely to continue to be collected and reported on, and to 
be available on an ongoing basis. However, this does not mean that it would not be useful to 
apply this methodology to locally collected data sets in future.

19 PHE PHOF: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework 

Page 66

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework


21

Structure of health inequalities data included in this report

The report is structured into the following Chapters, which are informed by the Marmot 
strategic priority areas for tackling heath inequalities, and which correlate with the Themes of 
the current Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018:

1. Key overarching indicators of inequality

2. Giving every child the best start in life 

3. Prevention of poor physical and mental ill health

4. Creating the conditions for fair employment and good work for all 

5. Ensuring a healthy standard of living for all 

6. Creating and developing healthy and sustainable places and communities 

Appendix 3 shows how the APHR Chapters map to the Marmot strategic priorities for action, 
and to the HWBS 2015-18 Themes.

Table 1 below summarises the indicators that we considered in detail for this report, by 
Chapter. Section 5 of this report gives the full list of indicators in table form, with a visual 
Red/Amber/Green (‘RAG’) rated summary of whether local level data and/or trend data is 
available, whether it is likely to be available in future, and whether each indicator would be 
worth considering for the HWBS refresh 2019+. 

Table 1: Summary of indicators included in this APHR on Health Inequalities, by Chapter

Overarching 
indicators

Best start in 
life

Prevention of 
poor health

Fair 
employment

Healthy living 
standards

Healthy  
places and 

communities
 Life 

expectancy 
 Slope Index 

Inequality 
(inequality in 
life 
expectancy)

 Healthy life 
expectancy

 Premature 
mortality

 Child 
Poverty / 
Income 
Deprivation 
Affecting 
Children 
(IDACI)

 School 
readiness 
(child 
development 
at age 5), all, 
and those 
with Free 
School Meal 
status

 Child excess 
weight 
(Reception)

 Child excess 
weight (Y6)

 Smoking 
prevalence

 Alcohol 
related harm

 Hypertension 
prevalence

 Diabetes 
prevalence

 Tuberculosis 
(TB) 
incidence

 Mental 
health 
prevalence

 Depression 
prevalence

 Self reported 
wellbeing

 Economically 
active 
population 
claiming Job 
seekers 
allowance 
(JSA) 

 Benefit 
claimants - 
employment 
& support 
allowance 
(ESA)

 Deprivation 
IMD 2015 
(ward)

 Deprivation 
IMD 2015 
(GP)

 Deprivation 
affecting 
Older People 
IMD 2015 (by 
GP)

 Overcrowded 
households

 Fuel poverty

 Burglary
 Theft
 Criminal 

damage
 Antisocial 

behaviour
 Violence 

against the 
person

 Older 
people 
(65+)  living 
alone

Only a few graphs showing overarching indicators are included in the main body of the 
report – others are given in the Supplementary Data Report that sits alongside this APHR.

Page 67



22

2.4. CHAPTER 1: Key overarching indicators summarising the 
inequality gap

Life expectancy

The strategic overarching indicator in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018, used to 
measure and monitor differences in health and wellbeing between different communities in 
the borough, is life expectancy. 

Data from PHE Local Health20 shows that in Merton as a whole over the last few years life 
expectancy has increased, from 79.7 (2005-9) to 80.4 (2011-15) in men and from 83.3 to 
84.2 in women over the same time period. 

However, the trend in inequalities between the most and least deprived wards has been 
mixed. Most recent data shows that the current gap is 4.1 years for men and 2.7 years for 
women, between the 30% most and 30% least deprived wards (2011-15 data). Our analysis 
shows that the trend for women is positive - the difference in female life expectancy between 
the most deprived and least deprived wards reduced over the period 2005 to 2015, from 4.5 
years to 2.7 years. In contrast, the difference in male life expectancy between the most 
deprived and least deprived wards remained stable over this time, at 4.1 years. Comparable 
data for gap analysis is not available for London or England.

See graphs in the Supplementary Data Report for more detail. 

We are likely to be able to continue to access LE data from PHE Local Health that will 
enable us to calculate the inequality gap in future years, and so monitor trend. However, the 
Slope Index of Inequality indicator discussed below may be a better more consistent 
indicator to use as it is a measure of inequality in life expectancy that is produced nationally 
and can be compared in a standardised way to other London boroughs.

Slope Index of Inequality (SII) – inequalities in life expectancy at birth

The slope index of inequality is a single score which represents the absolute gap in life 
expectancy at birth between the 10% most deprived and 10% least deprived areas. It is a 
measure of the social gradient in life expectancy, i.e. how much life expectancy varies with 
deprivation The larger the SII score (in years), the greater the disparity in life expectancy.21 

In 2014-16, the SII showed that the gap in life expectancy between people living in the most 
and least deprived tenths of areas in Merton was 6.2 years for males and 3.4 years for 
females. The England figures are 9.3 years (males) and 7.3 years (females), and London, 
7.4 years (males) and 4.8 years (females). We have been advised by PHE that the SII 
figures for Merton are not directly comparable to these regional and national figures, due to 
the statistical methods for calculating SII; however, we can compare directly to our statistical 
comparator boroughs, which shows that the SII for both men and women is lower than 
Barnet (M: 6.3, F: 5.0), Enfield (M: 6.7, F: 4.7), and Redbridge (M: 7.8, F: 4.3), but higher 
than Ealing (M: 3.4, F: 2.8).

[INCLUDE INFOGRAPHIC OF LIFE EXPECTANCY GAP HERE IN FINAL REPORT]

SII data over time appears to show an increasing and then reducing inequality gap for 
men so it is similar now to what it was a decade ago (6.3 in 2005-07 compared to 6.2 in 
2014-16), and potentially a slight decrease in the inequality gap in women (from 5.2 in 
2005-07 to 3.4), but the overlapping confidence intervals suggest that this does not yet 
appear to be a statistically significant reduction. See Figures 11 and 12 over the page. This 
is an important indicator to keep tracking, to look at overarching inequalities over time.

20 PHE Local Health http://www.localhealth.org.uk/ 
21 SII is calculated by comparing the 10% most deprived deprivation deciles in an area with the 10% 
least deprived, so is a useful measure of inequality but is a different methodology from that used  in 
the rest of this report (where we are comparing 30% most deprived wards with the 30% least 
deprived, or comparing East Merton wards with West wards).

Page 68

http://www.localhealth.org.uk/


23

Figure 11: Life expectancy and Slope Index of Inequality (males) from 2005-07 to 2014-16

79.3 79.4 79.8 79.9 80.2 80.1 80.1 80.3 80.5 80.8
20

05
 - 

07

20
06

 - 
08

20
07

 - 
09

20
08

 - 
10

20
09

 - 
11

20
10

 - 
12

20
11

 - 
13

20
12

 - 
14

20
13

 - 
15

20
14

-1
6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

6.3 6.3 6.7 6.6 8.3 7.8 7.6 6.6 6.2 6.2

Life expectancy at birth Slope Index

Life expectancy and slope index of inequality in Males in Merton
Source:  Office for National Statistics

Li
fe

 E
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

(Y
ea

rs
) 

Figure 12: Life expectancy and Slope Index of Inequality (females) from 2005-07 to 2014-16

82.5 82.8 83.0 83.6 83.7 84.0 83.9 84.1 84.2 84.2

20
05

 - 
07

20
06

 - 
08

20
07

 - 
09

20
08

 - 
10

20
09

 - 
11

20
10

 - 
12

20
11

 - 
13

20
12

 - 
14

20
13

-1
5

20
14

-1
6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

5.2 4.7 5.8 6.4 6.3 4.9 5.2 5.0 3.9 3.4

Life expectancy at birth Slope Index

Life expectancy and slope index of inequality in females in Merton
Source: Office for National Statistics

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

(y
ea

rs
)

Page 69



24

Box 3: Changes to the reporting of the inequality gap in Merton over time

In the 2013/14 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the life expectancy gap between the most 
and least deprived areas within the borough was reported as 9 years for men and 13 years 
for women (2006-10 data). This was based on the difference between the outliers – the most 
deprived ward compared to the least deprived ward. 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018 uses an ‘inequalities in life expectancy’ figure 
of 7.9 years for men and 5.2 years for women. This was based on Slope Index of Inequality 
data from 2011-13, looking at the most and least deprived 10% of areas within the borough.

In this APHR 2018, we report the following:

 Life expectancy at birth: 4.1 years (men), 2.7 years (women)

 Slope Index of Inequality: 6.2 years (men), 3.4 years (women)

The difference is due in part to the use of more recent data, but more importantly, to the 
different methodology for calculating the inequality gap (see Table 2 below). Some of the 
reduction in the life expectancy figure for women is also due to the positive trend for the gap 
in life expectancy for women, discussed above in 2.4.1. 

We recommend that going forward, the Slope Index of Inequality is used as the 
overarching measure of the life expectancy inequality gap, as it is produced nationally 
and can be compared to statistical comparator boroughs.

Table 2: How methodology, data source and trend over time have impacted on reporting of 
inequalities in life expectancy in Merton

Inequality gapReport Indicator Date
Male Female

Comment

Life expectancy 
at birth 2006-10 9 13

Calculated by comparing the most 
deprived ward with the least deprived 
ward (e.g. the 2006-10 data shows life 
expectancy for men ranged from 76.1 in 
Ravensbury to 84.8 in Wimbledon Park, 
a gap of nearly 9 years).

JSNA 
2013/14

Life expectancy 
at birth 2006-10 2.8 3

Calculated by comparing the average 
for West Merton with the average for 
East Merton.

HWBS 
2015-
2018

Slope Index of 
Inequality 2011-13 7.9 5.2

Calculated by comparing the 10% most 
deprived deprivation deciles in an area 
with the 10% least deprived.
(N.B. the figures reported here do not 
match with those shown in Figures 11 
and 12 for the relevant years, because 
changes were made to the indicator 
definition in 2017 which retrospectively 
changed all the data since 2010-12).

Life 
expectancy at 
birth

2011-15 4.1 2.7

Calculated by comparing the 30% 
most and 30% least deprived wards 
(e.g. 2011-15 data shows an average 
life expectancy for men of 78.6 in the 
30% most deprived wards compared 
to 82.7 in the 30% least deprived 
wards, a gap of just over 4 years).

APHR 
2018 
(this 
report)

Slope Index of 
Inequality 2014-16 6.2 3.4

Calculated by comparing the 10% 
most deprived deprivation deciles in 
an area with the 10% least deprived.

Page 70



25

Healthy life expectancy

The gap in healthy life expectancy (HLE) is greater than the gap in life expectancy. The 
latest data (2009-2013) shows that the average healthy life expectancy at birth in Merton 
was 65.4 years for males and 66.3 years for females. 

We cannot compare data on healthy life expectancy directly with that on life expectancy as 
the most recent data for each are from different data sources and time periods.22 However, a 
general comparison shows that a significant amount of Merton residents’ lives (c.15-18 years 
on average) are spent in ill health.

In addition, the gap between people living in  the 30% most and 30% least deprived areas 
was 9.4 years for males and 9.3 years for females (see Table 3), so someone living in a 
deprived ward in the east of the borough is likely to spend more than 9 years more of their 
life in poor health than someone in a more affluent part of the borough, from around the age 
of 61 or 62 compared to 70 or 71, which will impact on the last years of working life, on 
family life and on a healthy and fulfilling retirement.
Table 3: Comparison of Healthy Life Expectancy from birth for the 30% most deprived wards 
and the 30% least deprived wards, for men and for women, in Merton (Source: ONS, 2009-2013)

HLE from birth 
(2009-2013)

Least deprived Most deprived Merton average Inequality gap

Males 70.5 61.1 65.4 9.4
Females 71.2 61.9 66.3 9.3

Unfortunately, this data is now a few years old, we are not able to calculate historic trend 
for the inequality gap in HLE as the data is not available from ONS by ward for single years 
(due to small sample sizes), and it is unclear whether data on this indicator will be available 
in future years in a format that will enable us to look at future trend in inequalities.23

As well as Healthy Life Expectancy at birth, we also have inequalities data from ONS for 
2009-2013 on the following metrics:

 Disability Free Life Expectancy (DFLE) at birth (male and female)

 Disability Free Life Expectancy at age 65 (male and female)

 Proportion living without a disability at birth (male and female)

 Proportion living without a disability at age 65 (male and female)

 Proportion of life spent in good health at birth (male and female)

 Proportion of life spent in good health at age 65 (male and female)

These are all different ways of looking at the same issue of how much of someone’s life they 
can expect to spend in good health (see the Glossary in Appendix 4 for the difference in 
definition between HLE and DFLE; Section 5: Summary Indicator Table for a summary of the 
gap for each of these indicators; and the Supplementary Data Report for the current data).

For all of these, we can see that there is a significant gap between the most and least 
deprived areas in Merton. However, as with HLE, these are now quite out of date, we are not 
able to calculate historic trend, and are unlikely to be able to calculate trend in the future for 
the reasons given above.

22 Life Expectancy: Local Health, 2011-15; Healthy Life Expectancy: ONS, 2009-13)
23 ONS report that trend data on HLE at ward level is only possible decennially currently and as wards 
change so often in boundaries, trend data will always be difficult. In addition, due to sample size, the 
data at ward level needs to be ‘pooled’ or grouped over 5 year periods in order to allow meaningful 
comparison at ward level.

Page 71



26

Premature mortality

Figure 13 below demonstrates the correlation between income deprivation and premature 
mortality (deaths in those under the age of 75) within Merton. Figure 14 shows the 
percentage of premature mortality by the 30% most and 30% least deprived wards in 
Merton, out of all deaths in the respective wards. The key message is that there is a social 
gradient to premature mortality, with a 12.5 percentage point gap between the 30% most 
and 30% least deprived wards. More people are dying prematurely in the most deprived 
areas – 38.5% (2 in 5) of all deaths are premature compared to 27% (1 in 4) in least 
deprived areas. What’s more, this gap has widened. This is because premature mortality in 
the most deprived has remained more or less static over the last 3 year rolling averages 
since 2011-15, but premature mortality in the least deprived has declined slightly, causing 
the gap to increase. However, there are only 3 data points so the trend in the gap will need 
to be monitored over a longer time period to see if it is significant.

Figure 13: Premature mortality for Merton wards by percentage income deprived: deaths for all 
causes, under 75 years (2011-2015) (Source: PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Figure 14: Premature mortality (under 75 years) as a percentage of all deaths, comparing the 
30% most deprived wards in Merton with the 30% least deprived, from 2011-15 to 2013-17

Page 72



27

2.5. CHAPTER 2: Give every child the best start in life

Why is this important? The early years are vital to future inequalities in health and 
wellbeing. The Marmot Report states that “giving every child the best start in life is crucial to 
reducing health inequalities across the life course. The foundations for virtually every aspect 
of human development – physical, intellectual and emotional – are laid in early childhood. 
What happens during these early years (starting in the womb) has lifelong effects on many 
aspects of health and well-being – from obesity, heart disease and mental health, to 
educational achievement and economic status…Later interventions, although important, are 
considerably less effective where good early foundations are lacking.”

Child Poverty – children living in low income families

This ‘Child Poverty’ measure shows the proportion of children living in families in receipt of 
out-of-work benefits or in receipt of tax credits where their reported income is less than 60 
per cent of UK median income. The indicator definition is “proportion of children aged 0–15 
years living in income deprived households as a proportion of all children aged 0–15 years.” 
It is also known as ‘income deprivation affecting children’ (IDACI).

Merton data shows that the gap is significant but appears to be reducing, but that the 
underlying picture is less positive. The gap between the most and least deprived areas in 
2015 was 21 percentage points (27% of children living in low income households in the 
most deprived 30% of wards compared to 6% of children in the least deprived 30%). 
Extrapolating the data statistically using regression analysis suggests that the current 2018 
gap is likely to be significantly smaller than this, at 6 percentage points (19% of children in 
the most deprived areas v 13% in the least deprived areas). However, although the gap 
appears to have reduced, the underlying picture is mixed – the trend in child poverty in 
the most deprived areas is downwards (28% in 2010 to an estimated 19% in 2018) which is 
positive, but child poverty in the least deprived areas appears to be increasing over the 
same time period (from 7% to an estimated 13% in 2018), and it is this increase which 
partially drives the narrowing inequality gap. If published data confirms this anticipated trend, 
we need to understand what is driving this apparent increase in the least deprived areas.

We will be able to continue to monitor this indicator in the future, therefore it is important that 
this is an indicator that is included in the refreshed HWBS, and that we continue to explore 
trend as more recent data is published to compare to our extrapolated trend data.

Child development

Child development at age 5 (a measure of ‘school readiness’) is an important indicator to 
look at ‘best start in life’ for Merton’s children. We have access to ward level data for 
2013/14 from PHE Local Health so can calculate an inequality gap of 15.9 percentage 
points (53.3% of children in the 30% most deprived wards reach a good level of 
development compared to 69.2% in the 30% least deprived wards). 

However, this is relatively old data, and due to a lack of readily available recent ward level 
data, and/or ward level data over time, we were unable to calculate the trend in inequalities 
gap in the standardised way that we have approached measurement of health inequalities 
elsewhere in this report. In order to give us a proxy measure of the trend in inequalities, we 
looked at ‘children with Free School Meal’ (FSM) status (for which data is available at 
borough not ward level) as a proxy for ‘most deprived’ as we know that there is a 
correlation.24 This data shows that 73.9% of all children achieve a good level of development 
in 2016/17, where as only 63.9% of children with FSM status achieve a good level of 
development in the same time period, a gap of 10.0 percentage points. This difference is 
statistically significant. There has been an increase in ‘school readiness’ in Merton over time, 

24 To note: in this analysis we are comparing data for a subset of the population with data for the 
whole population, rather than comparing two subsets of the population (most and least deprived), as 
for other indicators, so the methodology is not comparable to that used for other indicators.

Page 73



28

including for those with FSM status, and it appears that the inequality gap as calculated this 
way has reduced slightly (from 13.1 percentage points in 2012/13 to 10.0 in 2016/17).

It will be important to keep an eye on this indicator in case more recent ward level data 
becomes available, but in the absence of any other way to measure sub-borough 
inequalities in child development, it may be worth continuing to look at the gap between 
children with FSM status and all children, as a measure of inequality.

Child excess weight (overweight and obese)

Childhood obesity is a significant problem in Merton, with around 4,500 children (age 4 - 11 
years) overweight or obese and nearly a third of children leaving primary school overweight 
or obese. In addition, the problem is significantly worse in the most deprived areas, with the 
most recent 2014/15-2016/17 data showing a gap of 9.6 percentage points in excess 
weight at reception (24.3% of children are overweight or obese in the 30% most deprived 
wards compared to 14.7% in the 30% least deprived) and 14.5 percentage points by Year 
6 (40.2% in the 30% most deprived wards are overweight or obese compared to 25.7% in 
the 30% least deprived. For this reason, the gap in excess weight is a key indicator in the 
HWBS 2015-2018, and Merton HWBB has made tackling childhood obesity a priority.

In terms of trend, for reception age children, levels appear to be relatively stable in the most 
deprived areas but reducing slightly in the least deprived areas (although the reduction is not 
statistically significant), leading to a slight increase in the gap over time. Trend over time for 
Year 6 children (10-11 year olds) show levels of excess weight are reducing in the least 
deprived areas of the borough and increasing in the most deprived (although neither 
reduction not increase are yet statistically significant) and hence the gap is increasing. 

There are some signs from the most recent data that the overall trend in excess weight at 
borough level for Merton may be beginning to stabilise or decrease in the last available 
year’s data (from 2014/15 to 2016/17). How the trend in the sub-borough inequalities gap 
looks over time will need to continue to be carefully monitored, and action taken through a 
whole systems preventative approach targeted in the most deprived areas, as set out in the 
last APHR on Childhood Obesity, and the related child healthy weight action plan.  

Other ‘best start in life’ indicators:

We would have liked to have looked at the Merton inequality gap for the following PHE 
Marmot/Health Equity indicators, but data was either not available at ward level or not 
available for sufficient years to be able to calculate trend:

 Infant mortality (Health Equity)

 Low birthweight of term babies (Health Equity)

 Proportion of 5 year old children with/without dental decay (Health Equity)

 19-24 year olds not in education, employment or training (Marmot)

 GCSE achievement (% young people achieving 5A*-C including English & Maths) 
(Marmot). The most recent data for this indicator shows a gap of 15.4 percentage 
points between the most and least deprived wards (2013/14). This data is relatively old, 
and trend data is not available due to a recent change in indicator definition, but future 
trend may be possible to track. There is also an indicator which looks at ‘GCSE 
achievement with FSM status’ so in a similar way to School Readiness, we could look at 
the gap between the whole population and the FSM sub-group as a proxy for inequalities 
by most/least deprived. However, unlike for school readiness, comparative data is 
currently only available at one time point (2014/15), and so no trend can be produced.

 Other indicators that may be worth investigating to look at the inequality gap over time 
include the rate of rate of hospital admissions between the most and least deprived 
areas for a number of key health conditions in children and young people, such as 
asthma, or injury.

Page 74



29

2.6. CHAPTER 3: Prevention of poor physical and mental ill health
Why is this important? The main causes of ill health and premature deaths in Merton are 
cancer and circulatory disease (including coronary heart disease and stroke). Known risk 
factors (unhealthy diet, smoking, lack of physical activity, and alcohol) account for around 
40% of total ill health, and despite the fact that Merton generally ranks positively   against 
London and England, the numbers of people in Merton with unhealthy behaviours are 
substantial. Consequently, changing patterns of unhealthy behaviour needs to be an 
important focus for prevention efforts. Furthermore, most risk factors are inversely 
associated with socio-economic conditions, and there is marked variation in patterns of 
healthy behaviours, and health outcomes, within Merton.

Robust ward level data on the four behavioural lifestyle factors which impact most on 
preventable ill health is challenging to find, for both current inequality gap analysis as well as 
to look at trend in the gap. 

As discussed in Section 1.3 looking at the different types of risk factors that drive poor 
health, in addition to the behavioural factors, there are also physiological risks such as 
hypertension (discussed below), and psychosocial risks such as loneliness (discussed in 
Chapter 6 – healthy and sustainable places). A few marker indicators for disease morbidity 
are also given below, to give a flavour of the inequality gaps seen in both physical and 
mental health in Merton, but these are not comprehensive, rather indicative of the issues.

Behavioural risk factor - Smoking

We do not have access to ward level trend data on smoking, so cannot look at the inequality 
gap between the 30% most and least deprived areas, but we can use GP data to look at the 
prevalence of smoking between east and west Merton, as recorded by GP Quality Outcome 
Framework (QOF) registers. This shows that the difference in recorded levels of smoking 
between east and west Merton is 6.2 percentage points in 2015/16 (19.36% prevalence in 
east Merton compared to 13.12%% in west Merton), 2015/16 data. Due to the methodology 
for calculating this gap (by amalgamating data for individual GP practices), it is not possible 
to calculate accurate confidence intervals to be able to say whether this difference is 
statistically significant, but it is quite large. 

The gap between east and west appears to have increased substantially, from 1.95% in 
2012/13 to 6.23% in 2015/16, due to a general increase in smoking prevalence in east 
Merton and a general decreasing trend in west Merton. It is difficult to know if smoking 
prevalence is really increasing in east Merton (for instance, it may be that recording of 
smoking status is improving, rather than any change to underlying levels of smoking, as 
discussed in Box 2 in Section 2.2), but regardless, there is still a significant inequality gap, 
and smoking is one of the biggest preventable causes of ill health.

Physiological risk factor – hypertension

The difference in recorded levels of hypertension between east and west Merton is 1.5 
percentage points in 2016/17 (11.59% prevalence in east Merton compared to 10.06% in 
west Merton). This difference is statistically significant. There has been a slight increase in 
the gap between East and West (from 1.3 percentage points in 2011/12 to 1.5 in 2016/17), 
although the difference is unlikely to be statistically significant. 

Morbidity – Diabetes prevalence

We have chosen diabetes prevalence as an example ‘morbidity’ indicator to look at the 
inequalities gap, as diabetes is a priority of the HWBB. The difference in recorded levels of 
diabetes between east and west is 3.1 percentage points in 2016/17 (8.0% prevalence in 
east Merton compared to 4.85% in west Merton). This difference is statistically significant. 
There has been an increase in the gap between East and West (from 2.5 percentage points 
in 2011/12 to 3.1 in 2016/17), and this increase appears statistically significant. 

Page 75



30

Morbidity - Tuberculosis (TB)

The rate of TB in Merton overall is decreasing steadily. There is a significant difference in the 
rate of TB between the most and the least deprived areas of 25.6 per 100,000 (35.03 per 
1000 population in the 30% most deprived wards compared to 9.37 rate per 100,000 in the 
30% least deprived). Since 2011-13, there appears to have been a slightly faster rate of 
decline in the 30% least deprived areas, resulting of a slight widening in the gap from 23.4 
per 100,000 rate difference in 2011-13 to 25.6 percentage points in 2014-16. However, the 
numbers are relatively small so it is unlikely to be a statistically significant increase.   

Morbidity – prevalence of mental health conditions 

Mental health is an important indicator as health and wellbeing is not just about physical 
health but also mental health and wellbeing. We do not have access to ward level data on 
mental health, so cannot look at the inequality gap between the 30% most and least 
deprived areas, but we can use GP data to look at the prevalence of mental health between 
east and west Merton, as recorded by GP QOF data.

This shows that for recorded mental health prevalence, the difference between east and 
west Merton is 0.24 percentage points (1.01% prevalence in east Merton compared to 
0.77% in west Merton), using 2016/17 data. Although a relatively small recorded prevalence, 
this difference is statistically significant, as shown by the confidence intervals. The 
prevalence of mental health conditions recorded by GPs in Merton has increased slightly in 
both the east and the west, but appears to have increased at a faster rate in west Merton. 
This means that the inequality gap appears to have decreased slightly from 0.30 
percentage points in 2012/13 to the current 0.24 percentage point gap. As highlighted 
earlier, GP prevalence data can be complex to interpret, as this decreased gap could be as 
a result of a real increase in prevalence of poor mental health, or, which is more likely, be a 
consequence of improved recognition and diagnosis of mental health conditions in primary 
care. If the latter is true, then this trend data may suggest that diagnosis rates are better in 
west Merton than east Merton, rather than that there has been an underlying increase in 
disease, and demonstrates the importance of primary and community care in tackling health 
inequalities, as discussed in Part 1. This data probably does not therefore tell a positive story 
of reducing inequality, rather points to poorer diagnosis for more deprived residents relative 
to their less deprived neighbours. 

Morbidity – prevalence of depression

Again, we do not have ward level data for depression, but can use GP records of depression 
diagnosis to look at the inequality gap between east and west Merton. This shows that the 
difference in recorded depression is 0.45 percentage points (7.14% in east Merton 
compared to 6.69% in west Merton, 2016/17 data). The difference in prevalence between 
the east and the west in 2016/17 is statistically significant. Between 2011/12 and 2016/17 
the inequality gap appears to have flipped, from higher rates of depression in west Merton 
(difference of -1.81 percentage points) to higher rates in east Merton in 2016/17 (difference 
of 0.45 percentage points). This is one of the only indicators we looked at where the 
rate of a disease or risk factor was higher in less deprived areas than more deprived 
areas at any point in the historical trend data (the other indicators being rates of theft, 
and burglary, both higher in the least deprived areas).

As we know that major risk factors for poor mental health and wellbeing are those 
associated with deprivation (e.g. poor education, unemployment, social exclusion, and poor 
standards of living), this again points to an interpretation of historical better diagnosis of 
depression in west Merton compared to east Merton (rather than a true larger prevalence of 
disease), and therefore hidden inequalities in diagnosis/under-diagnosis of mental health 
conditions. However, the latest data suggests that this pattern may be in the process of 
being reversed. We need to continue to monitor this trend to better understand the picture of 
inequalities in mental health in Merton.

Page 76



31

Self-reported wellbeing

The GLA has data on self-reported wellbeing at ward level. This presents a combined 
measure of well-being indicators based on 12 different measures, with scores over zero 
indicating a higher probability that the population on average experiences positive well-
being. 2013 data, which is the most recent available, shows that the wellbeing score for the 
30% most deprived wards was -2.3, suggesting poor wellbeing, compared to a score of 9.4 
for the 30% least deprived areas, a gap of 11.7 points. This supports our hypothesis above 
that the lower prevalence of depression seen previously in East Merton is likely to be an 
artefact of lower diagnosis rates rather than better mental health. Between 2009 and 2013, 
the difference between the most and least deprived wards reduced slightly, (from 12.3 to 
11.7). However, again this is not really a positive outcome, as wellbeing scores worsened in 
both the most and least deprived areas, but at a faster rate in the least deprived areas.

Limiting long term illness or disability

‘Limiting long term illness or disability’ data is based on a Census 2011 question, so we do 
not have recent or trend data on this indicator, but PHE’s recent Health Inequalities Briefing, 
based on the Global Burden of Disease study, highlights the social gradient in Merton: 
Figure 15: Limiting long term illness or disability for Merton wards by percentage income 
deprived (2011) (Source: PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Other ‘prevention of poor health’ indicators

Premature mortality is included in Chapter 1 as an overarching indicator of health inequality. 
There are a range of other indicators that we could consider for the HWBS refresh, or the 
Local Health and Care Plan which will look specifically at health and care services, in order 
to track health inequalities, for example:

 Risk factors/morbidity: Hospital admissions for alcohol related harm. We would have 
liked to have analysed this in more detail, given the importance of alcohol as a public 
health issue and the strong associated with income deprivation (and that this is a PHE 
Health Equity indicator), but although we can see there is an inequality gap between the 
most and least deprived wards (see Supplementary Data Report, and summary indicator 
table in Section 5), there is a lack of robust trend data at ward level.

 Morbidity: disease incidence (e.g. cancer); or all-cause, or disease-specific, hospital 
admissions (e.g. for Coronary Heart Disease, Stroke, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease). See the Supplementary Data Report for single time point data on emergency 
hospital admissions related to income deprivation for which there is a strong relationship.

 Premature Mortality: Cardiovascular / Cancer mortality under 75 (both Health Equity) 

 Mortality: Suicide (Health Equity)

Page 77



32

2.7. CHAPTER 4: Creating the conditions for fair employment and good 
work for all

Why is this important? The availability and nature of employment is a key determinant of 
health inequalities. Good quality work and working environment is a key contributing 
influence on an individual’s health and wellbeing, and that of their family and community. 
Employment is important because being unemployed or having a poor quality job is bad for 
health, and good quality appropriately paid employment is a protective factor for health 
(moving from unemployment into work can substantially reduce the risk of premature 
mortality) and can contribute to reduced health inequalities. Increasing the quality and 
quantity of work can help reduce health inequalities.

Economically active population claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA)

Data on claimants of Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) is an important measure of those out of 
work but who are deemed fit for work. According to ONS NOMIS, JSA ‘is not an official 
measure of unemployment, but is the only indicative statistic available for areas smaller than 
Local Authorities.’ The latest available data from ONS on the percentage of the economically 
active population claiming JSA shows that there is a 2.5 percentage point gap in Merton in 
2015 (3.3% in the 30% most deprived compared to 0.8% in 30% least deprived wards). This 
difference appears to be statistically significant.

However, there appears to be a substantial reduction in the inequality gap over time, 
decreasing from a 4.7 percentage point gap in 2011 to a 2.5 point gap in 2015, driven by 
general decrease across the borough but also a faster decrease in the most deprived wards. 
This appears positive, although it is difficult to say whether this decrease represents a real 
reduction in inequality, or changes to the way that benefits are claimed (although the data 
presented here and in the Supplementary Data Report is up to 2015, prior to the introduction 
of Universal Credit (UC)). Anecdotally, the Mitcham Job Centre do report that they are 
seeing more people in sustained work than previously, and that those who are left claiming 
employment related benefits over the long term have much more complex needs, including 
poor mental health as a significant issue. 

As the most recent data is only available to 2015, regression analysis (using the current 
trend data to project missing data points) has been undertaken, which appears to show that 
inequality gap in 2018 is likely to narrow further, to just under 1 percentage point difference 
between the 30% most deprived wards compared to the 30% least deprived. However, the 
picture will be further complicated by the introduction of Universal Credit in the meantime 
(introduced into the SM4 Morden area in around 2016, and the CR4 Mitcham area from the 
end of 2017 – any change of circumstances for claimants, for example a change of address, 
will trigger a move from JSA to UC). The west of the borough will start the move to UC at the 
end of June 2018, and the move over to UC is not due to be completed until 2020 – so the 
data will need to be interpreted carefully going forward. 

The data reported here is ‘all economically active population claiming JSA’; perhaps a more 
useful indicator to look at in more detail going forward would be long term claimants (for 
example those claiming employment related benefits for more than a year) – this is a 
Marmot indicator, but data is not currently readily available at ward level. 

Benefit claimants - employment and support allowance (ESA)

Data on claimants of Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) is an important measure of 
those with a short or long term health condition or disability that impacts on their ability to 
work; eligibility is dependent on sickness certification. The latest available data from ONS on 
the percentage of the working age population claiming ESA shows that there is a 3.4 
percentage point gap in Merton in 2017 (5.04% in the 30% most deprived compared to 
1.64% in 30% least deprived wards). This difference is statistically significant. The inequality 

Page 78



33

gap appears to be relatively stable over time (3.2 percentage points difference in 2014 
compared to the current 3.4 point gap).

As with JSA, ESA claimants will gradually be moved over to UC by 2020, with those in the 
east of the borough moving over sooner than those in the west, which will have implications 
for how the data available for the years between 2016 to 2020 is interpreted. 

Other ‘fair employment, good work’ indicators

Other employment related data that we considered included ‘Benefits claimants – income 
support’ and ‘Benefits claimants - Incapacity Benefit/Severe Disablement allowance’ but the 
numbers were too small to be able to make meaningful conclusions at ward level.

At present NOMIS is still the only source of unemployment data, and ‘Claiming UC’ at 
borough level is all that is currently available for Universal Credit. In the future, it is likely that 
the data will be able to be split by reason for claiming UC, and by sub-borough geographies, 
and we will need to review in order to choose the most appropriate indicators for tracking 
progress related to fair employment and good work. The Government has recently launched 
a consultation on how to assess the number of people claiming unemployment-related 
benefits, and so there is opportunity to shape the way that the data is collected and reported 
to enable us to better monitor inequalities in the future as Universal Credit is rolled out.25 

We would have liked to have looked at the Merton inequality gap for the following PHE 
Marmot/Health Equity indicators, but data was not readily available at ward level:

 Unemployment (Marmot)

 Long term claimants of Jobseekers Allowance (Marmot)

 Work related illness (Marmot)

 Employment gap for those with a long-term condition (Health Equity)

25 Consultation: Proposals for a new statistical series to count unemployed claimants
 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-a-new-statistical-series-to-count-
unemployed-claimants 

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-a-new-statistical-series-to-count-unemployed-claimants
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-a-new-statistical-series-to-count-unemployed-claimants


34

2.8. CHAPTER 5: Ensure healthy standard of living for all
Why is this important? As the Marmot review sets out, “having insufficient money to lead a 
healthy life is a highly significant cause of health inequalities.” An insufficient income can 
cause poor health as “it is more difficult to avoid stress and feel in control; access…material 
resources; adopt and maintain healthy behaviours; and feel supported by a financial safety 
net.”26Additionally, those living with health problems are more susceptible to unemployment, 
lower earnings, and lower household income, and poorer standard of living, so poor health 
can then lead to deprivation, in a vicious cycle for poor health outcomes. 

Deprivation by ward

The overall ward scores for the IMD (2015) deprivation index shows that there is a difference 
in score between the 30% most deprived and the 30% least deprived wards of 17.01 points 
(score of 24.24 in the most deprived compared to a score of 7.23 in the least deprived). The 
higher the score the more deprived the area.27 No benchmarking or confidence intervals are 
available for this data, and trend data is not available for IMD either – although IMD is 
updated every few years, it is not recommended to compare scores year on year as the 
underlying indicators change over time.

27
.5

9
26

.1
7

24
.8

1
23

.7
5

21
.7

0
21

.4
3

19
.5

7
16

.2
7

15
.2

4
12

.8
3

10
.0

8
9.

86
9.

64
8.

39
8.

28
8.

22
8.

12
6.

94
6.

28
5.

54

Cric
ke

t G
reen

East
 M

erto
n

Fig
ge

's M
ars

h

Polla
rds H

ill

Rav
ensb

ury

St 
Helie

r

La
ve

nder F
ields

Lo
ngth

ornton

Collie
rs 

Wood

Grav
eney

Abbey

Ray
nes P

ark

West 
Merto

n
Trin

ity

Lo
wer M

orden

West 
Barn

es

Can
non Hill

Wim
bledon Park

Merto
n Park

Hills
ide

Dundonald
Villa

ge
0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0
Index of multiple deprivation 2015 ward scores

Locality and Wards

IM
D 

sc
or

e

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards

Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

Deprivation by GP 

Similarly, IMD 2015 data split by GP Practice IMD scores shows that there is a substantial 
difference between the average score of GP practices in east Merton and those in west 
Merton of 11.74 points (score of 20.01 in the east compared to a score of 11.28 in the 
west). As before, the higher the score the more deprived the area.

26 Health Foundation (2018) What makes us healthy? An introduction to the social determinants of 
health https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf 
27 PHE Fingertips definitions: “The Indices of Deprivation 2015 are relative measures of deprivation. 
This means it can tell you if one area is more deprived than another, but not by how much.  The IMD 
2015 is not a measure of affluence; all of the indicators used in the index are designed to identify 
aspects of deprivation, not affluence. Therefore the area ranked as the least deprived is not 
necessarily the most affluent”

Page 80

https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf


35

IMD 2015 data by GP practice is also available looking specifically at deprivation affecting 
children, and affecting older people:

 Income deprivation affecting children index (IDACI):28 there is a difference between the 
average IDACI proportion of GP practices in east and those in west Merton of 13.33 
percentage points (25.24% compared to 11.91%). 

 Income deprivation affecting older people index (IDAOPI):29 there is a difference 
between the average IDAOPI proportion of GP practices in east and those in west 
Merton of 8.63 percentage points (23.38% compared to 14.75%). 

Both of these look at the income aspect of IMD for younger and older people. However, any 
direct comparison between IDACI and IDAOPI is not appropriate as the measures are 
calculated in different ways. 

As with IMD by ward, although previous data for IMD by GP practice is available for the 
years 2004, 2007, 2010, 2015, this data is not comparable as the weighting of indicators has 
been changed over time. Therefore trend data is not available. 

Overcrowding

We only had access to data on household overcrowding at ward level from the 2011 
Census. The borough average is 16.1% of households in Merton that are overcrowded, with 
an inequality gap of 10.2 percentage points between the most and least deprived areas 
(21.2% of households are overcrowded in the 30% most deprived wards compared to 11.0% 
in the least deprived – twice as many). No trend data is available on household 
overcrowding.

Fuel Poverty

Fuel poverty is influenced both by housing typology, including the age and size of housing, 
as well as the ability of those living there to pay for utilities. We have data from 2015 on fuel 
poverty (the percentage of households that experience fuel poverty, based on the ‘low 
income high cost’ methodology) for wards in Merton which shows that the inequality gap is 
1.4 percentage points between the 30% most and least deprived areas (10.5% in the most 
deprived areas compared to 9.1% in the least deprived). This difference appears to be 
statistically significant. 

This is a new indicator on the PHE Local Health portal, and so whilst historic trend at ward 
level is not available which means that we cannot look at the trend in the inequality gap to 
date, we may be able to monitor trend in the future. 

Other ‘healthy standard of living’ indicators

We would have liked to have looked at the Merton inequality gap for the following PHE 
Marmot/Health Equity indicators, but data was not readily available at ward level:

 Households not reaching minimum income standard (Marmot)

 Homelessness (Health Equity)

28 Based on the same indicator as Child Poverty. LSOA level deprivation data are applied 
proportionally to GP practice populations.
29 Based on the percentage of the population aged 60 and over who receive income support, income 
based job seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit claimants aged 60 and over and their 
partners (if also aged 60 or over). LSOA level deprivation data are applied proportionally to GP 
practice populations.

Page 81



36

2.9. CHAPTER 6: Develop healthy, sustainable places and communities

Why is this important? The places in which people live influence the health and wellbeing 
of individuals, families and communities. This includes the nature of the physical 
environment, the access to green spaces, and how safe, connected and represented people 
feel within their neighbourhoods and wider community.

Reported Crime

Metropolitan Police Data for 2017 gives a picture of reported crime in the borough. Both 
historic and future trend data is available, but has not been calculated for this report as it is 
available by month and so amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

 Burglary Difference in ward scores is -3.4 per 1000 population rate difference (5.3 per 
1000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 8.7 per 1000 in the 30% least deprived 
wards).

 Theft: Difference in ward scores is -8.5 per 1000 population rate difference (18.0 per 
1000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 26.5 per 1000 in the 30% least deprived 
wards).

 Criminal damage: Difference in ward scores is 4.2 per 1000 population rate difference 
(8.5 per 100,000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 4.3 per 1000 in the 30% least 
deprived wards).

 Antisocial behaviour: Difference in ward scores is 7.0 per 1000 population rate 
difference (19.5 per 1000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 12.5 per 1000 in the 
30% least deprived wards).

 Violence against the person: Difference in ward scores is 14.4 per 1000 population 
rate difference (28.9 per 1000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 14.5 per 1000 in 
the 30% least deprived wards).

The gap for burglary and theft are both in favour of the most deprived areas (i.e. there is less 
reported burglary and theft in the more deprived areas); however, this is to be expected as it 
is probable that the more expensive assets are likely to be found in the more affluent areas, 
and therefore be a target for theft. There may also be increased reporting of crime in the 
least deprived areas.

Social isolation

Social isolation is a psychosocial risk factor for poor health and wellbeing. We have some 
Census 2011 data at ward level on the number of people aged 65 and over living alone (as a 
percentage of the total number of people aged 65 and over), which shows a gap of 0.5 
percentage points between the 30% most deprived (34.2%) and the 30% least deprived 
(33.7%). However this metric doesn’t tell us how many of those actually feel socially isolated, 
and there is no trend data available as the next Census is in 2021.

Other ‘healthy and sustainable places’ indicators

There is relatively little easily accessible and up-to-date ward level data for the social 
determinants of ‘place’ to be able to look at inequalities. This is an area we will need to think 
carefully about how to monitor in the forthcoming HWBS 2019+.

 We would have liked to have looked at the Merton inequality gap in ‘Utilisation of 
outdoor space for exercise/health reasons’ (PHE Marmot indicator), but data was not 
available at ward level. 

 Other indicators that it may be worth investigating include measures of air quality, 
levels of volunteering, or the percentage of the population who vote.

Page 82



37

3. PART 3: LESSONS FOR ADDRESSING HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
IN MERTON

This APHR on Health Inequalities has investigated some of the key inequality gaps between 
the most and least deprived communities in Merton that impact on health outcomes. It casts 
new light and produces clear evidence to show a sustained gap in health and wellbeing 
across communities in Merton and provides robust data, on which our plans and policies can 
build, to address these inequalities. 

In particular, the findings from this piece of work can directly be used to inform the refresh of 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019+, as well as other data analysis and reporting such 
as the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, other statutory assessments such the Community 
Safety Partnership strategic assessment, and the development of indicators and reporting 
for other strategic work such as the NHS’s Local Health and Care Plan.

3.1. Conclusions

Measurement of inequalities
It is important to measure inequalities in a standardised way, but the process of analysing 
indicators for this report has shown that it is challenging given the limitations in the data 
available. In particular:

 Many nationally available indicators are only available at borough not ward level which 
does not enable analysis of sub-borough inequalities. For instance, most PHE Marmot 
indicators and PHE Health Equity indicators are not available at sub-borough level. This 
is surprising, and something that we will be feeding back to the data and intelligence 
team at Public Health England, as in order to track progress on health inequality and to 
effectively target interventions, sub-borough analysis is vital;

 Some indicators only had data available from a number of years ago, for instance the 
most recent Healthy Life Expectancy data was from 2009-2013, ward level data for 
School Readiness was only available for 2013/14, and the most recent data on ‘Limiting 
long term illness or disability’ and on ‘Household Overcrowding’ are from 2011 (as these 
are from Census data, only collected every 10 years). This means that making relevant 
conclusions from this data is difficult;

 Where sub-borough data was not available, in some cases there were other ways to look 
at the likely inequality gap, for example by comparing borough level Child Development 
data with data for a sub-set of the population with Free School Meal status;

 Where sub-borough data is available for nationally available indicators, often only single 
data points are readily available through data portals such as PHOF or PHE Local 
Health. This lack of historic data means that no trend can be calculated. Even where 
trend data is available, it is often only available for limited time points, which makes trend 
analysis less accurate. For example, Premature Mortality data was only available for 
three points, where as Slope Index of Inequality data was available for ten. We can be 
more confident to make conclusions about trend from more data points;

 Because of the different methodologies used for calculating the inequality gap (30/30 
versus East/West), it is not possible to directly compare the magnitude of the gaps 
between the different methods;

 Using the data available, it is often difficult to calculate if the current gap is significantly 
different from a statistical perspective, and/or whether the trend is statistically significant.

We have only looked at two related aspects of inequality: geographic and socioeconomic 
inequalities. It would be worth looking at other measures of inequality, for instance age, sex, 
ethnicity or other protected characteristics. Where nationally available data cannot be broken 
down by these characteristics, we may need to look at locally collected data.

Page 83



38

Inequalities in Merton
Despite the challenges, the analysis undertaken in this APHR shows that there is much that 
we can say about inequalities in Merton:

 Inequalities are evident in every indicator studied. The vast majority of indicators 
demonstrated a substantially worse picture in the most deprived areas. For example, we 
found a 14.5 percentage point difference in proportion of children who are overweight or 
obese in primary school (Year 6), between the most and least deprived wards in Merton.

PHE’s recent Health Inequalities Briefing for Merton (2018), based on the Global Burden 
of Disease study, states that the top three indicators most strongly associated with 
deprivation locally are: emergency hospital admissions for all causes, childhood 
obesity (Year 6), and hospital stays for alcohol-related harm.

The only indicators that appeared to be in favour of the most deprived wards, or where 
there was an unclear picture were:

i. Depression – between 2011/12 and 2016/17 the inequality gap appears to have 
flipped, from higher rates of depression in West Merton to higher rates in East 
Merton. The previous higher rates seen in the West of the borough are likely to be a 
measure of under-diagnosis in the East rather than less mental health need/better 
mental health. 

ii. Theft and burglary – the rates of these reported crimes are higher in west of the 
borough, which is not surprising given the socioeconomic picture, as this is where 
more expensive assets are likely to be, as well as potentially increased rates of 
reporting by residents.

 The magnitude of the inequality gap varied, and the relevance of the size of the gap 
to residents’ health and wellbeing outcomes varies from indicator to indicator. For 
instance, the difference in percentage of overweight or obese children in Year 6 between 
the most/least deprived is 14.5 percentage points, which equates to 735 children 
(2014/15-2016/17) where as the difference in percentage of residents claiming ESA 
between the most/least deprived is smaller at 3.4 percentage points, but equates to 
1,605 residents;

 In terms of trend in inequalities in Merton, the picture is mixed. The general 
message is that inequalities in Merton are intransigent, but that we need to keep them 
under review over a longer time frame.

i. There are some success stories, for instance the reducing gap in life expectancy at 
birth for women in Merton (although the reduction is not yet statistically significant), 
the apparent reduction in the Child Poverty gap (although the main trend is based 
on extrapolated data due to lack of very recent published data); the reducing gap in 
School Readiness (comparing child development at age 5 for all children with that 
of children with free school meal status), and the reductions in the gap in the 
economically active population claiming jobseeker's allowance (JSA) between the 
most and least deprived areas; 

ii. There are a number of areas where the inequality gap appears to be stable (e.g. 
male life expectancy at birth, ESA claimants), or where picture is complex (e.g. 
recorded depression prevalence);

iii. In some cases, the gap appears to be reducing for the ‘wrong’ reasons, for instance 
because the situation for those in more affluent areas appears to be worsening 
whilst that for those in the more deprived areas remains stable or worsening at a 
slower rate, or improving, all of which have the effect of narrowing the gap. This is 
the case for Child Poverty, mental health prevalence, and self-reported wellbeing; 

iv. Unfortunately, analysis also shows that there are a substantial number of indicators 
where inequalities appear to be increasing, including child excess weight, 
prevalence of smoking, diabetes and hypertension, and premature mortality.

Page 84



39

 Cumulative inequalities throughout life and the environments within which our 
residents live contribute to overarching inequalities in health outcomes. We can 
see these most clearly in the significant differences in life expectancy between the most 
and least deprived parts of our borough, of around 6.2 years for men and 3.4 years for 
women borough (Slope Index of Inequality). Inequalities in healthy life expectancy are 
even starker, with a difference of more than 9 years of healthy life..

3.2. Recommendations

A. Recommendations for tackling health inequalities in Merton
The Public Sector Equality Duty obligations under the Equality Act 2010 mean that we need 
to pay due regard to equality and inclusion issues in all our decision making.

We know that health inequalities are persistent, complex and difficult to shift. We therefore 
need to take consistent and intelligent action on health inequalities in Merton, actively 
and systematically targeting inequalities through a long-term multi-sectoral approach across 
all partners – including the NHS, Council, voluntary sector and the community – in order to 
be able to make any progress. 

This action should be:

 Based on evidence of need, driven by data – for example, detailed understanding of 
which groups have worst health outcomes and why;

 Grounded in evidence of what works and is cost-effective, for example using evidence-
driven interventions such as those set out in NICE guidance; 

 Grounded in evidence of what works to shift inequalities in particular, using the evidence-
based approach of proportionate universalism, with both carefully considered universal 
approaches (even in times of austerity) and carefully targeted approaches to those who 
are most at risk of poor health and wellbeing. This includes:

i. Intervening for population level impact, recognising the increased cost-effectiveness 
of population level interventions compared to personal level interventions, and 
increased impact on health inequalities

ii. Intervening at different levels of risk, including the importance of the role that NHS 
primary care and community services play in reducing inequalities;

iii. Intervening across the whole life course, giving all residents the best start in life, so 
they can start well, live well and age well;

To be effective, approaches must be underpinned by participatory decision-making and co-
design, and driven through individual and community empowerment.

If we take our eye off the ball, health inequalities are likely to increase. Therefore we need to 
intervene for impact over time, and to continuously monitor progress.

B. Recommendations for monitoring health inequalities in Merton

1. The analysis set out in this report will inform the choice of a suite of indicators for 
the HWBS 2019+

The analysis within this report, particularly around which indicators can be tracked at sub-
borough level to look at inequalities within Merton, and at changes to the inequality gap over 
time, should inform the indicators chosen to support the monitoring of the HWBS from 2019. 
The strategy is likely to cover a period of 5 years, from 2019-2024, and will form the core of 
Merton’s strategy to reduce inequalities.

Page 85



40

The table in Section 5 is the most accessible summary of the findings, set out by indicator. 
The last column indicates whether the indicator may be a good choice for the HWBS 2019+. 

In terms of overall inequalities in life expectancy in Merton, we recommend that the Slope 
Index of Inequality is used as the overarching measure of the life expectancy inequality gap, 
as it is produced nationally and can be compared to statistical comparator boroughs.

Some borough level indicators will be important to monitor, but it is also important that some 
key indicators are also monitored at a sub-borough level to look at the inequality gap. Where 
no sub-borough and/or trend data is available (historic and/or future) in order to be able to 
calculate an inequality gap, we may need to think about how we keep eye on progress in 
closing the gap in other ways, for example using the methodology that we have used for 
Child Development by comparing borough level data for all children with borough level data 
for those with Free School Meal status.

When developing a set of indicators, it is important to think about an underpinning logic 
model or theory of change, in order to develop a hierarchy of indicators, with a clear logical 
progression and explicit assumptions on the relationships between each tier. See Figure 16 
for an example of this tiered approach to developing a suite of indicators for monitoring. 

Although this APHR has focused on place-based deprivation-linked inequality (using 
most/least deprived wards, or E/W gap), this is not the only way in which data should be 
broken down to look at inequalities. Although as this report has highlighted, there is a lack of 
data available at sub-borough level even broken down to ward level, but where possible it is 
important to look at inequalities by age, sex, ethnicity and other protected characteristics. 

Figure 16: Example for a tiered approach to monitoring Health & Wellbeing outcomes 
and proxies over relevant time periods

2. We need to be realistic about timescales in which we can expect to see changes to 
the inequalities gap in Merton

Part 1 (Section 1.3) of this report reminds us that different types of interventions will take 
different amounts of time to demonstrate impact. When setting targets, we therefore need to 
be explicit about the timescales within which we would expect to see changes to different 

Page 86



41

metrics, and that these are likely to sit outside any local and national political cycles, 
requiring coordinated action over time.

Regression analysis for chosen indicators will help to set realistic but ambitious targets – 
recognising that sometimes these targets will be to halt the rise in the inequality gap, or to 
hold the gap stable, rather than to actually to be able to reduce the gap within the time 
frames of most strategies (3-5 years), especially given the recent context of financial 
austerity.

When choosing targets, it is also important to benchmark ourselves against our statistical 
comparator boroughs, neighbouring boroughs, as well as the London and England figures.

3. A standardised methodology should be used across Merton to be able to 
effectively monitor inequalities and progress towards closing the gap

We recommend that the methodology used for gap analysis and trend analysis in this report 
is adopted by the council and partners for calculating and reporting the gap in inequalities 
between the East and the West of the borough, to meet the ‘bridging the gap’ priority of the 
Merton Partnership. 

This has implications for the choice of indicators for forthcoming strategic work such as the 
NHS’s Local Health and Care Plan, and how we look at reporting inequalities as part of 
statutory assessments (for example the Community Safety Partnership Strategic 
Assessment), as well as for analysis of other locally collected data, particularly that which is 
done on a regular basis using relatively standard indicators, such as the council’s Residents 
Survey.

Other partners may also be interested in thinking about taking a ‘logic model’ approach to 
developing a suite of indicators to monitor outcomes over defined time periods, with some 
that focus on short term change as a proxy for longer term progress.

We recommend that where possible, and where granularity of data is sufficient, that 
indicators from nationally available datasets are used for monitoring trend over time. Where 
data is collected locally, for instance through the Residents Survey, or in ad hoc surveys for 
regular reports such as the Strategic Assessment, it is really important to carefully consider 
how indicators are chosen and worded, to enable consistency of trend analysis over time.

C. Recommendations for monitoring health inequalities nationally
Given that data in many of the easily accessible national PHE data sets is only available at 
borough not ward level (therefore limiting analysis of sub-borough inequalities), Public 
Health Merton will feedback to PHE’s data and intelligence team about the availability of 
sub-borough indicator data in easy to use formats, for instance through the online Local 
Health portal, and particularly for the PHE Marmot and PHE Health Equity indicator sets, to 
inform their ongoing support to local authority public health teams.

We will also respond to the government’s consultation on Universal Credit metrics, as 
discussed in Chapter 4, to ensure that we are able to access ward level data on appropriate 
indicators to continue to measure trend in inequalities in the domain of fair employment and 
good work.

Page 87



xlii

4. Appendices

Appendix 1: Resources for understanding and tackling health 
inequalities

 Department of Health (2008) Systematically Addressing Health Inequalities 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130124043456/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_c
onsum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_086573.pdf 

 Department of Health (2011) Health Inequalities National Support Team - A Generic 
Diagnostic Framework for Addressing Inequalities in Outcome at Population Level from 
Evidence-based Interventions 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/215615/dh_126331.pdf 

 Institute of Health Equity: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/ 
 Kings Fund (2010): Tackling inequalities in General Practice 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/Health%20Inequalities.pdf 
 Kings Fund (2013) Improving the public’s health: A resource for local authorities 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/improving-the-
publics-health-kingsfund-dec13.pdf 

 Kings Fund (2013) Improving the public’s health: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/improving-publics-health 

 Kings Fund (2017) https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-
health-towards-brave-old-world

 LGA Feb 2018 ‘A matter of justice: Local government’s role in tackling health 
inequalities’ https://local.gov.uk/matter-justice-local-governments-role-tackling-health-
inequalities 

 LGA: Health in all policies: A manual for local government https://local.gov.uk/health-all-
policies-manual-local-government 

 Health Foundation: healthy lives infographics series 
https://www.health.org.uk/collection/healthy-lives-infographics  

 Health Foundation: healthy lives quick guide 
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf 

 Marmot (2010): Fair Society Healthy Lives 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-
marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 

 NHS Reducing health inequalities resources:  
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/evidence/ 

 PHE Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk/ 
 PHE Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF): 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
 PHE Public Health Profiles: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 
 PHE (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-health-inequalities-in-local-areas 
 WHO (2015): McDaid, D, Sassi, F & Merkur, S (2015) Promoting Health, Preventing 

Disease: The Economic Case. World Health Organisation. 
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-
Preventing-Disease-Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1

Page 88

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130124043456/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_086573.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130124043456/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_086573.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215615/dh_126331.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215615/dh_126331.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/Health%20Inequalities.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/improving-the-publics-health-kingsfund-dec13.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/improving-the-publics-health-kingsfund-dec13.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/improving-publics-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2017/08/reducing-inequalities-health-towards-brave-old-world
https://local.gov.uk/matter-justice-local-governments-role-tackling-health-inequalities
https://local.gov.uk/matter-justice-local-governments-role-tackling-health-inequalities
https://local.gov.uk/health-all-policies-manual-local-government
https://local.gov.uk/health-all-policies-manual-local-government
https://www.health.org.uk/collection/healthy-lives-infographics
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/resources/evidence/
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-health-inequalities-in-local-areas
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-Preventing-Disease-Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/283695/Promoting-Health-Preventing-Disease-Economic-Case.pdf?ua=1


xliii

Appendix 2: PHE Indicators sets (Marmot; Health Equity)

Marmot indicators
Life expectancy at birth – males and females
Healthy life expectancy at birth – males and females
Inequality in life expectancy at birth – males and females
People reporting low life satisfaction
Good level of development at age 5
Good level of development at age 5 with free school meal status
GCSE achieved (5A*-C including English & Maths)
GCSE achieved (5A*-C including English & Maths) with free school meal status
19-24 year olds who are not in employment, education or training
Unemployment % (ONS model-based method)
Long-term claimants of Jobseeker's Allowance
Work-related illness
Households not reaching Minimum Income Standard
Fuel poverty for high fuel cost households
Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons

Health Equity Indicators 
Life expectancy at birth
Healthy life expectancy at birth
Cardiovascular disease mortality under 75 years
Cancer mortality under 75 years
Infant mortality
Low birthweight of term babies
Proportion of five year old children with dental decay 
Child excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds 
Alcohol related hospital admissions
Prevalence of smoking among persons aged 18 years and over 
Incidence of tuberculosis
Suicide
Self-reported wellbeing - low life satisfaction 
Children in low income families (all dependent children under 20) 
Readiness for school
Young people not in employment, education or training
Employment gap for those with a long-term condition
Homelessness 

In bold – same or similar indicators between the two indicator sets

Page 89



xliv

Appendix 3: Marmot priorities mapped to HWBS 2015-18 and APHR 2018

 Marmot strategic priority 
areas for tackling heath 
inequalities

HWBS 2015 – 2018 
Themes

APHR 2018 Chapters and 
indicators

- - Chapter 1: Overarching 
indicators

1. Giving every child the 
best start in life 

Theme 1: Best start in life Chapter 2: best start in life

2. Enabling all children, 
young people and adults 
to maximize their 
capabilities and have 
control over their lives

Theme 1: Best start in life
Theme 3: Life skills, lifelong 
learning and good work

Chapter 2: best start in life

3. Creating the conditions 
for fair employment and 
good work for all

Theme 3: Life skills, lifelong 
learning and good work

Chapter 4: creating the 
conditions for fair 
employment and good work

4. Ensuring a healthy 
standard of living for all

Theme 5: A good natural 
and built environment

Chapter 5: Ensuring a 
healthy standard of living for 
all

5. Creating and developing 
healthy and sustainable 
places and communities

Theme 4: Community 
participation and feeling safe 
Theme 5: A good natural 
and built environment

Chapter 6: develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities

6. Strengthening the role 
and impact of ill-health 
prevention.

Theme 2: Good health Chapter 3: prevention of 
poor physical and mental ill 
health

Page 90



xlv

Appendix 4: Glossary 

Term Definition
Confidence 
Intervals 

Confidence intervals are an indicator of how accurate a set of data values 
is likely to be.  Generally, the more values there are in a dataset, the more 
accurate the data is likely to be.  

Confidence intervals of 95% are routinely used. This indicates that 95% of 
the time, the values would be expected to fall within the range of the upper 
and lower confidence interval values, around the mean (average) value.  

It is possible to tell whether a value is statistically significantly higher or 
lower using confidence intervals.   In the following chart, the red markers 
are the confidence interval levels and in area A, the arrows point to the 
upper (UCI) and lower (LCI) confidence intervals.  

An value is considered statistically significantly higher or lower than another 
value if there is a gap in values, for example, below the UCI in Area A is 
lower than the LCI in areas B and C, therefore Area A is significantly lower 
than areas A and B.  

A B C
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Area

%

LCI

UCI

Decile A decile is method of splitting up a set of ranked data into 10 equally sized 
subsections.

Directly 
Standardised 
Rate

Direct standardisation involves applying the rates of disease observed in 
the study group of people to a ‘standard’ population. The choice of the 
standard population depends on available data, and the purpose of the 
analysis.

Health 
Inequality

“Health inequalities are the preventable, unfair and unjust differences in 
health status between groups, populations or individuals that arise from the 
unequal distribution of social, environmental and economic conditions 
within societies, which determine the risk of people getting ill, their ability to 
prevent sickness, or opportunities to take action and access treatment 
when ill health occurs.”
-NHS England

Healthy life 
expectancy 
vs. Disability 
Free life 
expectancy

From the 2011 Census, one question was asked for each of the two 
indicators – healthy life expectancy (HLE) and disability free life expectancy 
(DFLE).  Healthy life expectancy is a very general question about overall 
health and the DFLE question asked about longer term health problems or 
disabilities that would be expected to last for more than a year.  These two 
questions are related in that they are enquiring about peoples’ perceptions 

Page 91



xlvi

of their own health, however the responses would not necessarily be 
linked, for example, it is possible to be limited by a disability but still feel in 
good health.

Census questions:  
 Healthy life expectancy question:  “How is your health in general?”  

Very Good/Good/Fair/Bad/Very bad.  
 Disability free life expectancy question: “Do you have any health 

problems or disabilities that you expect will last for more than a year?” 
Yes/No.  If the answer was yes, a further question was asked; “Do 
these health problems or disabilities, when taken singly or together, 
substantially limit your ability to carry out normal day to day activities?  
If you are receiving medication or treatment, please consider what the 
situation would be without the medication or treatment” Yes/No.  

IMD The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a measure of relative deprivation 
for small areas in England (Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA)). It is a 
combined measure of deprivation based on a total of 37 separate indicators 
that have been grouped into seven domains, each of which reflects a 
different aspect of deprivation experienced by individuals living in an area. 
The IMD ranks every small area in England from 1 (most deprived area) to 
32,844 (least deprived area). 

IDACI The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) is a specific 
subset of the Income Deprivation Domain relating to child poverty factors. 
The index is calculated by the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister and 
measures in a local area the proportion of children under the age of 16 that 
live in income deprived households.

Income deprived families are defined as families that receive: 

 Income Support; or
 income-based Jobseekers Allowance; or
 income-based Employment and Support Allowance; or
 Pension Credit (Guarantee); or
 Working Tax Credit or Child Tax Credit with an equalised income 

(excluding housing benefit) below 60 per cent of the national 
median before housing costs

IDAOPI The Income Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) is another 
subset of the Income Deprivation Domain. This is based on the percentage 
of the population aged 60 and over who receive income support, income 
based job seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit claimants 
aged 60 and over and their partners (if also aged 60 or over).

Inequity Inequity is an instance of injustice or unfairness. Health inequities are 
differences in health status between population groups that are socially 
produced, systematic in their unequal distribution across the population, 
avoidable and unfair. 

"Inequity and inequality: these terms are sometimes confused, but are not 
interchangeable, inequity refers to unfair, avoidable differences arising from 
poor governance, corruption or cultural exclusion while inequality simply 
refers to the uneven distribution of health or health resources as a result of 
genetic or other factors or the lack of resources.” 
-Global Health Europe

Inequality “Health inequalities can be defined as differences in health status or in the 
distribution of health determinants between different population groups. For 
example, differences in mobility between elderly people and younger 

Page 92



xlvii

populations or differences in mortality rates between people from different 
social classes.”
-World Health Organisation 

Absolute Inequality reflects the magnitude of difference in health between 
two subgroups.

Relative Inequality measures show proportionate differences in health 
among subgroups.

Life 
expectancy 
at birth

Life expectancy at birth can be defined as the average number of years a 
person would expect to live based on contemporary mortality rates. For a 
particular area and time period, it is an estimate of the average number of 
years a new born baby would survive if he or she experienced the age-
specific mortality rates for that area and time period throughout his or her 
life. 

Figures reflect mortality among those living in an area in each time period, 
rather than what will be experienced throughout life among those born in 
the area. The figures are not therefore the number of years a baby born in 
the area could actually expect to live, both because the mortality rates of 
the area are likely to change in the future and because many of those born 
in the area will live elsewhere for at least some part of their lives. 

This indicator is an extremely important measure of mortality and morbidity.
Proportionate 
universalism 

To reduce the steepness of the social gradient in health, actions must be 
universal, but with a scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of 
disadvantage. Proportionate universalism is the resourcing and delivering 
of universal services at a scale and intensity proportionate to the degree of 
need.

Slope index 
of inequality 
(years) 

This is a single score representing the gap between the best-off and worst-
off within a district for a chosen indicator. The slope index score represents 
the gap in years of life expectancy at birth between the most deprived and 
least deprived communities within a local authority area. The larger the 
index score (in years), the greater the disparity in life expectancy. 

Social 
gradient in 
health 

The social gradient in heath refers to the fact that inequalities in population 
health status are related to inequalities in social status; people who are 
relatively disadvantaged have progressively worse health outcomes than 
those who are more advantaged. 

Standardised 
Admission 
Ratio (SAR)

The Standardised Admission Ratio (SAR) is a summary estimate of 
admission rates relative to the national pattern of admissions and takes into 
account differences in a population's age, sex and socioeconomic 
deprivation.

Wider 
determinants 
of health 
(also known 
as the social 
and 
economic 
determinants) 

The wider determinants of health are a diverse range of social, economic 
and environmental factors which impact on people's health. These factors 
can be largely outside of an individual’s direct control, and are influenced 
by the local, national and international distribution of power and resources 
which shape the conditions of daily life.

Examples of wider determinants of health include:
 Socioeconomic status
 Education
 Income
 Smoking status
 Employment
 Alcohol use

Page 93



xlviii

 Social networks

Page 94



5. SUMMARY TABLE OF APHR 2018 INDICATORS
Merton 

inequality gapii 
Method of 

calculating gap

Ch
ap

te
r Type of 

indicator
Indicator

Green: analysis included in 
this report
Black: not covered in this 
report in detail

Most recent 
data source 

(year)

Timescale 
for 

changei

30
/30

Ea
st

/W
es

t

Ot
he

r

Trend in 
Merton 

inequality 
gapiii

(+/–;  stable; 
mixed; Not 
Available)

PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 
(Y/N)

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator 
(Y/N)

Current 
Merton 

indicator?
iv

Geography 
level for data 
availability v

Inequality 
trend to 

date?vi (Y/N)
i.e. can we 
measure 

historic trend 
in inequalities 

using gap 
analysis?

Inequality 
trend in 
future?vii 

(Y/N/Maybe)
i.e. will we 
be able to 
measure 

future gap 
trend?

Consider as 
a HWBS 

2019-2024 
indicator?

(Y/N/Maybe)

Determinant Life Expectancy at birth 
(Males)

Local Health 
(2011-15) Long term M: 4.1 years Stable Y Y HWBS Ward; Borough Y Y Y (SII may be 

more robust)

Determinant Life Expectancy at birth 
(Females)

Local Health 
(2011-15) Long term F: 2.7 years

Reducing 
(unclear if 
statistically 
significant)

Y Y HWBS Ward; Borough Y Y Y (SII may be 
more robust)

Determinant
Inequality in life 
expectancy at birth [Slope 
Index of Inequality] (Males)

PHOF
 (2014-16) Long term M: 6.2 years Stable Y N - Sub-boroughviii 

(10/10 analysis) Y Y Y

Determinant
Inequality in life 
expectancy at birth [Slope 
Index of Inequality] 
(Females)

PHOF 
(2014-16) Long term F: 3.4 years

Reducing 
(but not yet 
statistically 
significant)

Y N - Sub-borough
(as above) Y Y Y

Determinant Healthy life Expectancy at 
birth (male)

ONS
(2009-13) Long term 9.4 years N/A Y Y MP Ward; Borough N N Y (borough 

not gap)

Determinant Healthy life Expectancy at 
birth (female)

ONS
(2009-13) Long term 9.3 years N/A Y Y MP Ward; Borough N N Y (borough 

not gap)

Determinant Disability free life expectancy 
from birth (male and female) 

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 7.8 years

F: 7.1 years NA N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 
not gap)

Determinant Disability free life expectancy 
at age 65 (male and female) 

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 3.1 years 

F: 2.7 years NA N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 
not gap)

Determinant
Proportion living without 
disability at birth (male and 
female)

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 4.7 % points

F: 4.5 % points N/A N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 
not gap)

Determinant
Proportion living without 
disability at age 65 (male 
and female) 

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 8.7 % points

F: 7.0 % points
N/A N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 

not gap)

Determinant
Proportion of life spent in 
good health at birth (male 
and female)

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 6.7 % points

F: 7.2 % points N/A N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 
not gap)

Determinant
Proportion of life spent in 
good health at age 65 (male 
and female) 

ONS
(2009-13) Long term M: 13.4 % points

F: 11.8 % points N/A N N - Ward; Borough N N M (borough 
not gap)

CH
AP

TE
R 

1:
 O

ve
ra

rc
hi

ng
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 o
f i

ne
qu

ali
ty

 in
 h

ea
lth

 an
d 

we
llb

ein
g

Mortality 
Premature mortality 
(deaths in those under the 
age of 75)

Primary Care 
Mortality 
(PCMD) 

(2013-17)
Long term 12.5 % points

Increasing 
(unlikely to be 

statistically 
significant)

N N - Ward; Borough Y Y Y

P
age 95



Merton Gap
Ch

ap
te

r Type of 
indicator

Indicator Data source 
(year)

Timescale 
for 

change?

30
/30 E/
W

Ot
he

r

Trend in gap PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator

Current 
Merton 

indicator?

Geography 
level for data 
availability

Inequality 
trend to 

date? (Y/N)

Inequality 
trend in 
future? 

(Y/N/Maybe)

Consider as
HWBS 2019+ 

indicator?

Determinant Child Poverty - children 
living in low income 
families 

HMRC and 
GLA (2015)

Medium to 
long term

21 % points 
(2015); 

6 % points (2018 
extrapolation)

Reducing 
(mixed 

underlying 
picture)

N Y - Ward; Borough Y Y Y

Mortality Infant mortality PHOF Medium to 
long term N Y - Borough N N N

Determinant / 
Morbidity

Low birthweight of term 
babies

PHE Local 
Health 

(2011-2015)
Medium to 
long term 0.8 % points N/A N Y - Ward; Borough N

Maybe via 
Local Health 
in future – to 

monitor
M

Determinant
School readiness - child 
development at age 5 (end 
of reception)

Dep’t for 
Education 
via PHE 

Local Health 
(2013/14)

Medium to 
long term 15.9 % points

N/A at ward 
level, only 
borough

Y Y - Ward; Borough N N
M (borough 

not gap); lack 
of recent 

data

Determinant

School readiness - child 
development at age 5 (end 
of reception) with free 
school meal (FSM) status

PHE Local 
Health 

(2016/17)
Medium to 
long term

10.0 % points 
(all children vs. 
those with FSM 

status: at borough 
not ward level)

Gap between 
all children 
and those 
with FSM 
reducing

Y Y
HWBS 
(pupil 

premium 
not FSM)

Borough
Y but using 

different gap 
methodology

Y but using 
different gap 
methodology

Y (but gap 
analysis 

using 
different 

methodology)

Determinant GCSE achieved (5A*-C incl. 
English & Maths)

PHE Local 
Health 

(2013/14)
Medium to 
long term 15.4 % points

N/A – only 
two time 
points

Y N - Ward; Borough
N – not 

robust as 
only two time 

points

Maybe via 
Local Health 
in future – to 

monitor

M if sufficient 
trend data 
available in 

future

Determinant
GCSE achieved (5A*-C incl. 
English & Maths) with FSM 
status

PHOF 
(2015) Medium to 

long term Y N
HWBS 
(pupil 

premium 
not FSM)

Borough N N M (borough, 
not gap)

Determinant
19-24 year olds / young 
people not in employment, 
education or training

GLA 
(2015) Medium to 

long term
Y

(19-24 
year olds)

Y
(16-18 

year olds)

MP (16-17 
year olds 
NEET)

Borough N N M (borough, 
not gap)

Morbidity Proportion of 5 year olds with 
dental decay PHOF

Short to 
medium 

term
N Y Borough N N M (borough, 

not gap)

Morbidity Child Excess weight 
(Reception)

National 
Obesity 

Observatory/ 
PHE (14/15-

16/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
9.6% points Increasing N Y - Ward; Borough Y Y Y – HWBB 

priority

CH
AP

TE
R 

2:
 B

es
t s

ta
rt 

in
 lif

e

Morbidity Child Excess weight 
(Year 6)

NOO / PHE 
(14/15-
16/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
14.5% points Increasing N Y SP, MP, 

HWBS Ward; Borough Y Y Y – HWBB 
priority

P
age 96



Merton Gap
Ch

ap
te

r Type of 
indicator

Indicator Data source 
(year)

Timescale 
for 

change?

30
/30 E/
W

Ot
he

r

Trend in gap PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator

Current 
Merton 

indicator?

Geography 
level for data 
availability

Inequality 
trend to 

date? (Y/N)

Inequality 
trend in 
future? 

(Y/N/Maybe)

Consider as
HWBS 2019+ 

indicator?

Lifestyle / 
behavioural 
risk factor

Smoking prevalence (as 
recorded in GP Profiles)

GP QOF 
(2015/16)

Short to 
medium 

term
6.2 % points Increasing N

N but similar 
(see 

indicator 
below)

- GP; Borough Y Y
Y, in lieu of 

ward data for 
Health Equity 

indicator
Lifestyle / 
behavioural 
risk factor

Prevalence of smoking in 
those aged 18+ PHOF

Short to 
medium 

term
N Y HWBS Borough N N

N – use 
similar 

indicator 

Lifestyle / 
Morbidity

Hospital stays due to 
alcohol related harm 
(Standardised Admission 
Ratio, SAR) 

PHE Local 
Health HES 
(2011/12 - 
2015/16)

Short to 
medium 

term

38.2 difference in 
Standardised 

Admission Ratio

N/A – only 
two time 
points

N N but similar 
indicator30 HWBS Ward; Borough

N – not 
robust (only 2 
time points)

Maybe via 
Local Health 
in future – to 

monitor

Y if sufficient 
trend data 
available in 

future

Physiological 
risk factor / 
Morbidity

Hypertension prevalence 
(GP profiles)

GP QOF 
(2016/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
1.5 % points

Increasing 
(not yet 

statistically 
significant)

N N - GP; Borough Y Y Y

Morbidity Diabetes prevalence (GP 
profiles)

GP QOF 
(2016/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
3.1 % points Increasing

(Statistically 
significant)

N N - GP; Borough Y Y Y – HWBB 
priority

Morbidity Incidence Rate of 
tuberculosis (TB)

PHE 
(2014-2016)

Short to 
medium 

term
25.6 per 100,000 

rate difference

Increasing 
(unlikely to be 

statistically 
significant: 
small no.s)

N Y - Ward; Borough Y Y Y

Morbidity Mental Health (GP profiles) GP QOF 
(2016/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
0.24 % points

Decreasing 
(but complex 

picture)
N N - GP; Borough Y Y Y – parity of 

esteem

Morbidity Depression (GP profiles) GP QOF 
(2016/17)

Short to 
medium 

term
0.45 % points

Unclear trend 
(complex 
picture)

N N - GP, Borough Y Y Y – MCCG 
investment

Morbidity Self reported wellbeing – 
low life satisfaction GLA (2013) Medium to 

long term
11.7  point gap 

(2013) 
Decreasing 

(but complex 
picture) 

Y Y Borough Y
M – monitor 

to see if more 
recent data

M (borough 
not gap); lack 
recent data

Mortality Suicide PHOF Medium to 
long term N Y Borough N N N

Mortality Cardiovascular disease 
mortality under 75 years PHOF Long term N Y Borough N N

N – use 
premature 
mortality

CH
AP

TE
R 

3:
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
of

 ill
 h

ea
lth

Mortality Cancer mortality under 75 
years

PHE Local 
Health 

(2010-14)
Long term

Not calculated but 
available at ward 

level

N/A – only 
two time 
points

N Y - Ward; Borough
N – not 

robust as 
only two time 

points

Maybe via 
Local Health 
in future – to 

monitor

M if sufficient 
trend data 
available in 

future

30 PHE Marmot indicator is Directly Standardised Rate (Merton: 495 per 100,000 in 2016/17); however, this is only available at borough, whereas PHE Local Health shows Standardised Admission Ratios by ward. 

P
age 97



Merton Gap
Ch

ap
te

r Type of 
indicator

Indicator Data source 
(year)

Timescale 
for 

change?

30
/30 E/
W

Ot
he

r

Trend in gap PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator

Current 
Merton 

indicator?

Geography 
level for data 
availability

Inequality 
trend to 

date? (Y/N)

Inequality 
trend in 
future? 

(Y/N/Maybe)

Consider as
HWBS 2019+ 

indicator?

Determinant Unemployment % (ONS 
model-based method)

PHOF Medium to 
long term

Y N - Borough N N Await new 
Universal 

Credit (UC) 
metrics

Determinant Long term claimants of job 
seekers allowance PHOF Medium to 

long term Y N - Borough N N Await new 
UC metrics

Determinant Work related illness PHOF Medium to 
long term Y N - London, 

England N N
N – limited 

borough data 
available

Determinant Households not reaching 
Minimum Income Standard PHOF Medium to 

long term Y N - London, 
England N N

N – limited 
borough data 

available

Determinant Employment gap for those 
with a long term condition PHOF Medium to 

long term N Y -
Borough, 
London, 
England

Limited N
M (borough 

not gap); 
await new 

UC metrics)

Determinant
Economically active 
population claiming 
jobseeker's allowance 
(JSA)31

ONS NOMIS 
(2015)

Medium to 
long term 2.5 % points Reducing

N but 
similar 

(see above 
indicators)

N HWBS Ward; Borough Y
Y but 

depends on 
new UC 
metrics

Y (in lieu of 
ward data for 

Marmot/ 
Equity 

indicators); 
await new 
UC metrics

Determinant Employment & Support 
Allowance (ESA)

ONS NOMIS 
(2017)

Medium to 
long term 3.4 % points Stable N N -- Ward; Borough Y

Y but 
depends on 

new UC 
metrics

Y (as above); 
but await 
new UC 
metrics

Determinant Incapacity benefit NOMIS 
(2017)

Medium to 
long term

Not calculated as 
numbers too 

small

Numbers too 
small to make 

robust 
conclusions

N N HWBS Ward; Borough
Y but 

numbers too 
small for 

robust trend

Y but 
numbers too 

small for 
robust trend

Await new 
UC metrics

CH
AP

TE
R 

4:
 F

air
 em

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
go

od
 w

or
k

Determinant Severe disablement 
allowance

NOMIS 
(2017)

Medium to 
long term

Not calculated as 
numbers too 

small

Numbers too 
small to make 

robust 
conclusions

N N - Ward; Borough

Y but 
numbers too 

small to make 
robust 

conclusions

Y but 
numbers too 

small to make 
robust 

conclusions

Await new 
UC metrics

31 According to NOMIS: JSA “is not an official measure of unemployment, but is the only indicative statistic available for areas smaller than Local Authorities.”

P
age 98



Merton Gap
Ch

ap
te

r Type of 
indicator

Indicator Data source 
(year)

Timescale 
for 

change?

30
/30 E/
W

Ot
he

r

Trend in gap PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator

Current 
Merton 

indicator?

Geography 
level for data 
availability

Inequality 
trend to 

date? (Y/N)

Inequality 
trend in 
future? 

(Y/N/Maybe)

Consider as
HWBS 2019+ 

indicator?

Determinant Deprivation IMD 2015 IMD (2015) Long term 17.01 point 
difference in 

average score

N/A N N - LSOA; Ward N N Y (trend not 
available, but 
can look at 

relative 
change over 

time)

Determinant Deprivation IMD 2015
IMD GP 
Profiles 
(2015) 
DCLG

Long term
11.74 point 
difference in 

score
N/A N N - GP; Borough N N

N (use IMD 
2015 by ward 

as above)

Determinant
Deprivation IMD  2015- 
IDACI - Children (GP 
profiles)

IMD GP 
Profiles 
(2015) 
DCLG

Long term
13.33 % point 
difference in 

score
N/A N N - GP; Borough N N

N – difficult to 
interpret, 

direct trend 
not available, 
Child Poverty 

is a better 
indicator

Determinant Deprivation IMD  2015- 
Deprivation in Older People

IMD GP 
Profiles 
(2015) 
DCLG

Long term
8.63 % point 
difference in 

score
N/A N N - GP; Borough N N

N – difficult to 
interpret, 

direct trend 
not available

Determinant Household overcrowding
ONS 

Census 
(2011)

Medium to 
long term 10.2 % points N/A N N - Ward; Borough N N

N (lack of 
both recent 
data and 
trend until 

next Census 
in 2021)

Determinant Fuel poverty for high cost 
fuel households

PHE Local 
Health (ONS 

2015)
Medium to 
long term 1.4 % points N/A Y N - Ward; Borough N

Maybe via 
Local Health 
in future – to 

monitor

M if sufficient 
trend data 
available in 

future

Ch
ap

te
r 5

: H
ea

lth
y s

ta
nd

ar
d 

of
 liv

in
g

Determinant Homelessness PHOF Medium to 
long term N Y - Borough N N

Y (borough, 
not E/W or 
30/30 gap), 
as a good 

measure of 
equity in 

itself)

P
age 99



Merton Gap
Ch

ap
te

r Type of 
indicator

Indicator Data source 
(year)

Timescale 
for 

change?

30
/30 E/
W

Ot
he

r

Trend in gap PHE 
Marmot 

indicator 

PHE Health 
Equity 

Indicator

Current 
Merton 

indicator?

Geography 
level for data 
availability

Inequality 
trend to 

date? (Y/N)

Inequality 
trend in 
future? 

(Y/N/Maybe)

Consider as
HWBS 2019+ 

indicator?

Determinant Burglary
Metropolitan 
Police Data

(2017)
Medium to 
long term

-3.4 per 1000
rate difference N/A N N - Ward; Borough

Y but not 
calculated for 

this report
Y N

Determinant Theft
Metropolitan 
Police Data

(2017)
Medium to 
long term

-8.5 per 1000
rate difference N/A N N - Ward; Borough

Y but not 
calculated for 

this report
Y N

Determinant Criminal damage
Metropolitan 
Police Data

(2017)
Medium to 
long term

4.2 per 1000 rate 
difference N/A N N - Ward; Borough

Y but not 
calculated for 

this report
Y N

Determinant Antisocial behaviour
Metropolitan 
Police Data

(2017)
Medium to 
long term

7.0 per 1000
rate difference N/A N N - Ward; Borough

Y but not 
calculated for 

this report
Y Y

Determinant Violence against the person
Metropolitan 
Police Data

(2017)
Medium to 
long term

14.5 per 1000 
rate difference N/A N N - Ward; Borough

Y but not 
calculated for 

this report
Y M

Determinant 
(Psychosocial 
risk factor)

Older people (65+)  living 
alone

ONS 
Census 
(2011)

Medium to 
long term 0.5 % points N/A N N - Ward, Borough N N

N as not a 
measure of 

social 
isolation in 
itself, and 

lack of timely 
trend data 
(Census)

CH
AP

TE
R 

6:
 H

ea
lth

y, 
su

st
ain

ab
le 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

Determinant Utilisation of outdoor space 
for exercise/health reasons PHOF

Short to 
medium 

term
Y N HWBS Borough N N Y (borough 

not gap)

i These represent the following approximate timescales: Short term: 3-5 years; Short to medium term: 8-10 years; Medium to long term: 12-15 years; Long term: 15+ years
ii 30/30 = absolute gap between the 30% most and least deprived wards in Merton; E/W = absolute gap between the average of the East Merton wards compared to the West 
Merton wards
iii Up (red), down (green), stable or mixed picture (orange), NA (not available) - grey
iv Indicators that are currently reported on. MP = Merton Partnership,  SP = Public Health Service Plan, HWBS = Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018 indicator
v Geographic level that data is available at. LSOA = Lower Super Output Area; GP = GP practice
vi Is sufficient historic data available for this indicator so that trend can be calculated? Need at least 3 points of data in order to be able to accurately assess trend, and more is 
preferable.
vii Will this indicator be in use in the future? Will we be able to measure trend going forward?
viii Sub-borough gap analysis inherent in the data presented at borough level, comparing 10% most deprived with 10% least deprived areas

P
age 100



Page 1 of 44

Annual Public Health Report 2018: Health inequalities in Merton
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA REPORT

Contents
Supplementary data: graphs to support text ...................................................................................................................3

1. CHAPTER 1: Overarching indicators ...................................................................................................................3

1.1.1. Life expectancy from birth in males, 2005 to 2015 .....................................................................................3

1.1.2. Life expectancy from birth in females, 2005 to 2015..................................................................................4

1.1.3. Slope index of inequality in males, 2005-07 to 2014-16 ............................................................................5

1.1.4. Slope Index of inequality in females, 2005-07 to 2014-16 ........................................................................6

1.1.5. Healthy Life Expectancy (males), 2009-2013 .............................................................................................7

1.1.6. Healthy Life Expectancy (females), 2009-2013 ..........................................................................................8

1.1.7. Disability Free Life Expectancy at birth, 2009-2013 ...................................................................................9

1.1.8. Disability Free Life Expectancy at age 65, 2009-2013.............................................................................10

1.1.9. Proportion of life spent without a disability at birth, 2009-2013 ..............................................................11

1.1.10. Proportion of life spent without a disability at age 65, 2009-2013 ......................................................12

1.1.11. Proportion of life spent in good health at birth, 2009-2013 .................................................................13

1.1.12. Proportion of life spent in good health at age 65, 2009-2013 .............................................................14

1.1.13. Premature mortality (under 75), 2011-2015 to 2013-2017 ..................................................................15

2. CHAPTER 2: Best start in life ..............................................................................................................................16

2.1.1. Child poverty, 2010 to 2015 .........................................................................................................................16

2.1.2. Child development at age 5: school readiness, 2012/13 to 2016/17 .....................................................17

2.1.3. Child excess weight: Reception age, 2010/11-2012/13 to 2014/15-2016/17 .......................................18

2.1.4. Child excess weight: Year 6 (age 10-11), 2010/11-2012/13 to 2014/15-2016/17 ...............................19

2.1.5. Childhood obesity, 2013/14 – 2015/16.......................................................................................................20

2.1.6. GCSE attainment, 2013/14 ..........................................................................................................................21

3. CHAPTER 3: Prevention of ill health ..................................................................................................................22

3.1.1. Smoking prevalence from GP QOF, 2012/13 to 2015-16 .......................................................................22

3.1.2. Alcohol-related harm (hospital admissions), 2011/12-2015/16 ..............................................................23

3.1.3. Hypertension prevalence (all ages) from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 16/17...................................................25

3.1.4. Diabetes prevalence (age 17+) from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 2016/17 .....................................................26

3.1.5. Tuberculosis (TB) incidence, 2011-13 to 2014/16....................................................................................27

3.1.6. Mental health prevalence (all ages) from GP QOF, 2012/13 to 2016/17 ..............................................28

3.1.7. Depression prevalence (age 18+), from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 2016/17................................................29

3.1.8. Self reported wellbeing scores (low life satisfaction), 2009 to 2013 ......................................................30

3.1.9. Emergency hospital admissions, 2011/12-2015/16..................................................................................31

4. CHAPTER 4: Fair employment, good work .......................................................................................................32

4.1.1. Economically active population claiming Job Seekers Allowance, 2011 to 2015 ................................32

4.1.2. Benefit claimants - employment and support allowance (ESA), 2014 to 2017 ....................................33

Page 101



Page 2 of 44

5. CHAPTER 5: Ensure healthy standard of living for all.....................................................................................34

5.1.1. Index of Deprivation 2015: ward scores.....................................................................................................34

5.1.2. Index of Deprivation 2015: GP practice scores.........................................................................................35

5.1.3. Overcrowded households, 2011..................................................................................................................36

5.1.4. Fuel poverty, 2015.........................................................................................................................................37

6. CHAPTER 6: Healthy, sustainable communities ..............................................................................................38

6.1.1. Burglary in Merton, 2017 ..............................................................................................................................38

6.1.2. Theft in Merton, 2017....................................................................................................................................39

6.1.3. Criminal damage in Merton, 2017 ...............................................................................................................40

6.1.4. Antisocial behaviour in Merton, 2017 .........................................................................................................41

6.1.5. Violence against the person in Merton, 2017 ............................................................................................42

6.1.6. Older people (65+) living alone, 2011 ........................................................................................................43

Overview of PHE Marmot indicators for Merton ...........................................................................................................44

Page 102



Page 3 of 44

Supplementary data: graphs to support text

1. CHAPTER 1: Overarching indicators

1.1.1.Life expectancy from birth in males, 2005 to 2015

Polla
rds H

ill

Most 
depriv

ed

St 
Helie

r

Rav
ensb

ury

Fig
ge

s M
ars

h

La
ve

nder F
ields

Cric
ke

t G
reen

Le
ss 

depriv
ed

West 
Barn

es

Lo
wer M

orden

Grav
eney

Ray
nes P

ark

Collie
rs 

Wood
Trin

ity

Lo
ngth

ornton
Abbey

Wim
bledon Park

Le
ast

 depriv
edVilla

ge

Merto
n Park

Dundonald

Hills
ide

Can
non Hill

70

75

80

85

90

Most deprived average Least deprived average

Male Life Expectancy  from birth in Merton 2011-2015
Source: Public Health England - Local Health

Deprivation and ward

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

77.8 77.9 78.0 78.3 78.6 78.6 78.6

81.8 82.3 83.1 83.4 83.4 83.2 82.7

79.7 80.1 80.4 80.4 80.6 80.6 80.4

2005-09 2006-10 2007-11 2008-12 2009-13 2010-14 2011-15
70
72
74
76
78
80
82
84
86
88
90

Most deprived Least deprived Merton

Trend in life expectancy from birth in males in Merton
Source:  Public Health England -  Local Health

Year

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 4.1 years 
(2011-2015 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2005 and 2015, the difference in male life expectancy 
between the most and least deprived wards remained the same

Page 103



Page 4 of 44

1.1.2.Life expectancy from birth in females, 2005 to 2015

Polla
rds H

ill

Most 
depriv

ed

Cric
ke

t G
reen

La
ve

nder F
ields

Fig
ge

s M
ars

h

St 
Helie

r

Rav
ensb

ury

Lo
wer M

orden

Le
ss 

depriv
ed
Grav

eney

Collie
rs 

Wood

West 
Barn

es
Abbey

Ray
nes P

ark
Trin

ity

Lo
ngth

ornton

Hills
ide

Le
ast

 depriv
ed

Villa
ge

Merto
n Park

Wim
bledon Park

Dundonald

Can
non Hill

70

75

80

85

90

Most deprived average Least deprived average

Female Life Expectancy from birth in Merton 2011-2015
Source: Local Health, Public Health England 

Deprivation and ward

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

81.3 81.8 82.1 82.3 82.6 83.1 83.3

85.8 86.2 86.8 86.8 86.8 86.6 86.1

83.3 83.6 83.9 84.1 84.3 84.5 84.2

2005-09 2006-10 2007-11 2008-12 2009-13 2010-14 2011-2015
70
72
74
76
78
80
82
84
86
88
90

Most deprived Least deprived Merton

Trend in life expectancy from birth in females in Merton
Source:  Public Health England -  Local Health 

Year

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 2.7 years 
(2011-2015 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2005 and 2015, the difference in female life expectancy 
between the most deprived and least deprived wards reduced (from 
4.5 to 2.7).

Page 104



Page 5 of 44

1.1.3.Slope index of inequality in males, 2005-07 to 2014-16

79.3 79.4 79.8 79.9 80.2 80.1 80.1 80.3 80.5 80.8

2005 - 07 2006 - 08 2007 - 09 2008 - 10 2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014-16
0.0

10.0
20.0
30.0
40.0
50.0
60.0
70.0
80.0
90.0

6.3 6.3 6.7 6.6 8.3 7.8 7.6 6.6 6.2 6.2

Life expectancy at birth Slope Index

Life expectancy and slope index of inequality in Males in Merton
Source:  Office for National Statistics

Li
fe

 E
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

(Y
ea

rs
) 

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 10% most and 10% least deprived: 6.2 years 
(2014-16 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2005-07 and 2014-16, the difference in male life expectancy 
between the most and least deprived wards remained the same

Page 105



Page 6 of 44

1.1.4.Slope Index of inequality in females, 2005-07 to 2014-16

82.5 82.8 83.0 83.6 83.7 84.0 83.9 84.1 84.2 84.2

2005 - 07 2006 - 08 2007 - 09 2008 - 10 2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013-15 2014-16
0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

5.2 4.7 5.8 6.4 6.3 4.9 5.2 5.0 3.9 3.4

Life expectancy at birth Slope Index

Life expectancy and slope index of inequality in females in Merton
Source: Office for National Statistics

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

(y
ea

rs
)

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 10% most and 10% least deprived: 3.4 years 
(2014-16 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2005-07 and 2014-16, the difference in female life 
expectancy between the most deprived and least deprived wards 
reduced (from 5.2 to 3.4). However, it is not yet a statistically 
significant reduction.

Page 106



Page 7 of 44

1.1.5.Healthy Life Expectancy (males), 2009-2013

63
.6

63
.5

63
.4

62
.8

62
.5

62
.0

60
.8

60
.4

60
.3

59
.8 74

.7

70
.6

70
.5

69
.7

69
.3

68
.1

67
.9

67
.8

66
.4

64
.5

Ab
be

y
Ea

st
Gr

av
en

ey

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Co
lli

er
s W

oo
d

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

St
 H

el
ie

r

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

Fi
gg

e'
s M

ar
sh

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

Vi
lla

ge
W

es
t

Hi
lls

id
e

Du
nd

on
al

d

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Tr
in

ity

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Healthy life expectancy from birth by ward, Merton wards
Males, 2009-2013

Source:  Office for National Statistics

Locality and Ward

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

Males Healthy LE from birth 2009-2013 Years
Average for East of borough 61.9
Average for West of borough 69
Merton 65.3

Males Healthy LE from birth 2009-2013 Years
Least deprived 70.5
Most deprived 61.1
Merton 65.4

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in healthy life expectancy between the 30% most and least 
deprived is 9.4 years (61.1 years in the 30% most deprived compared 
to 70.5 in the 30% least deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 107



Page 8 of 44

1.1.6.Healthy Life Expectancy (females), 2009-2013

64
.5

64
.4

63
.8

63
.8

63
.5

62
.8

61
.4

61
.3

61
.2

60
.4 74

.1

73
.7

70
.8

70
.6

69
.2

68
.9

68
.4

68
.1

68
.0

67
.7

Ab
be

y
Ea

st
Gr

av
en

ey

Co
lli

er
s W

oo
d

St
 H

el
ie

r

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

Fi
gg

e'
s M

ar
sh

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Vi
lla

ge
W

es
t

Hi
lls

id
e

Du
nd

on
al

d

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Tr
in

ity

0

20

40

60

80

Healthy life expectancy from birth by ward, Merton
Females, 2009-2013

Source: Office for National Statistics

Locality and Ward

Ag
e 

(y
ea

rs
)

Females Healthy LE from birth 2009-2013 Years
Average for East of borough 62.7
Average for West of borough 69.9
Merton 66.3

Females Healthy LE from birth 2009-2013 Years

Least deprived 71.2
Most deprived 61.9
Merton 66.3

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in healthy life expectancy (females) between the 30% most 
and least deprived is 9.3 years (61.9 years in the 30% most deprived 
compared to 71.2 in the 30% least deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 108



Page 9 of 44

1.1.7.Disability Free Life Expectancy at birth, 2009-2013

63.1

70.9

63.8

70.9

Most deprived 30% 
males

Least deprived 30% 
males

Most deprived 30% 
females

Least deprived 30% 
females

Disability free life expectancy at birth in Merton
By gender and deprivation, 2009-2013

Source: ONS, Census

Ye
ar

s

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in disability free life expectancy at birth between the 30% 
most and least deprived is 7.8 years in males and 7.1 years in females 
(2009-2013 data). Confidence intervals show that these differences 
are statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 109



Page 10 of 44

1.1.8.Disability Free Life Expectancy at age 65, 2009-2013

8.3
11.4

8.3
11.0

Most deprived 30% 
males

Least deprived 30% 
males

Most deprived 30%  
females

Least deprived 30% 
females

Disability free life expectancy at 65 in Merton
By gender and deprivation, 2009-2013

Source: ONS, Census

Ye
ar

s

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in disability free life expectancy at age 65 between the 30% 
most and least deprived is 3.1 years in males and 2.7 years in females 
(2009-2013 data). Confidence intervals show that these differences 
are statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 110



Page 11 of 44

1.1.9.Proportion of life spent without a disability at birth, 2009-2013

80.3 85 77.2 81.7

Most deprived 30% 
males

Least deprived 30% 
males

Most deprived 30% 
females

Least deprived 30% 
females

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Proportion of life spent without a disability  at birth in Merton
By gender and deprivation, 2009-2013

Source: ONS , Census

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in proportion of life spent without a disability at birth 
between the 30% most and least deprived is 4.7 percentage points in 
males and 4.5 percentage points in females (2009-2013 data). 

Confidence intervals cannot be calculated to look at statistical 
significance, as the metric provided is ‘percentage’ (numerator and 
denominator not available)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 111



Page 12 of 44

1.1.10. Proportion of life spent without a disability at age 65, 2009-
2013

45
53.7

39.3
46.3

Most deprived  30% 
males

Least deprived 30% 
males

Most deprived 30%  
females

Least deprived 30% 
females

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Proportion of life spent without a disability at age 65 in Merton
By gender and deprivation , 2009-2013

Source: ONS, Census

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in proportion of life spent without a disability at age 65 
between the 30% most and least deprived is 8.7 percentage points in 
males and 7.0 percentage points in females (2009-2013 data). 

Confidence intervals cannot be calculated to look at statistical 
significance, as the metric provided is ‘percentage’ (numerator and 
denominator not available)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 112



Page 13 of 44

1.1.11. Proportion of life spent in good health at birth, 2009-2013

77.8 84.5 74.9 82.1

Most deprived 30% 
males

Least deprived 30% 
males

Most deprived 30% 
females

Least deprived 30% 
females

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Proportion of life spent in good health at birth in Merton 
By gender and deprivation, 2009-2013

Source: ONS, Census

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in proportion of life spent in good health between the 30% 
most and least deprived is 6.7 percentage points in males and 7.2 
percentage points in females (2009-2013 data). 

Confidence intervals cannot be calculated to look at statistical 
significance, as the metric provided is ‘percentage’ (numerator and 
denominator not available)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 113



Page 14 of 44

1.1.12. Proportion of life spent in good health at age 65, 2009-2013

42.2
55.6

39.6
51.4

Most deprived 30% 
males

Least deprived 
30%males

Most deprived 30% 
females

Least deprived  30% 
females

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Proportion of life spent in good health at age 65 in Merton 
By gender and deprivation, 2009-2013

Source: ONS, Census

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in proportion of life spent in good health at age 65 between 
the 30% most and least deprived is 13.4 percentage points in males 
and 11.8 percentage points in females (2009-2013 data). 

Confidence intervals cannot be calculated to look at statistical 
significance, as the metric provided is ‘percentage’ (numerator and 
denominator not available)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE

Page 114



Page 15 of 44

1.1.13. Premature mortality (under 75), 2011-2015 to 2013-2017

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 12.5 
percentage points (2013-17 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

There appears to be is a widening gap between the most and least 
deprived 30% in Merton, increasing from 11.5 percentage points in the 
2011-2015 data to 12.5 percentage points in the 2013-2017 data. The 
percentage of premature deaths in the most deprived 30% have 
remained relatively stable, however premature deaths in the least 
deprived 30% show a drop in percentages from 27% in 2011-2015 to 
25.9% in 2013-2017. However, there are only 3 data points, and it is 
unlikely that this is statistically significant. 

Page 115



Page 16 of 44

2. CHAPTER 2: Best start in life

2.1.1.Child poverty, 2010 to 2015
Child Poverty indicator definition: “Proportion of children aged 0–15 years living in income 
deprived households as a proportion of all children aged 0–15 years”

28% 27%
24% 22%

25% 27%

7% 7% 6%
9% 10%

6%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
0%

10%

20%

30%

Most Deprived Least Deprived

Child Poverty in Merton showing 30% most and least deprived wards 
Source:  Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs via Greater London Authority

Year

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 21 percentage 
points (27% of children living in low income households in the most 
deprived 30% of wards compared to 6% of children in the least deprived, 
2015 data) Statistically extrapolated data suggests that the current 2018 
gap is likely to be smaller than this, at 6 percentage points (19% v 13%). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Although most recent 2015 data appears to show that gap has remained 
the same as 2010, extrapolated regression analysis suggests the gap is 
reducing, from 21 % points in 2010 to 6 % points in 2018.However, the 
underlying picture is mixed: the trend in child poverty in the most deprived 
areas appears to be downwards (27% in 2015 to an estimated 19% in 
2018) which is positive, where as child poverty in least deprived areas 
appears to be increasing (from 6% to an estimated 13% in 2018) which is 
worrying, and accounts for some of the narrowing inequality gap. This 
needs to be monitored over time.

Page 116



Page 17 of 44

2.1.2.Child development at age 5: school readiness, 2012/13 to 2016/17

There is a lack of ward level data over a number of years that would enable us to show 
trend, but we can make some comparisons between the total data set, and the subset of 
those who have Free School Meal status.

The gap between all children and those with free school meal status for school readiness in 
London between 2012/13 and 2016/17 rises from 9.7 pp to 10.3 pp whereas Merton 
values reduce from 13.1 pp to 10 pp. 

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between all children and those with FSM status: 10.0 
percentage points (73.9% of all children in Merton achieve a good 
level of development, where as only 63.9% of children with FSM 
status achieve a good level of development) (2016/17 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2012/13 and 2016/17, the difference in school readiness 
between all children and those with FSM status reduced (from 13.1 
percentage points to 10.0 percentage points). 

Page 117



Page 18 of 44

2.1.3.Child excess weight: Reception age, 2010/11-2012/13 to 2014/15-
2016/17

24.5 25.7 25.3 24.4 24.3

15.4 15.2 15.1
13.8 14.7

2010/11-2012/13 2011/12 to 2013/14 2012/13 to 2014/15 2013/14 to 2015/16 2014/15 to 2016/17
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Most Least Linear (Most) Linear (Least)

Excess weight in Reception Children (aged 4-5 years) in Merton  
Source: Gov.UK

Year

%

Gap 9.1pp Gap 9.6pp

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 9.6 
percentage points (24.3% compared to 14.7%), 14/15 – 16/17 data. 
The difference is  statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 10/11-12/13 and 14/15-16/17, the difference between the 
most deprived and least deprived wards increased (from 9.1 to 9.6 
percentage points).

Page 118



Page 19 of 44

2.1.4.Child excess weight: Year 6 (age 10-11), 2010/11-2012/13 to 
2014/15-2016/17

39.0 39.6 39.8 40.2 40.2

27.5 26.0 27.2 27.7
25.7

2010/11-2012/13 2011/12 to 2013/14 2012/13 to 2014/15 2013/14 to 2015/16 2014/15 to 2016/17
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Most Least Linear (Most) Linear (Least)

Excess weight in Year 6 Children (aged 10-11 years) in Merton 
Source:  Gov.UK

Year

%

Gap 14.5 ppGap 11.5 
percentage points

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 14.5 
percentage points (40.2% compared to 25.7%), 14/15 – 16/17 data. 
The difference is  statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 10/11-12/13and 14/15-16/17, the difference between the 
most deprived and least deprived wards increased (from 11.5 to 14.5 
percentage points). 

Page 119



Page 20 of 44

2.1.5.Childhood obesity, 2013/14 – 2015/16

PHE’s recent Health Inequalities Briefing, based on the Global Burden of Disease study, 
highlights the social gradient in childhood obesity in Merton (N.B. this shows obese children, 
not those with excess weight (=‘overweight + obese’) as the previous graphs): 
Percentage of children classified as obese (Year 6) for Merton wards by percentage income 
deprived (2013/14 – 2015/16) (Source: PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Percentage of children classified as obese (Year 6) for Merton (2013/14 – 2015/16) (Source: 
PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Page 120



Page 21 of 44

2.1.6.GCSE attainment, 2013/14

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in GCSE attainment (% young people achieving 5A*-C 
including English & Maths) between the 30% most and least deprived 
is 15.4 percentage points (2013/14 data).  30% most deprived wards: 
61.1%; 30% least deprived wards: 76.5%.

Confidence intervals cannot be calculated to look at statistical 
significance, as the metric provided is ‘percentage’ (numerator and 
denominator not available)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Trend data not available due to change in indicator definition, but 
future trend should be possible to track.

Page 121



Page 22 of 44

3. CHAPTER 3: Prevention of ill health

3.1.1.Smoking prevalence from GP QOF, 2012/13 to 2015-16*

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between East Merton and West Merton: 6.2 percentage 
points (2015/16 data). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2012/13 and 2015/16, the difference between the most 
deprived and least deprived wards increased (from 1.9 percentage 
points to 6.2 percentage points). 

* GP practices have been split into east and west localities. However, as GP practice lists provided by 
the CCG have altered during the writing of this report there are some variations as to which practices 
are in the east and west localities.  

Page 122



Page 23 of 44

3.1.2.Alcohol-related harm (hospital admissions), 2011/12-2015/16

The PHE Marmot indicator for alcohol related harm is directly standardised rate per 100,000 
(e.g. the 2016/17 figure for Merton is 495); however, this is only available at borough level 
whereas PHE Local Health shows standardised admission ratios at ward level, enabling us 
to look at the difference between the 30% most and 30% least deprived wards. 

74
.5

73
.4

59
.9

58
.9

52
.9

47
.8

73
.9

71
.4

61
.2

56
.2

10
5.

8
10

2.
0

99
.4

98
.1

96
.7

94
.3

89
.5

85
.3

73
.8

73
.1

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

W
es

t
Ca

nn
on

 H
ill

Hi
lls

id
e

Du
nd

on
al

d
W

im
bl

ed
on

 P
ar

k
Vi

lla
ge

Tr
in

ity
Lo

w
er

 M
or

de
n

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

Ea
st

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry
Fi

gg
e'

s M
ar

sh
La

ve
nd

er
 F

ie
ld

s
St

 H
el

ie
r

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill
Lo

ng
th

or
nt

on
G

ra
ve

ne
y

Ab
be

y
Co

lli
er

s W
oo

d

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Hospital stays due to alcohol related harm 2011/12 to 2015/16
Source: Hospital Episode Statistics, Local Health

St
an

da
rd

is
ed

 A
dm

is
si

on
s 

Ra
tio

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards
Red line represents average comparator score (100)

N.B. These are standardised admission ratios SAR and cannot be compared to each other, 
only the comparator, in this case England. Therefore benchmark data not included in the 
chart.

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for Standardised Admission Ratios (SAR) 
between the 30% most and least deprived is 38.2 SAR points 
(2011/12 to 2015/16) – 99.4 SAR in the 30% most deprived and 61.2 
SAR in the 30% least deprived).
An SAR of 100 is the average for England (the comparator). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT ROBUST (For indicators such as this, PHE Local 
Health amalgamate years together to provide robust figures when 
data is at ward level, therefore no yearly trend data available, only two 
data points: 2010/11-2014/15 and 2011/12-2015/16)

Page 123



Page 24 of 44

PHE’s recent Health Inequalities Briefing, based on the Global Burden of Disease study, 
demonstrates this social gradient in alcohol related harm in Merton further: 
Hospital stays for alcohol related harm for Merton wards by percentage income deprived 
(2011/12-2015/16) (Source: PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Hospital stays for alcohol related harm for Merton wards (2011/12-2015/16) (Source: PHE 
Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Page 124



Page 25 of 44

3.1.3.Hypertension prevalence (all ages) from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 16/17*

16
.7

1
13

.2
5

11
.8

8
10

.7
7

9.
71

9.
46

9.
21

7.
99

7.
60

7.
05

6.
98 14

.6
9

14
.5

9
14

.5
0

14
.1

0
13

.2
9

12
.9

2
12

.7
2

12
.3

8
11

.2
9

10
.8

6
7.

90
6.

14
5.

25

10
.0

6
11

.5
9

10
.8

9

Sto
neco

t S
urge

ry

West 

Gran
d Driv

e Su
rge

ry

Wim
bledon Villa

ge
 Prac

tic
e

The Nelso
n M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

La
mbton Road

 M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

The Vineya
rd Hill 

Road
 Su

rge
ry

Wide W
ay

 M
edica

l C
entre

East
 

Rav
ensb

ury 
Park

 M
edica

l C
entre

Tam
worth

 House M
edica

l C
entre

Cric
ke

t G
reen M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

Collie
rs 

Wood Su
rge

ry

Rive
rhouse M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

GP Le
d Healt

h Centre

West 
Merto

n

Merto
n

0

5

10

15

20

Hypertension prevalence in Merton,  all ages 2016/17
Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework

Locality

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between East and West: 1.5 percentage points (11.59 compared 
to 10.06) in 2016/17. This difference appears statistically significant. 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2011/12 and 2016/17 there was a slight increase in the gap (1.3 to 
1.5). However, the increase is not likely to be statistically significant.

Page 125



Page 26 of 44

3.1.4.Diabetes prevalence (age 17+) from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 2016/17*

7.
7

7.
5

7.
4

6.
8

4.
7

4.
5

3.
8

3.
4

2.
7

2.
6

2.
3

12
.9

9.
8

9.
5

8.
7

8.
6

8.
6

8.
3

8.
0

7.
7

7.
5

7.
0

3.
7

3.
2

4.
84 8.

0
6.

5

Sto
neco

t S
urge

ry

West 

Morden Hall
 M

edica
l C

entre

Gran
d Driv

e Su
rge

ry

La
mbton Road

 M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

The Vineya
rd Hill 

Road
 Su

rge
ry

Wim
bledon Villa

ge
 Prac

tic
e

Centra
l M

edica
l C

entre

East
 

Wide W
ay

 M
edica

l C
entre

Rowan
s S

urge
ry

Mitc
ham

 Fa
mily

 Prac
tic

e

The M
itc

ham
 M

edica
l C

entre

Collie
rs 

Wood Su
rge

ry

The M
erto

n M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

West 
Merto

n

Merto
n

0

5

10

15

Diabetes prevalence age 17 and over 2016/17
Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework

Locality

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between East and West: 3.1 percentage points (8.0 
compared to 4.85) in 2016/17. This difference is statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2011/12 and 2016/17, the difference between East and West 
increased (from 2.5 to 3.1); this increase appears statistically significant. 

Page 126



Page 27 of 44

3.1.5.Tuberculosis (TB) incidence, 2011-13 to 2014/16

Gap = 
25.6

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 25.6 (35.0 
per 100,000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 9.4 per 100,000 in 
the 30% least deprived) (2014-16 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2011-13 and 2014-16, the difference between the most 
deprived and least deprived wards increased (from 23.7 to 25.6). This 
is unlikely to be a statistically significant increase at this point as 
numbers are small and confidence intervals are wide.

Page 127



Page 28 of 44

3.1.6.Mental health prevalence (all ages) from GP QOF, 2012/13 to 
2016/17*

1.
22

1.
08

0.
94

0.
86

0.
72

0.
71

0.
63

0.
62

0.
59

0.
57

0.
54 1.

37
1.

17
1.

12
1.

11
1.

10
1.

10
1.

05
0.

97
0.

94
0.

90
0.

80
0.

77
0.

75

0.
77 1.

01
0.

90

Morden Hall
 M

edica
l C

entre

West 

Gran
d Driv

e Su
rge

ry

The Nelso
n M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

Prin
ce

s R
oad

 Su
rge

ry

La
mbton Road

 M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

The Vineya
rd Hill 

Road
 Su

rge
ry

Cric
ke

t G
reen M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

East
 

Rive
rhouse

 M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

Collie
rs 

Wood Su
rge

ry

GP Le
d Healt

h Centre

Centra
l M

edica
l C

entre

Rowan
s S

urge
ry

The M
erto

n M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

West 
Merto

n

Merto
n

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

Mental Health prevalence all ages 2016/17
Source: Quality and Outcomes Framework

Locality and Practice Name

%

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between East and West: 0.24 percentage points (1.01% 
compared to 0.77%) in 2016/7). This difference is statistically 
significant. 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2012/13 and 2016/17 there was a slight decrease in the gap 
(from 0.30 to 0.24), driven by a faster increasing prevalence in west 
Merton compared to east).

Page 128



Page 29 of 44

3.1.7.Depression prevalence (age 18+), from GP QOF, 2011/12 to 
2016/17*

2011/1
2

2012/1
3

2013/1
4

2014/1
5

2015/1
6

2016/1
7

Gap between east and west 
localities -1.81 -0.38 0.12 -0.25 -0.19 0.45

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between East and West Merton: 0.45 percentage points 
(7.14 in East Merton compared to 6.69 in West Merton, 2016/17 data). 
The difference is statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2011/12 and 2016/17 the inequality gap appears to have 
flipped, from higher rates of depression in West Merton (difference of -
1.81 percentage points) to higher rates in East Merton in 2016/17 
(0.45 percentage points). 

This is one of the only indicators we looked at where the rate of a 
disease or risk factor was higher in less deprived areas than more 
deprived areas at any point in the historical trend data.

Page 129



Page 30 of 44

3.1.8. Self reported wellbeing scores (low life satisfaction), 2009 to 2013

These ward level well-being scores present a combined measure of well-being indicators 
based on 12 different measures. Where possible each indicator score is compared with the 
England and Wales average, which is zero. Scores over 0 indicate a higher probability that 
the population on average experiences positive well-being according to these measures.

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 11.7 points 
(a score of -2.3 in the 30% most deprived wards compared to a score 
of 9.4 in the 30% least deprived), 2013 data

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2009 and 2013, the difference between the most deprived 
and least deprived wards reduced (from 12.3 to 11.7). However, the 
wellbeing scores got worse in both the most and least deprived areas, 
but with a steeper gradient in the least deprived areas, so this does 
not represent a positive direction of travel.

Page 130



Page 31 of 44

3.1.9.Emergency hospital admissions, 2011/12-2015/16

PHE’s recent Health Inequalities Briefing, based on the Global Burden of Disease study, 
highlights the social gradient in emergency hospital admissions in Merton: 
Emergency hospital admissions for all causes for Merton wards by percentage income 
deprived (2011/12-2015/16) (Source: PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Emergency hospital admissions for all causes for Merton wards (2011/12-2015/16) (Source: 
PHE Health Inequalities Briefing Merton, 2018)

Page 131



Page 32 of 44

4. CHAPTER 4: Fair employment, good work

4.1.1.Economically active population claiming Job Seekers Allowance, 
2011 to 2015

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived: 2.5 
percentage points (2015 data)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2011 and 2015, the difference in those claiming JSA 
between the most deprived and least deprived wards reduced (from 
4.7 to 2.5), driven by general decrease across the borough and faster 
decrease in the most deprived wards

Regression analysis appears to show that gap in 2018 likely to be just under 1 percentage 
point difference between the most deprived wards (1.2%) compared to the least deprived 
(0.2%):

Page 132



Page 33 of 44

4.1.2.Benefit claimants - employment and support allowance (ESA), 
2014 to 2017

4.81

5.57
5.23 5.04

1.60 1.80 1.76 1.64

2014 2015 2016 2017
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

30% most deprived 30% least deprived

Recent trends in recipients of employment and support benefit (ill or disabled) 
Source: NOMIS from Office for National Statistics

%

Gap 3.2 Gap 3.4 pp

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap between 30% most and 30% least deprived:3.4 
percentage points (2017). This gap is statistically significant.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Between 2014 and 2017, the difference in ESA claimants between the 
most and least deprived wards remained similar.

Page 133



Page 34 of 44

5. CHAPTER 5: Ensure healthy standard of living for all

5.1.1.Index of Deprivation 2015: ward scores

27
.5

9
26

.1
7

24
.8

1
23

.7
5

21
.7

0
21

.4
3

19
.5

7
16

.2
7

15
.2

4
12

.8
3

10
.0

8
9.

86
9.

64
8.

39
8.

28
8.

22
8.

12
6.

94
6.

28
5.

54

Cric
ke

t G
reen

East
 M

erto
n

Fig
ge

's M
ars

h

Polla
rds H

ill

Rav
ensb

ury

St 
Helie

r

La
ve

nder F
ields

Lo
ngth

ornton

Collie
rs 

Wood

Grav
eney

Abbey

Ray
nes P

ark

West 
Merto

n
Trin

ity

Lo
wer M

orden

West 
Barn

es

Can
non Hill

Wim
bledon Park

Merto
n Park

Hills
ide

Dundonald
Villa

ge
0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0
Index of multiple deprivation 2015 ward scores

Locality and Wards

IM
D 

sc
or

e

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards

Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores between the 30% most and least deprived is 
17.01 (24.24 in the 30% most deprived compared to 7.23 in the 30% 
least deprived wards). The higher the score the more deprived the 
area

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE (Year on year comparisons not 
possible as the weighting of indicators has been changed over time)

Page 134



Page 35 of 44

5.1.2.Index of Deprivation 2015: GP practice scores

20
.3

9
16

.7
0

16
.4

6
14

.5
0

11
.9

5
11

.4
5

9.
54

8.
84

8.
70

8.
64

8.
48

7.
87

7.
55

6.
78

25
.3

8
25

.1
1

24
.1

1
23

.0
8

22
.9

9
22

.7
6

21
.7

8
21

.3
2

20
.5

9

11
.2

8
23

.0
1

15
.8

7

Centra
l M

edica
l C

entre

West 

Morden Hall
 M

edica
l C

entre

The M
erto

n M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

Rive
rhouse M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

Sto
neco

t S
urge

ry

Alexa
ndra Su

rge
ry

Jam
es O

'Riordan
 M

edica
l C

entre

Prin
ce

s R
oad

 Su
rge

ry

La
mbton Road

 M
edica

l P
rac

tic
e

Gran
d Driv

e Su
rge

ry

The Nelso
n M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

The Vineya
rd Hill 

Road
 Su

rge
ry

Fra
ncis

 Grove
 Su

rge
ry

Wim
bledon Villa

ge
 Prac

tic
e

Cric
ke

t G
reen M

edica
l P

rac
tic

e

East
 

Wide W
ay

 M
edica

l C
entre

The M
itc

ham
 M

edica
l C

entre

Tam
worth

 House M
edica

l C
entre

Fig
ge

s M
ars

h Su
rge

ry

Mitc
ham

 Fa
mily

 Prac
tic

e

Rowan
s S

urge
ry

Rav
ensb

ury 
Park

 M
edica

l C
entre

Collie
rs 

Wood Su
rge

ry

West 
Merto

n

East
 M

erto
n

Merto
n

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Index of multiple deprivation score 2015
Source:  Department for Communities and Local Government

Locality and GP Practice

IM
D

 2
01

5 
sc

or
e

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference between the average score of GP practices in east and 
those in west Merton is11.74 (23.01 compared to 11.28). The higher 
the score the more deprived the area.

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE (Year on year comparisons not 
possible as the weighting of indicators has been changed over time)

Page 135



Page 36 of 44

5.1.3.Overcrowded households, 2011

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap in proportion of overcrowded households between 30% 
most and 30% least deprived: 10.2 percentage points (21.2% 
compared to 11.0%, with a borough average of 16.1%)

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE (Census data)

Page 136



Page 37 of 44

5.1.4.Fuel poverty, 2015

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference between the 30% most deprived and 30% least deprived 
wards is 1.4 percentage points (10.5% compared to 9.1%).
This difference appears to be statistically significant

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

HISTORIC TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE AT WARD LEVEL.
This is a new indicator on PHE Local Health, and trend data may be 
available going forward in future years.

Green bars represent least deprived 30% 
Purple bars represent most deprived 30% 

Page 137



Page 38 of 44

6. CHAPTER 6: Healthy, sustainable communities

6.1.1.Burglary in Merton, 2017

Fi
gg

es
 M

ar
sh

M
os

t d
ep

riv
ed

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

St
 H

el
ie

r

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Co
lli

er
s W

oo
d

Gr
av

en
ey

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Le
ss

 d
ep

riv
ed

Tr
in

ity

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Ab
be

y

Vi
lla

ge

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill
M

er
to

n 
Pa

rk
Le

as
t d

ep
riv

ed
 

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

Du
nd

on
al

d

Hi
lls

id
e

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

Burglary in Merton, 2017
Source: Metropolitan Police Data 

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for burglary between the 30% most and 
least deprived is -3.4 per 1000 population rate difference (5.3 per 
1000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 8.7 in the 30% least 
deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Both historic and future trend data is available, but has not been 
calculated for this report as it is available by month and so 
amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

Page 138



Page 39 of 44

6.1.2.Theft in Merton, 2017

Fi
gg

es
 M

ar
sh

M
os

t d
ep

riv
ed

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

St
 H

el
ie

r

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

Tr
in

ity
Le

ss
 d

ep
riv

ed
Co

lli
er

s W
oo

d

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Ab
be

y

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Gr
av

en
ey

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Hi
lls

id
e

Le
as

t d
ep

riv
ed

 
Vi

lla
ge

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

Du
nd

on
al

d

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Theft in Merton, 2017
Source: Metropolitan Police Data 

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for theft between the 30% most and least 
deprived is -8.5 per 1000 population rate difference (18.0 per 100,000 
in the 30% most deprived compared to 26.5 in the 30% least deprived 
wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Both historic and future trend data is available, but has not been 
calculated for this report as it is available by month and so 
amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

Page 139



Page 40 of 44

6.1.3.Criminal damage in Merton, 2017

Fi
gg

es
 M

ar
sh

M
os

t d
ep

riv
ed

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

St
 H

el
ie

r

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Co
lli

er
s W

oo
d

Le
ss

 d
ep

riv
ed

Tr
in

ity

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Ab
be

y

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Gr
av

en
ey

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Du
nd

on
al

d
Le

as
t d

ep
riv

ed
 

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

Vi
lla

ge

Hi
lls

id
e

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Criminal damage in Merton, 2017
Source: Metropolitan Police Data 

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for criminal damage between the 30% most 
and least deprived is 4.2 per 1000 population rate difference (8.5 per 
100,000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 4.3 in the 30% least 
deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Both historic and future trend data is available, but has not been 
calculated for this report as it is available by month and so 
amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

Page 140



Page 41 of 44

6.1.4.Antisocial behaviour in Merton, 2017

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

M
os

t d
ep

riv
ed

Fi
gg

es
 M

ar
sh

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

St
 H

el
ie

r

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

Tr
in

ity
Le

ss
 d

ep
riv

ed
Co

lli
er

s W
oo

d

Ab
be

y

Gr
av

en
ey

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

Le
as

t d
ep

riv
ed

 
W

im
bl

ed
on

 P
ar

k

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

Vi
lla

ge

Du
nd

on
al

d

Hi
lls

id
e

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Antisocial Behaviour in Merton, 2017
Source: Metropolitan Police Data 

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for antisocial behaviour between the 30% 
most and least deprived is 7.0 per 1000 population rate difference 
(19.5 per 100,000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 12.5 in the 
30% least deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Both historic and future trend data is available, but has not been 
calculated for this report as it is available by month and so 
amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

Page 141



Page 42 of 44

6.1.5.Violence against the person in Merton, 2017

Fi
gg

es
 M

ar
sh

M
os

t d
ep

riv
ed

Cr
ic

ke
t G

re
en

Po
lla

rd
s H

ill

Ra
ve

ns
bu

ry

St
 H

el
ie

r

La
ve

nd
er

 F
ie

ld
s

Ab
be

y
Le

ss
 d

ep
riv

ed
Co

lli
er

s W
oo

d

Tr
in

ity

Lo
ng

th
or

nt
on

Gr
av

en
ey

Ra
yn

es
 P

ar
k

W
es

t B
ar

ne
s

Lo
w

er
 M

or
de

n

Du
nd

on
al

d
Le

as
t d

ep
riv

ed
 

M
er

to
n 

Pa
rk

Ca
nn

on
 H

ill

W
im

bl
ed

on
 P

ar
k

Hi
lls

id
e

Vi
lla

ge

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Violence against the person in Merton, 2017
Source: Metropolitan Police Data 

Cr
ud

e 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n

Purple bars represent 30% most deprived wards
Green bars represent 30% least deprived  wards

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Difference in ward scores for violence against the person between the 
30% most and least deprived is 14.5 per 1000 population rate 
difference (28.9 per 100,000 in the 30% most deprived compared to 
14.5 in the 30% least deprived wards). 

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

Both historic and future trend data is available, but has not been 
calculated for this report as it is available by month and so 
amalgamating the data is time consuming but possible.

Page 142



Page 43 of 44

6.1.6.Older people (65+) living alone, 2011

INEQUALITY 
GAP

Current gap in proportion of older people living alone, between 30% 
most and 30% least deprived: 0.5 percentage points (34.2% 
compared to 33.7%

TREND IN 
INEQUALITY 
GAP

TREND DATA NOT AVAILABLE (Census data)

Page 143



Page 44 of 44

Overview of PHE Marmot indicators for Merton 
NB these are at borough level not looking at inequality gap.

Compared to England

Compared to London

Page 144



1

Healthier Communities and Older People Work 
Programme 2018/19
This table sets out the draft Healthier Communities and Older People Panel Work Programme for 2018/19.  This Work Programme 
will be considered at every meeting of the Panel to enable it to respond to issues of concern and incorporate reviews or to comment 
upon pre-decision items ahead of their consideration by Cabinet/Council.

The work programme table shows items on a meeting by meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended outcomes.
The last page provides information on items on the Council’s Forward Plan that relate to the portfolio of the Healthier Communities 
and Older People Panel so that these can be added to the work programme should the Commission wish to.

The Panel is asked to identify any work programme items that would be suitable for the use of an informal preparatory 
session (or other format) to develop lines of questioning (as recommended by the 2009 review of the scrutiny function).

Scrutiny Support

For further information on the work programme of the Healthier Communities and Older People please contact: -
Stella Akintan (Scrutiny Officer )
Tel: 020 8545 3390; Email: stella.akintan@merton.gov.uk

For more information about overview and scrutiny at LB Merton, please visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 9

mailto:stella.akintan@merton.gov.uk


2

Meeting Date 25 June 2018

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer

Intended Outcomes

Scrutiny of Adult Social 
Care

Adult Social Care - 
update

Report to the Panel John Morgan, Assistant 
Director of Adult Social 
Care

Provide new members 
with an overview of the 
key issues and 
challenges in this area.

Consultation Epsom and St Helier 
Update

Report to the Panel Daniel Elkeles, Chief 
Executive, Andrew 
Demetriades, Joint 
Director for Acute 
Sustainability 
Programme, James 
Blythe, Managing 
Director for Merton and 
Wandsworth

To review the main 
proposals for 
consolidation of acute 
service at Epsom and St 
Helier Hospital

Scrutiny Task Group 
Review

Homeshare Task Group 
Review  - progress with 
implementing 
recommendations

Report to the Panel John Morgan, Assistant 
Director of Adult Social 
Care

Update on progress with 
implementing 
recommendations

Meeting date – 05 September 2018

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/
Lead Officer

Intended Outcomes

Consultation Merton CCG changes to 
Podiatry Services

Report to the Panel Hanna Pearson and 
Dhru Devare, Merton 
CCG

Seek views from the 
Panel on changes to the 
service

Performance Monitoring Flu Vaccines and 
immunisations for adults 
and vulnerable groups 
in Merton

Report to the Panel NHS England To review uptake rates 
in Merton

A review of tackling  Report to the Panel Dr Dagmar Zeuner, To review progress with 

P
age 146



3

Health Inequalities in 
Merton

Director of Public 
Health. 

tackling health 
inequalities in Merton

Holding the Executive to 
Account

Cabinet Member 
priorities for 2018-19

Verbal update to the 
Panel

Councillor Tobin Byers, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care. 

Cabinet Member to 
provide overview of key 
issues within his 
portfolio.

Meeting Date – 06 November 2018

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer

Intended Outcomes

Budget Scrutiny Budget and Business 
Plan 2018-19

Report to the Panel Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services

To provide comments to 
the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission on 
the current budget. 

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Update on services for 
people who have 
experienced Brain Injury

Report to the Panel Merton CCG To review progress with 
the service.

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Performance of Merton 
over the winter period 
for discharging patients 
from acute hospital 
settings including 
frequent attenders at 
A&E

Report to the Panel Merton CCG/Acute 
Providers/Adult Social 
care

To review how pressure 
is being reduced on 
Accident and 
Emergency services and 
how people are directed 
to more appropriate 
provision. 

Performance Monitoring Personal Independence 
Payments Process in 
Merton Update

Report to the Panel Kam Patel, Partnerships 
Manager, DWP

To review progress with 
the service.

Performance Monitoring Cancer screening – 
uptake rates in Merton

Report to the Panel NHS England To review uptake rates 
in Merton

P
age 147



4

Meeting date – 10 January 2019 - Budget

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer

Intended Outcomes

Budget Scrutiny Budget and Business 
Plan 2018-19

Report to the Panel Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services

To provide comments to 
the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission on 
the current budget. 

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Mental health services Report to the Panel

Meeting date – 12 February 2019 

 
Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 

Officer
Intended Outcomes

Scrutiny of Adult Social 
Care

Merton Health and Care 
Together – integration of 
health and social care

Report to the Panel Hannah Doody, Director 
of Community and 
Housing and John 
Morgan, Assistant 
Director of Adult Social 
Care. 

Review of the progress 
in integrating health and 
social care

Scrutiny of Adult Social 
Care

Enabling older people to 
live independently at 
home

Report to the Panel John Morgan, Assistant 
Director of Adult Social 
Care.

Review of support to 
help older people in 
remain in their own 
home.  

Scrutiny of Adult Social 
Care

Safeguarding Adults 
Annual Report

Report to the Panel John Morgan, Assistant 
Director of Adult Social 
Care.

Review 

P
age 148



5

Performance Monitoring Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy

Report to the Panel Dagmar Zeuner, 
Director of Public Health

To comment on the 
priorities within the new 
strategy

Meeting Date – 12 March 2019

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer

Intended Outcomes

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Update on the Merton 
CCG Primary Care 
Strategy

Report to the Panel Review progress in 
improving access to GP 
Surgeries. 

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Acute Trusts update Report to the Panel

Scrutiny of Health 
Partners

Update from the 
Sustainable and 
Transformation 
Partnership in Merton

Report to the Panel

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Changes to the access criteria for the Community Podiatry Service
	6 Cancer screening and Flu vaccinations - Commissioning arrangements and setting the scene
	7 NHS England Immunisation Programme in Merton 2015-2018
	8 Annual Public Health Report 2018: Tackling Health Inequalities - Progress in closing the gap in Merton
	Enc. 1 for Annual Public Health Report on tackling inequalities – progress with closing the gap within Merton
	Enc. 2 for Annual Public Health Report on tackling inequalities – progress with closing the gap within Merton

	9 Panel Work Programme 2018-19

